

# Magnetic WKB Constructions

Virginie Bonnaillie-Noël, Nicolas Raymond, Frédéric Hérau

# ► To cite this version:

Virginie Bonnaillie-Noël, Nicolas Raymond, Frédéric Hérau. Magnetic WKB Constructions. Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, Springer Verlag, 2016, 221 (2), pp.817-891. <10.1007/s00205-016-0987-x>. <hal-00966003v3>

# HAL Id: hal-00966003 https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-00966003v3

Submitted on 20 Jan 2016

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# Magnetic WKB Constructions

V. Bonnaillie-Noël<sup>\*</sup>, F. Hérau<sup>†</sup> and N. Raymond<sup>‡</sup>

January 21, 2016

#### Abstract

This paper is devoted to the semiclassical magnetic Laplacian. Until now WKB expansions for the eigenfunctions were only established in presence of a non-zero electric potential. Here we tackle the pure magnetic case. Thanks to Feynman-Hellmann type formulas and coherent states decomposition, we develop here a magnetic Born-Oppenheimer theory. Exploiting the multiple scales of the problem, we are led to solve an effective eikonal equation in pure magnetic cases and to obtain WKB expansions. We also investigate explicit examples for which we can improve our general theorem: global WKB expansions, quasi-optimal Agmon estimates and upper bound of the tunelling effect (in symmetric cases). We also apply our strategy to get more accurate descriptions of the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions in a wide range of situations analyzed in the last two decades.

**Keywords.** WKB expansion, magnetic Laplacian, Born-Oppenheimer approximation, coherent states, Agmon estimates, tunnel effect.

MSC classification. 35P15, 35J10, 81Q10, 81Q15.

# Contents

1	Mo	ivation and main results	3					
	1.1 Context and motivation							
		1.1.1 The Born-Oppenheimer strategy	3					
		1.1.2 Multiple scales induced by the fully semiclassical magnetic Laplacian	4					
		1.1.3 Magnetic WKB expansions and Agmon estimates	5					
	1.2	Main results and strategy of the proofs	5					
		1.2.1 Spectrum of the simple magnetic wells	5					
		1.2.2 Magnetic WKB expansions: simple well case	7					
		1.2.3 Generalized Montgomery operators: towards the magnetic tunnel effect	9					
	1.3	WKB constructions: influence of the geometry	11					
		1.3.1 Vanishing magnetic fields or not	11					
		1.3.2 Varying edge	12					
		1.3.3 Curvature induced magnetic bound states	12					
	1.4	Organization of the paper	12					

\*Département de Mathématiques et Applications (DMA - UMR 8553), PSL, CNRS, ENS Paris, 45 rue d'Ulm, F-75230 Paris cedex 05, France bonnaillie@math.cnrs.fr

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>LMJL - UMR6629, Université de Nantes, 2 rue de la Houssinière, BP 92208, 44322 Nantes Cedex 3, France, frederic.herau@univ-nantes.fr

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup>IRMAR, Univ. Rennes 1, CNRS, Campus de Beaulieu, F-35042 Rennes cedex, France nicolas.raymond@univ-rennes1.fr

2 Simple magnetic wells					
	2.1	Formal series and general Feynman-Hellmann formulas	13		
	2.2	Semiclassical Agmon-Persson estimates	15		
	2.3	Microlocalization and coherent states	17		
		2.3.1 Formalism and application	17		
		2.3.2 Localization in the phase space	19		
	2.4	Spectral gap	21		
		2.4.1 Approximation results	22		
		2.4.2 Proof of Theorem 1.10	23		
9	Ма	matic WKD constructions	94		
Э	Stable manifold and eikonal equation	24 94			
	0.1	2 1 1 Fremework	24 95		
		3.1.2 The guadratic asso	20		
		3.1.2 The quadratic case	20		
	2.9	WKP expansions	29 91		
	3.2	WED expansions $\dots \dots \dots$	31 20		
		3.2.1 Term in $h^1$ . Solving the operator valued encoder equation $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	32 32		
		3.2.2 Term III $n$	ა∠ ეე		
		3.2.3 Solving the elective transport equation	აა იკ		
		3.2.4 Determination of $a_1$	34 25		
		3.2.5 Full asymptotic expansion	35		
4	Gen	neralized Montgomery operators	36		
	4.1	Verifying assumptions	37		
		4.1.1 Uniqueness and non-degeneracy	37		
		4.1.2 Confinement	37		
	4.2	Explicit WKB expansions, weak magnetic barrier	41		
		4.2.1 Renormalization	41		
		4.2.2 Solving the operator valued eikonal equation	42		
		4.2.3 Solving the transport equation	43		
	4.3	Estimates of Agmon in the normal form spirit	44		
		4.3.1 Weighted semiclassical elliptic estimates	44		
		4.3.2 Agmon estimates	45		
	4.4	Tunnelling estimates	47		
	4.5	Numerical simulations	48		
		4.5.1 Method	48		
		4.5.2 Simple well models	49		
		4.5.3 Double well models	49		
-	C		50		
9	Ge0	Vanishing magnetic fields	52		
	0.1	5.1.1 Description of the operator in curvilinear coordinates	52		
		5.1.1 Description of the operator in curvinnear coordinates	00 54		
	F 0	b.1.2     WKB expansion       Alarge comming a data in dimension three	54 55		
	5.2	Along a varying edge in dimension three	55		
		5.2.1 Framework	55		
		5.2.2 Normal form	50		
	F 9	<b>D.2.3</b> WKB expansion for the normal form	58		
	5.3	Curvature induced magnetic bound states	59		
		<b>3.3.1</b> A higher order degeneracy	59		
		5.3.2 WKB expansion	60 60		
		<b>3.3.3</b> Numerical estimates of the magnetic camel	02		
6	Per	spectives	64		

# $\mathbf{2}$

# 1 Motivation and main results

### 1.1 Context and motivation

This paper is devoted to the analysis of the self-adjoint operators on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m_s \times \mathbb{R}^n_t, ds dt)$ of the following type

$$\mathfrak{L}_h = (hD_s + A_1(s,t))^2 + (D_t + A_2(s,t))^2, \tag{1.1}$$

where  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are smooth functions (on which we will sometimes assume more),  $D = -i\nabla$ , and where the space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m_s \times \mathbb{R}^n_t, \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t)$  is equipped with the standard scalar product:

$$\langle \psi_1, \psi_2 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^m_s \times \mathbb{R}^n_t, \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t)} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^n} \psi_1 \overline{\psi_2} \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t$$

The corresponding quadratic form is denoted by  $\mathfrak{Q}_h$ . We would like to describe the lowest eigenpairs (eigenvalues and eigenfunctions) of this operator in the limit  $h \to 0$  under elementary confining assumptions.

# 1.1.1 The Born-Oppenheimer strategy

The problem of considering partial semiclassical problems appears for instance in the context of [36, 34] where the main issue is to approximate the eigenpairs of operators with electrical potentials in the form:

$$-h^2\Delta_s - \Delta_t + V(s,t). \tag{1.2}$$

The main idea, due to Born and Oppenheimer in [11], is to replace, for fixed s, the operator  $-\Delta_t + V(s,t)$  by its eigenvalues  $\mu_k(s)$  (by convention we omit the index for k = 1). Then we are led to consider for instance the reduced operator (called Born-Oppenheimer approximation)

$$-h^2\Delta_s + \mu(s),$$

and to apply the semiclassical techniques  $\dot{a}$  la Helffer-Sjöstrand [30, 31] to analyze in particular the tunnel effect when the potential  $\mu$  admits symmetries. The main point is to make the reduction of dimension rigorous. Note that we have always the following lower bound

$$-h^2\Delta_s - \Delta_t + V(s,t) \ge -h^2\Delta_s + \mu(s), \tag{1.3}$$

which usually involves accurate Agmon estimates with respect to s: the eigenfunctions of the operator (1.2) satisfy the same decay estimates as the eigenfunctions of the one dimensional operator (see for instance [22]).

Our paper aims at understanding the analogy between magnetic case (1.1) and electric case (1.2). In particular even the formal dimensional reduction seems to be a little more problematic than in the electric case. Let us write the operator valued symbol of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$ . For  $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m$ , we introduce the electro-magnetic Laplacian acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, dt)$ :

$$\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi} = (D_t + A_2(x,t))^2 + (\xi + A_1(x,t))^2.$$

Let us introduce the notation for the bottom of the spectrum of this operator.

**Definition** 1.1 For all  $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m$ , the bottom of the spectrum of the essentially self-adjoint operator  $\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}$  is denoted by  $\mu(x,\xi)$ .

We would like to replace  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  by the *m*-dimensional pseudo-differential operator:

# $\mu(s, hD_s).$

Under different assumptions, such reductions are considered in [38, Theorem 2.1 and remark thereafter] where it is suggested that the spectrum of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  could be completely determined by an effective Hamiltonian (a matrix of pseudo-differential operators) whose principal symbol can be described thanks to the spectral invariants of the operator valued symbol of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$ . For the present situation the low lying spectrum of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  could be described by the one of  $\mu(s,hD_s)$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h)$  and we will see that, under generic assumptions,  $\mathcal{O}(h)$  is precisely the order of the spectral gap between the first eigenvalues in the simple well case.

### 1.1.2 Multiple scales induced by the fully semiclassical magnetic Laplacian

Another important motivation to analyze partially semiclassical problems with magnetic fields comes in fact from the fully semiclassical case (*i.e.* when the parameter h multiplies all the derivatives). Let us now explain in which sense. The study of the discrete spectrum magnetic Laplacian  $(-i\hbar\nabla + \mathbf{A})^2$  has given rise to many contributions in the last twenty years, especially in the semiclassical limit. To have an overview on the subject one may refer to the book by Fournais and Helffer [20], the survey by Helffer and Kordyukov [26] and the lecture notes by Raymond [49]. Many papers are concerned with finding approximations of the first eigenfunctions. Such approximations are difficult to obtain due to the geometry of a possible boundary (carrying in general a Neumann type condition) and to the possible variations of the magnetic field  $\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$ . In dimension two the case of the disk is investigated in [3, 5, 4, 15] and generalized to smooth domains in [28] where it is proved that

$$\lambda_1(\hbar) = \Theta_0 \hbar - C_1 \kappa_{max} \hbar^{3/2} + o(\hbar^{3/2}), \qquad (1.4)$$

where  $\kappa_{max}$  is the maximal curvature of the boundary and where  $\Theta_0 > 0$  and  $C_1 > 0$ are universal constants related to a half-line model (actually we have  $\Theta_0 = \mathfrak{h}^{[0]}(\zeta_0^{[0]})$ , see Section 4). An important point to notice is that, in the above mentioned papers, nothing is told about the simplicity of the first eigenvalue or about the approximation of the eigenfunctions. A reason for this is that the spirit of the analysis is essentially variational: it is based on the construction of appropriate test functions for the first Rayleigh quotient so that, even if the simplicity of the eigenfunctions were known, nothing could be deduced for the approximation of the eigenfunctions.

The paper [19] is the first one to establish, in a smooth case and under non-degeneracy assumptions, the approximation of the eigenfunctions and the simplicity of the lowest eigenvalues. The crucial idea to get such results is to understand a double scale structure due to the inhomogeneity of the pure magnetic Laplacian, which is specific to problems with smooth boundaries or without boundary, and to apply the spectral mapping theorem. In such situations it appears that the microlocalization (on possibly different scales) of the eigenfunctions plays an important role in the determination of the spectral asymptotics. In particular the papers [47, 17, 45], which are concerned with varying magnetic fields, establish full asymptotic expansions of the low lying eigenvalues and eigenfunctions by the reduction to the (electric) Born-Oppenheimer approximation which naturally involves different scales. The analysis of [17], related to vanishing magnetic fields, is motivated by the papers [40, 27, 23, 25] and solves one of their conjectures on the asymptotic simplicity of the eigenvalues. This paper will provide simple examples suggested by all the above mentioned models. Moreover, as we will see, the proof of the simplicity of the eigenvalues as well as the expansions of the eigenfunctions strongly relies on the multiscale analysis of microlocal models as it is done while studying hypoellipticity. We will see that an analysis  $\dot{a}$  la Born-Oppenheimer will allow us to deal with all the above mentioned situations.

# 1.1.3 Magnetic WKB expansions and Agmon estimates

In all the papers about asymptotic expansions of the magnetic eigenfunctions, one of the methods consists in using a formal power series expansion. It turns out that these constructions are never in the famous WKB form, but in a weaker and somehow more flexible one. When there is an additional electric potential providing easy confinement estimates, the WKB expansions are possible as we can see in [32] and [39]. The reason for which we would like to have a WKB description of the eigenfunctions is to get a precise estimate of the magnetic tunnel effect in the case of symmetries. Until now, such estimates are only investigated in two dimensional corner domains in [7] and [8] for the numerical counterpart. It turns out that the crucial point to get an accurate estimate of the exponentially small splitting of the eigenvalues is to establish exponential decay of Agmon type. These localization estimates are rather easy to obtain (at least to get the good scale in the exponential decay) in the corner cases due to the fact that the operator is "more elliptic" than in the regular case in the following sense: the spectral asymptotics is completely determined by the principal symbol. Nevertheless, let us notice here that, on the one hand, the numerics suggests that the eigenvalues do not seem to be simple (see for instance the case of the square in [8] or of the ellipse in Figure 9) and, on the other hand, that establishing the optimal Agmon estimates is still an open problem. In smooth cases, due to a lack of ellipticity and to the multiple scales, the localization estimates obtained in the literature are in general not optimal or rely on the presence of an electric potential (see [41, 42]): the principal symbol provides only a partial confinement whereas the precise localization of the eigenfunctions seems to be determined by the subprincipal terms. As far as we know, the present paper provides the first examples of WKB expansions in pure magnetic situations as well as quasi-optimal – optimal in terms of power of hbut with no exhibited distance of Agmon – Agmon estimates in model situations. In particular, we prove for a wide range of situations analyzed in the past decades that the magnetic eigenfunctions are in the WKB form under generic assumptions. This paper can be considered as the first necessary step (WKB expansions and rather accurate Agmon estimates) towards the complete comprehension of the magnetic tunnel effect.

# 1.2 Main results and strategy of the proofs

# 1.2.1 Spectrum of the simple magnetic wells

In the simple well situation, we will work under the following assumptions. The first assumption states that the lowest eigenvalue of the operator symbol of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  admits a unique and non degenerate minimum and the second one concerns the simplicity of the spectrum of the effective harmonic oscillator.

- **Assumption 1.2** The function  $\mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m \ni (x,\xi) \mapsto \mu(x,\xi)$  is continuous and admits a unique and non degenerate minimum  $\mu_0$  at a point denoted by  $(x_0,\xi_0)$  and such that  $\liminf_{|x|+|\xi|\to+\infty} \mu(x,\xi) > \mu_0$ .
  - The family (M<sub>x,ξ</sub>)<sub>(x,ξ)∈ℝ<sup>m</sup>×ℝ<sup>m</sup></sub> can be extended into a holomorphic family of type (A) in the sense of Kato [33, Chapter VII] in a complex neighborhood V<sub>0</sub> of (x<sub>0</sub>, ξ<sub>0</sub>).
  - For all  $(x,\xi) \in \mathcal{V}_0 \cap (\mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m)$ ,  $\mu(x,\xi)$  is a simple eigenvalue.

**Remark 1.3** Let us explain an example that we have in mind when stating Assumption 1.2. As we will see in Section 4, we will consider operator symbols (acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_t)$ ) in the form

$$\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{[k]} = D_t^2 + V(x,\xi), \quad \text{with } V(x,\xi) = \left(\xi - \gamma(x)\frac{t^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^2, \quad (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m,$$

where  $k \geq 1$  and  $\gamma$  is uniformly bounded from below by a positive constant. In this case, the domain of  $\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{[k]}$  does not depend on  $(x,\xi)$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{[k]}$  depends on  $(x,\xi)$  analytically as soon as  $\gamma$  is analytic. Therefore it is a real analytic family of type (A) and it is not difficult to extend locally this family into a holomorphic family. The operator has clearly a compact resolvent so that  $\mu(x,\xi)$  is always an eigenvalue (and it is simple by a standard ODE argument). By the min-max principle, it is rather direct to see that the function  $\mu$ is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m$  and that it behaves nicely at infinity (for example with  $\gamma$  as in Proposition 1.16). The uniqueness of the minimum and its non degeneracy are related to more advanced considerations (see Section 4).

**Remark 1.4** Under Assumption 1.2, the function  $\mu$  is analytic with respect to  $(x, \xi)$  and it is associated with an L<sup>2</sup>-normalized eigenfunction  $u_{x,\xi} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  which also analytically depends on  $(x, \xi)$ .

In a neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}_0$  of  $(x_0, \xi_0)$ , we still denote by  $u_{x,\xi}$  and  $\mu(x,\xi)$  the holomorphic extensions of u and  $\mu$  and we have locally:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u_{x,\xi} \overline{u_{\overline{x},\overline{\xi}}} \, \mathrm{d}t = 1.$$
(1.5)

Note that the holomorphic extension of u is not always  $L^2$ -normalized.

**Assumption 1.5** Under Assumption 1.2, let us denote by Hess  $\mu(x_0, \xi_0)$  the Hessian matrix of  $\mu$  at  $(x_0, \xi_0)$ . We assume that the spectrum of the operator Hess  $\mu(x_0, \xi_0)(\sigma, D_{\sigma})$  is simple.

**Remark 1.6** Assumption 1.5 is automatically satisfied when m = 1.

The last assumption is a spectral confinement.

Assumption 1.7 For  $R \ge 0$ , we let  $\Omega_R = \mathbb{R}^{m+n} \setminus \overline{\mathcal{B}(0,R)}$ . We denote by  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{\mathsf{Dir},\Omega_R}$  the Dirichlet realization on  $\Omega_R$  of  $(D_t + A_2(s,t))^2 + (hD_s + A_1(s,t))^2$ . We assume that there exist  $R_0 \ge 0$ ,  $h_0 > 0$  and  $\mu_0^* > \mu_0$  such that for all  $h \in (0,h_0)$ , the bottom of the spectrum of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{\mathsf{Dir},\Omega_{R_0}}$  satisfies:

$$\lambda_1^{\mathsf{Dir},\Omega_{R_0}}(h) \ge \mu_0^*.$$

**Remark 1.8** In particular, due to the monotonicity of the Dirichlet realization with respect to the domain, Assumption 1.7 implies that there exist  $R_0 > 0$  and  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $R \ge R_0$  and  $h \in (0, h_0)$ :

$$\lambda_1^{\mathsf{Dir},\Omega_R}(h) \geq \lambda_1^{\mathsf{Dir},\Omega_{R_0}}(h) \geq \mu_0^*$$

By using the Persson's theorem (see [43]), we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 1.9** Under Assumption 1.7, there exists  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ :

$$\inf \mathsf{sp}_{\mathsf{ess}}(\mathfrak{L}_h) \ge \mu_0^*.$$

**Theorem 1.10** Under Assumptions 1.2, 1.5 and 1.7, and assuming in addition that  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are polynomials, for all  $n \ge 1$ , there exists  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  the *n*-th eigenvalue of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  exists and satisfies

$$\lambda_n(h) = \lambda_{n,0} + \lambda_{n,1}h + o(h),$$

where  $\lambda_{n,0} = \mu_0$  and  $\lambda_{n,1}$  is the n-th eigenvalue of  $\frac{1}{2}$  Hess  $\mu(x_0,\xi_0)(\sigma,D_{\sigma})$ .

**Remark 1.11** In fact using the double scale construction developed in the proof of the previous theorem, it is possible to get a complete asymptotic expansion of the following type

$$\lambda_n(h) \underset{h \to 0}{\sim} \sum_{j \ge 0} \mathfrak{l}_{n,j} h^{j/2},$$

where  $l_{n,0} = \mu_0$ ,  $l_{n,1} = 0$  and  $l_{n,2} = \lambda_{n,1}$ .

Strategy of the proof of Theorem 1.10. The proof of Theorem 1.10 is divided into two main steps. The first step is to construct quasimodes as formal series expansions and to apply the spectral theorem. In order to succeed we will establish Feynman-Hellmann formulas with multiple parameters which are consequences of the perturbation theory of Kato. The second step which is slightly more difficult is to get an accurate estimate of the spectral splitting between the eigenvalues. For that purpose, we will follow the strategy of [48] by using a partial coherent states decomposition with respect to the semiclassical variables s and use it to establish polynomial estimates (in the spirit of [46] and also [24]) in the phase space satisfied by the eigenfunctions. Then the Feshbach-Grushin type reduction is used to rigorously reduce the dimension and get the spectral splitting. The proof of Theorem 1.10 is the aim of Section 2.

#### 1.2.2 Magnetic WKB expansions: simple well case

We provide now WKB expansions of the lowest eigenpairs in a pure magnetic case. We reduce here our study to the case when  $A_2 = 0$  for reasons motivated in Remark 1.15. We therefore focus now on operators of the form

$$\mathfrak{L}_h = D_t^2 + (hD_s + A_1(s,t))^2. \tag{1.6}$$

Let us state one of the most important results of this paper.

**Theorem 1.12** We assume that  $A_2 = 0$  and that  $A_1$  is real analytic. Under Assumptions 1.2, 1.5 and 1.7, there exist a function  $\Phi = \Phi(s)$  defined in a neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}$  of  $x_0$  with Re Hess  $\Phi(x_0) > 0$  and, for any  $n \ge 1$ , a sequence of real numbers  $(\lambda_{n,j})_{j\ge 0}$  such that

$$\lambda_n(h) \underset{h \to 0}{\sim} \sum_{j \ge 0} \lambda_{n,j} h^j,$$

in the sense of formal series, with  $\lambda_{n,0} = \mu_0$ . Besides there exists a formal series of smooth functions on  $\mathcal{V} \times \mathbb{R}^n_t$ 

$$a_n(.;h) \sim_{h \to 0} \sum_{j \ge 0} a_{n,j} h^j$$

with  $a_{n,0} \neq 0$  such that

$$\left(\mathfrak{L}_{h}-\lambda_{n}(h)\right)\left(a_{n}(.;h)\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h}\right)=\mathcal{O}\left(h^{\infty}\right)\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h}.$$

Furthermore the functions  $t \mapsto a_{n,j}(s,t)$  belong to the Schwartz class uniformly in  $s \in \mathcal{V}$ . In addition, if  $A_1$  is a polynomial function, there exists  $c_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ 

$$\mathcal{B}(\lambda_{n,0} + \lambda_{n,1}h, c_0h) \cap \operatorname{sp}(\mathfrak{L}_h) = \{\lambda_n(h)\},\$$

and  $\lambda_n(h)$  is a simple eigenvalue.

In the previous theorem we used the following definition of formal series of functions.

**Notation 1.13** Let  $n \ge 1$ . We write  $a_n(s,t;h) \sim \sum_{h\to 0} \sum_{j\ge 0} a_{n,j}(s,t)h^j$  when for all  $J \ge 0$ and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{m+n}$ , there exist  $h_{J,\alpha} > 0$  and  $C_{J,\alpha} > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_{J,\alpha})$ , we have

$$\left|\partial^{\alpha} \left( a_n(s,t;h) - \sum_{j=0}^{J} a_{n,j}(s,t)h^j \right) \right| \le C_{J,\alpha} h^{J+1} \quad \text{locally in } (s,t) \in \mathcal{V} \times \mathbb{R}^n.$$

We also write  $a = O(h^{\infty})$  when all the coefficients in the series are zero. The case of formal series of numbers is similar.

Let us also recall that for any arbitrary sequence of smooth functions  $a_j$  one can always find, by a procedure of Borel type, a smooth function a(s,t;h) (up to  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})$ ) such that  $a(s,t;h) \underset{h\to 0}{\sim} \sum_{j\geq 0} a_j(s,t)h^j$  (see e.g. [37]).

**Remark 1.14** Thanks to Theorem 1.10, we have sharp asymptotic expansions of the eigenvalues. In particular, one knows that they become simple in the semiclassical limit. Therefore, by applying the spectral theorem, we get the WKB approximation of the corresponding eigenfunctions from Theorem 1.12.

**Remark 1.15** When  $A_2$  is not zero, it appears that the dimensional reduction is prevented by the oscillations of the eigenfunctions of the model operator  $\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}$ . The problem already appears in the case  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ : we can gauge out  $A_2$  at the price to replace  $A_1$  by  $A_1+h\nabla_s\varphi(s,t)$ which is h dependent. As a consequence of our analysis, we can check that the spectrum associated with the potential  $(A_1 + h\nabla_s\varphi, 0)$  is shifted by a factor  $\mathcal{O}(h)$  compared to the one associated with  $(A_1, 0)$ . In dimension one for t, we can even prove with our method (and a change of gauge) that the phase  $\Phi$  in the WKB expansion is (s, t)-dependent.

Strategy of the proof of Theorem 1.12. The new Ansatz considered here is given by a partial WKB expansion with respect to the variable s. Under some analyticity assumptions, the effective eikonal equation will be solved thanks to the classical stable manifold theorem and analytic extensions of the eigenpairs of the "model" operators. The corresponding effective transport equation will be obtained as the Fredholm condition of an operator valued transport equation jointly with the Feynman-Hellmann formulas. Theorem 1.12 will be proved in Section 3.

#### **1.2.3** Generalized Montgomery operators: towards the magnetic tunnel effect

Let us introduce a family of magnetic Laplacians in dimension two which is related to [29] and the more recent result by Fournais and Persson [21]. For  $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$ , we consider the so-called generalized Montgomery operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2, \operatorname{ds} \operatorname{dt})$ :

$$\mathcal{L}_{\hbar}^{[k],\mathsf{gM}} = \hbar^2 D_{\mathsf{t}}^2 + \left(\hbar D_{\mathsf{s}} - \gamma(\mathsf{s}) \frac{\mathsf{t}^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^2$$

where  $\gamma$  is analytic and does not vanish. The corresponding magnetic field is

$$B^{[k]}(\mathsf{s},\mathsf{t}) = \gamma(\mathsf{s})\mathsf{t}^k$$
 .

We call  $\lambda_{n,\hbar}^{[k],gM}$  the *n*-th eigenvalue (if exists) of this operator. In order to stick to the previous analysis, we start by the following naive but fundamental rescaling

$$\mathbf{s} = s, \qquad \mathbf{t} = \hbar^{\frac{1}{k+2}} t. \tag{1.7}$$

The operator becomes

$$\hbar^{\frac{2k+2}{k+2}} \left( D_t^2 + \left( \hbar^{\frac{1}{k+2}} D_s - \gamma(s) \frac{t^{k+1}}{k+1} \right)^2 \right)$$

The investigation is then reduced to the one of

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]} = D_{t}^{2} + \left(hD_{s} - \gamma(s)\frac{t^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^{2}, \qquad (1.8)$$

with  $h = \hbar^{\frac{1}{k+2}}$ .

Under some assumptions, the operator  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$  is a particular case of the previous theory. We will see in Section 4.1 (Proposition 4.2) that it satisfies Assumptions 1.2, 1.5 and 1.7. As a consequence, we could directly apply Theorem 1.12. But, at least in the case when the oscillations of the function  $\gamma$  are small enough, we can prove that the first eigenfunctions are globally in the WKB form.

#### Proposition 1.16

- If  $\gamma$  is a polynomial function and admits a unique minimum  $\gamma_0 > 0$  at  $s_0 = 0$  which is non degenerate, then Theorem 1.12 applies.
- If  $\gamma$  is an analytic function and if  $\left\|1 \frac{\gamma_0}{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty}$  is small enough, then the conclusion of Theorem 1.12 is valid and we can take  $x_0 = s_0$ ,  $\mathcal{V} = \mathbb{R}$ .

**Remark 1.17** For the second point of Proposition 1.16, the simplicity of the eigenvalues is established in [47, 17] for k = 0, 1 whereas slight adaptations have to be done to deal with the case  $k \ge 2$ .

As a direct reformulation and using the rescaling (1.7), we get the following result in the original variables.

**Corollary 1.18** The *n*-th eigenvalue of  $\mathfrak{L}^{[k],\mathsf{gM}}_{\hbar}$  and the corresponding WKB solution on  $\mathbb{R}^2_{\mathsf{s},\mathsf{t}}$  are given, as  $\hbar \to 0$ , by

$$\lambda_{n,\hbar}^{[k],\mathsf{gM}} = \hbar^{\frac{2k+2}{k+2}} \lambda_n(\hbar^{\frac{j}{k+2}}) \sim \hbar^{\frac{2k+2}{k+2}} \sum_{j \ge 0} \lambda_{n,j} \hbar^{\frac{j}{k+2}},$$

and

$$u_{n,\hbar}^{[k],\mathsf{gM}}(\mathsf{s},\mathsf{t}) \sim a_n(\mathsf{s},\hbar^{-\frac{1}{k+2}}\mathsf{t};\hbar^{\frac{1}{k+2}})\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi(\mathsf{s})/\hbar^{\frac{1}{k+2}}}$$

where  $a_n$  and  $\lambda_n$  are given by Theorem 1.12.

In the perspective of the analysis of the magnetic tunnelling, we will now suppose that  $\gamma$ , instead of having a unique non degenerate minimum, satisfies the following assumption of double well type.

**Proposition 1.19** Let us assume that the function  $\gamma$  is even and has two non degenerate minima at  $s_{-} < 0$  and  $s_{+} = -s_{-} > 0$ . Let us fix  $\delta \in (0, s_{+})$  and let

$$\mathsf{z}(s) = \chi_{\delta,-}(s) \left| \int_{s_-}^s \tilde{\chi}(s') \sqrt{\gamma(s')^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}}} \, \mathrm{d}s' \right| + \chi_{\delta,+}(s) \left| \int_{s_+}^s \tilde{\chi}(s') \sqrt{\gamma(s')^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}}} \, \mathrm{d}s' \right|,$$

where  $0 \leq \tilde{\chi} \leq 1$  is a smooth cutoff function whose support contains  $s_{-}$  and  $s_{+}$  and where  $\chi_{\delta,-}$  and  $\chi_{\delta,+}$  are smooth cutoff functions such that

$$\chi_{\delta,-}(s) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } s \le \frac{\delta}{2}, \\ 0 & \text{for } s \ge \delta, \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad \chi_{\delta,+}(s) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } s \ge -\frac{\delta}{2} \\ 0 & \text{for } s \le -\delta \end{cases}$$

Let us consider  $C_0 > 0$ . There exist  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ , C > 0 and  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  satisfying  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$  we have, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ ,

$$|\mathbf{e}^{\varepsilon_0\mathbf{z}/h}\psi\| \le C\|\psi\| \qquad and \qquad \mathfrak{Q}_h^{[k]}(\mathbf{e}^{\varepsilon_0\mathbf{z}/h}\psi) \le C\|\psi\|^2$$

We can now give a rough upper bound for the tunnel effect for the rescaled Montgomery models. For that purpose, let us fix  $\delta \in (0, s_+)$  and define the two symmetric model wells. We assume that  $\gamma$  is even and has two non degenerate minima at  $s_- < 0$  and  $s_+ = -s_- > 0$ .

We consider the Dirichlet realizations on  $L^2((-\infty, s_-+\delta) \times \mathbb{R})$  and  $L^2((s_+-\delta, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R})$ of  $D_t^2 + \left(hD_s - \gamma(s)\frac{t^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^2$  respectively denoted by  $\mathfrak{H}_{h,-}^{\mathsf{Dir}}$  and  $\mathfrak{H}_{h,+}^{\mathsf{Dir}}$ . These operators are isospectral by symmetry. We want to compare the spectrum of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  with the one of the direct sum  $\mathfrak{H}_h = \mathfrak{H}_{h,-}^{\mathsf{Dir}} \oplus \mathfrak{H}_{h,+}^{\mathsf{Dir}}$ .

**Theorem 1.20** Let us consider  $C_0 > 0$ . There exist c > 0, C > 0,  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $\mu \in \operatorname{sp}(\mathfrak{H}_h)$  and  $\lambda \in \operatorname{sp}\left(\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}\right)$  with  $\mu, \lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ ,

$$\mathsf{range}\left(\mathbbm{1}_{[\mu-C\mathrm{e}^{-c/h},\mu+C\mathrm{e}^{-c/h}]}(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]})\right)=2$$

and

$$\mathsf{dist}\left(\lambda, \mathsf{sp}\left(\mathfrak{H}_{h}\right)\right) \leq C \mathrm{e}^{-c/h}$$

The following corollary is a direct consequence of the previous theorem.

**Corollary 1.21** In terms of operator  $\mathcal{L}_{\hbar}^{[k],\mathsf{gM}}$  the gap between pairs of eigenvalues is given by

$$\lambda_{2n,\hbar}^{[k],\mathsf{g}\mathsf{M}} - \lambda_{2n-1,\hbar}^{[k],\mathsf{g}\mathsf{M}} = \mathcal{O}\left(\mathrm{e}^{-c/\hbar^{\frac{1}{k+2}}}\right),$$

for  $\hbar$  small enough depending on n.

**Strategy of the analysis of**  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$  In the simple well case the study of  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$  follows the same lines as for Theorem 1.12 jointly with a normal form argument inspired by [47, 17, 50] which permits simultaneously to make the WKB expansions global and to get quasi-optimal Agmon estimates. Concerning the double well case, in order to get the tunneling effect, we can follow the classical procedure based on the spectral theorem and the previous Agmon estimates.

# 1.3 WKB constructions: influence of the geometry

This section is devoted to the fully semiclassical magnetic Laplacian  $(\hbar D_x + A)^2$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ . We now investigate three kinds of models for which the geometry is more intricate and for which our theorems do not directly apply. Nevertheless, our WKB strategy is robust enough and still effective: we are able to exhibit WKB expansions. Note that all the forthcoming situations have already been studied in the literature but never with the accuracy of the WKB point of view. The geometric perturbations at stake are: vanishing magnetic fields on curves or possibly singular boundary.

# 1.3.1 Vanishing magnetic fields... or not

We will work under the following assumption on B as in [23] and [17] which concerns its vanishing order  $k \ge 1$  (whereas the limit case k = 0 will be described afterwards).

**Assumption 1.22** We work in the two dimensional case. The zero locus of B is a smooth closed non empty curve  $\Gamma$ :

$$\Gamma = \{ \boldsymbol{B}(\mathbf{x}) = 0 \},\$$

and **B** vanishes exactly at the order  $k \ge 1$  on  $\Gamma$ . Moreover we assume that the k-th normal derivative of **B** admits a non degenerate minimum on  $\Gamma$  at  $x_0$ .

**Remark 1.23** Here we work in dimension two, but there is no doubt that we could adapt the presentation, modulo a few technicalities, to cover the case of magnetic fields vanishing at a given order on hypersurfaces as in [23].

In Section 5.1 we will construct, in a neighborhood of  $x_0$  and in normal coordinates, WKB expansions which come within the study of the generalized Montgomery operator  $\mathcal{L}_{\hbar}^{[k],gM}$ . Under the additional assumption that the minimum is uniquely reached at  $x_0$ , the splitting between the lowest eigenvalues has been established in [17] (for the case k = 1 and the proof is completely similar for  $k \geq 2$ ) so that these WKB expansions are local (in the sense of Theorem 1.12) approximations of the true eigenfunctions.

These considerations can be extended to the case k = 0. We consider here a magnetic field which does not vanish on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . The curve  $\Gamma$  represents the boundary of an enclosed open set  $\Omega$  carrying a magnetic Neumann condition. In other words, we can perform a WKB construction, for the Neumann realization on  $\Omega$  of  $(\hbar D_x + A)^2$ , near each  $x_0$  where  $B_{|\partial\Omega}$  is not degenerately minimal. Assuming moreover that

$$\Theta_0 \min_{\partial \Omega} \boldsymbol{B} < \min_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{B},$$

and that  $B_{|\partial\Omega}$  admits a unique and non degenerate minimum, we can get, by using the spectral splitting proved in [47], the local WKB approximation of the lowest eigenfunctions. All the scaling properties, stated in normal coordinates, will be addressed in Section 5.1.

# 1.3.2 Varying edge

The strategy of this paper can also deal with more singular situations in dimension three. Such a situation is described in the paper [45] where the semiclassical analysis is done when the boundary of the domain contains a varying edge. We propose to perform the WKB constructions for a simplified version of the operator introduced there. We are interested in the operator defined on  $L^2(\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}, ds dt dz)$  and with Neumann conditions

$$\mathcal{L}_{\hbar}^{\mathsf{e}} = \hbar^2 D_t^2 + \hbar^2 D_z^2 + (\hbar D_s - t)^2,$$

where

$$\mathcal{W}_{\alpha} = \left\{ (s, t, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3, |z| \le \mathcal{T}(s)t \right\},\$$

with  $\mathcal{T}(s) = \tan\left(\frac{\alpha(s)}{2}\right)$  and where  $\alpha : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is an analytic function which represents the (varying) opening of the wedge  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$ . We will work under the following assumption.

**Assumption 1.24** The function  $s \mapsto \alpha(s)$  admits a unique and non degenerate maximum  $\alpha_0$  at s = 0.

In Section 5.2, we will provide local (near the point of the edge giving the maximal aperture) WKB expansions of the lowest eigenfunctions.

# 1.3.3 Curvature induced magnetic bound states

As we have seen, in many situations the spectral splitting appears in the second term of the asymptotic expansion of the eigenvalues. It turns out that we can also deal with more degenerate situations. The next lines are motivated by the initial paper [28] whose main result is recalled in (1.4). Their fundamental result establishes that a smooth Neumann boundary can trap the lowest eigenfunctions near the points of maximal curvature. These considerations are generalized in [19, Theorem 1.1] where the following complete asymptotic expansion of the eigenvalues is proved

$$\lambda_{n,\hbar}^{\mathsf{c}} = \Theta_0 \hbar - C_1 \kappa_{\max} \hbar^{3/2} + (2n-1)C_1 \Theta_0^{1/4} \sqrt{\frac{3k_2}{2}} \hbar^{7/4} + o(\hbar^{7/4}), \tag{1.9}$$

where  $k_2 = -\kappa''(0)$ . In our paper, as in [19], we will consider the magnetic Neumann Laplacian on a smooth domain  $\Omega$  such that the algebraic curvature  $\kappa$  satisfies the following assumption.

**Assumption 1.25** The function  $\kappa$  is smooth and admits a unique and non degenerate maximum at 0.

We will prove that the lowest eigenfunctions are approximated by local WKB expansions which can be made global when for instance  $\partial\Omega$  is the graph of a smooth function. In particular we will recover the term  $C_1\Theta_0^{1/4}\sqrt{\frac{3k_2}{2}}$  by a method different from the one in [19].

# 1.4 Organization of the paper

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 is devoted to models with simple magnetic wells and to the proof of Theorem 1.10. Section 3 is concerned with the proof of Theorem 1.12. In Section 4 we establish that the generalized Montgomery operators satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 1.12, we prove that the WKB expansions are global (Proposition 1.16) and we give an upper bound of the tunnel effect (proof of Theorem 1.20). These theoretical results are illustrated by numerical simulations. Section 5 deals with the geometrical examples introduced in Section 1.3.

# 2 Simple magnetic wells

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 1.10. In order to perform the investigation we use the following rescaling

$$s = x_0 + h^{1/2}\sigma, \qquad t = \tau,$$
 (2.1)

and a gauge transform  $e^{i\xi_0\sigma/h^{1/2}}$ , so that  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_h = (D_\tau + A_2(x_0 + h^{1/2}\sigma, \tau))^2 + (\xi_0 + h^{1/2}D_\sigma + A_1(x_0 + h^{1/2}\sigma, \tau))^2.$$
(2.2)

The corresponding quadratic form is denoted by  $\mathcal{Q}_h$ .

# 2.1 Formal series and general Feynman-Hellmann formulas

Let us start by proving the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.1** Under Assumption 1.2, we assume furthermore that  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are polynomials. For all  $n \ge 1$ , there exist C > 0 and  $h_0 > 0$  such that, for  $h \in (0, h_0)$ ,

dist 
$$(\lambda_{n,0} + \lambda_{n,1}h, \operatorname{sp}(\mathcal{L}_h)) \leq Ch^{3/2}$$

where  $\lambda_{n,0} = \mu_0$  and  $\lambda_{n,1}$  is the n-th eigenvalue of  $\frac{1}{2}$  Hess  $\mu(x_0,\xi_0)(\sigma,D_{\sigma})$ .

We will need the so-called Feynman-Hellmann formulas:

**Proposition 2.2** Let  $\eta$  and  $\theta$  denote one of the  $x_i$  or  $\xi_k$ . Then we have

$$(\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi} - \mu(x,\xi))(\partial_{\eta}u)_{x,\xi} = (\partial_{\eta}\mu(x,\xi) - \partial_{\eta}\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi})u_{x,\xi}$$
(2.3)

and

$$(\mathcal{M}_{x_0,\xi_0} - \mu_0)(\partial_\eta \partial_\theta u)_{x_0,\xi_0} = \partial_\eta \partial_\theta \mu(x_0,\xi_0) u_{x_0,\xi_0} - \partial_\eta \mathcal{M}_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_\theta u)_{x_0,\xi_0} - \partial_\theta \mathcal{M}_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_\eta u)_{x_0,\xi_0} - \partial_\eta \partial_\theta \mathcal{M}_{x_0,\xi_0} u_{x_0,\xi_0},$$
(2.4)

where  $(\partial_{\eta} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}$  denotes  $(\partial_{\eta} u_{x,\xi})_{|(x,\xi)=(x_0,\xi_0)}$  and similarly for the other derivatives of  $u_{x,\xi}$ . In a neighborhood of  $(x_0,\xi_0)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{C}^m$ , we have,

$$\partial_{\eta}\mu(x,\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\partial_{\eta}\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi} \, u_{x,\xi})(\tau) \overline{u_{x,\overline{\xi}}(\tau)} \, \mathrm{d}\tau.$$
(2.5)

**Proof:** Feynman-Hellmann formulas (2.3)–(2.5) are obtained by taking the derivative of the eigenvalue equation

$$\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}u_{x,\xi} = \mu(x,\xi)u_{x,\xi},\tag{2.6}$$

with respect to  $x_j$  and  $\xi_k$ .

**Proof of Proposition 2.1:** Since  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are polynomials, we can write, for some  $M \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_h = \sum_{j=0}^M h^{j/2} \mathcal{L}_j,$$

with

$$\mathcal{L}_{0} = \mathcal{M}_{x_{0},\xi_{0}}, \qquad \mathcal{L}_{1} = \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\partial_{x_{k}}\mathcal{M})_{x_{0},\xi_{0}}\sigma_{k} + \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\partial_{\xi_{k}}\mathcal{M})_{x_{0},\xi_{0}}D_{\sigma_{k}},$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k,j=1}^{m} \left( (\partial_{x_{j}}\partial_{x_{k}}\mathcal{M})_{x_{0},\xi_{0}}\sigma_{j}\sigma_{k} + (\partial_{\xi_{j}}\partial_{\xi_{k}}\mathcal{M})_{x_{0},\xi_{0}}D_{\sigma_{j}}D_{\sigma_{k}} + (\partial_{\xi_{j}}\partial_{x_{k}}\mathcal{M})_{x_{0},\xi_{0}}\sigma_{k}D_{\sigma_{j}}\sigma_{k} + (\partial_{x_{k}}\partial_{\xi_{j}}\mathcal{M})_{x_{0},\xi_{0}}\sigma_{k}D_{\sigma_{j}} \right).$$
$$(2.7)$$

We look for quasimodes in the form

$$\psi = \sum_{j=0}^{2} h^{j/2} \psi_j$$
 and  $\mathfrak{l} = \sum_{j=0}^{2} h^{j/2} \mathfrak{l}_j$ ,

so that they solve in the sense of formal series

$$\mathcal{L}_h \psi = \mathfrak{l} \psi + \mathcal{O}(h^{3/2}).$$

Let us now deal with each power of h.

**Terms of order**  $h^0$ . By collecting the terms of order  $h^0$ , we get the equation

$$\mathcal{M}_{x_0,\xi_0}\psi_0 = \mathfrak{l}_0\psi_0.$$

This leads to take

$$\mathfrak{l}_0 = \mu_0$$
 and  $\psi_0(\sigma, \tau) = f_0(\sigma)u_0(\tau)$ 

where  $u_0 = u_{x_0,\xi_0}$  and  $f_0$  is a function to be determined in the Schwartz class.

**Terms of order**  $h^{1/2}$ . By collecting the terms of order  $h^{1/2}$ , we find

$$(\mathcal{M}_{x_0,\xi_0} - \mu(x_0,\xi_0))\psi_1 = (\mathfrak{l}_1 - \mathcal{L}_1)\psi_0$$

By using (2.3) and the Fredholm alternative (applied for  $\sigma$  fixed) we get  $\mathfrak{l}_1 = 0$  and

$$\psi_1(\sigma,\tau) = \sum_{k=1}^m (\partial_{x_k} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}(\tau) \,\sigma_k f_0(\sigma) + \sum_{k=1}^m (\partial_{\xi_k} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}(\tau) \,D_{\sigma_k} f_0(\sigma) + f_1(\sigma) u_0(\tau), \quad (2.8)$$

where  $f_1$  is a function to be determined in the Schwartz class.

**Terms of order** *h***.** The equation reads

$$(\mathcal{M}_{x_0,\xi_0} - \mu(x_0,\xi_0))\psi_2 = (\mathfrak{l}_2 - \mathcal{L}_2)\psi_0 - \mathcal{L}_1\psi_1.$$

The Fredholm condition gives

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_2 \psi_0 + \mathcal{L}_1 \psi_1, u_0 \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \, \mathrm{d}\tau)} = \mathfrak{l}_2 f_0.$$

$$(2.9)$$

Let us examine each term which appears when computing the l.h.s. and recall that Proposition 2.2 holds (especially the Fredholm condition of (2.4)). The coefficient in front of  $\sigma_j \sigma_k f_0$  is

$$\langle (\partial_{x_j}\mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_{x_k} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} + \langle (\partial_{x_k}\mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_{x_j} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} + \langle (\partial_{x_j}\partial_{x_k}\mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} u_0, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} = \partial_{x_j}\partial_{x_k}\mu(x_0,\xi_0).$$

The coefficient in front of  $D_{\sigma_i} D_{\sigma_k}$  is

$$\begin{aligned} \langle (\partial_{\xi_j} \mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_{\xi_k} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \,\mathrm{d}\tau)} + \langle (\partial_{\xi_k} \mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_{\xi_j} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \,\mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ + \langle (\partial_{\xi_j} \partial_{\xi_k} \mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} u_0, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \,\mathrm{d}\tau)} = \partial_{\xi_j} \partial_{\xi_k} \mu(x_0,\xi_0). \end{aligned}$$

To deal with the coefficient in front of  $D_{\sigma_i}\sigma_k + \sigma_k D_{\sigma_i}$ , we use the formula

$$\begin{split} \langle (\partial_{\xi_j} \mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_{x_k} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} + \langle (\partial_{x_k} \mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_{\xi_j} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &+ \langle (\partial_{\xi_j} \partial_{x_k} \mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} u_0, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} + \langle (\partial_{\xi_k} \mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_{x_j} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &+ \langle (\partial_{x_j} \mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} (\partial_{\xi_k} u)_{x_0,\xi_0}, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} + \langle (\partial_{\xi_k} \partial_{x_j} \mathcal{M})_{x_0,\xi_0} u_0, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &= \partial_{x_j} \partial_{\xi_k} \mu(x_0,\xi_0) + \partial_{x_k} \partial_{\xi_j} \mu(x_0,\xi_0). \end{split}$$

Therefore the Fredholm condition (2.9) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j,k=1}^{m} \left(\partial_{x_j}\partial_{x_k}\mu\sigma_j\sigma_k + \partial_{\xi_j}\partial_{\xi_k}\mu D_{\sigma_j}D_{\sigma_k} + \partial_{\xi_j}\partial_{x_k}\mu D_{\sigma_j}\sigma_k + \partial_{x_k}\partial_{\xi_j}\mu\sigma_k D_{\sigma_j}\right)f_0 = \mathfrak{l}_2 f_0,$$

where for shortness, we write  $\partial_{\eta}\partial_{\theta}\mu := (\partial_{\eta}\partial_{\theta}\mu)(x_0,\xi_0)$ . In other words, we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \text{Hess } \mu(x_0, \xi_0)(\sigma, D_{\sigma}) f_0 = \mathfrak{l}_2 f_0.$$

We take  $\mathfrak{l}_2 = \mathfrak{l}_{n,2}$  the *n*-th eigenvalue of  $\frac{1}{2}$  Hess  $\mu(x_0, \xi_0)(\sigma, D_{\sigma})$  and we choose  $f_0$  a corresponding normalized eigenfunction. We take  $f_1 = 0$ . The spectral theorem completes the proof of Proposition 2.1 (with  $\lambda_{n,1} = \mathfrak{l}_{n,2}$ ).

**Remark 2.3** This construction can be continued at any order by using the same kind of double scale procedure which can be found in [47, 46, 17] (see also [19] more in the Grushin spirit or [9] in an electric case). The odd terms in the eigenvalues expansion may easily be cancelled thanks to the parity of the harmonic oscillator.

We deduce from Propositions 1.9 and 2.1:

**Corollary 2.4** For all  $n \ge 1$  there exist  $h_0 > 0$  and C > 0 such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  the n-th eigenvalue of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  exists and satisfies:

$$\lambda_n(h) \le \mu_0 + Ch.$$

# 2.2 Semiclassical Agmon-Persson estimates

This section is devoted to the rough localization and microlocalization estimates satisfied by the eigenfunctions and resulting from Assumptions 1.2 and 1.7 and Corollary 2.4.

**Proposition 2.5** Let  $C_0 > 0$ . There exist  $h_0, C, \varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have

$$\left\| \mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_0 |t|} \psi \right\|^2 \le C \|\psi\|^2, \qquad \mathfrak{Q}_h \left( \mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_0 |t|} \psi \right) \le C \|\psi\|^2.$$

**Proof:** The proof is standard but we recall it for completeness. We consider a smooth cutoff function  $\chi_1$  supported in a fixed neighborhood of 0 and, for  $\ell \geq 1$ , we introduce  $\chi_\ell(t) = \chi_1(\ell^{-1}t)$ . We let  $\Phi_\ell(t) = \varepsilon_0 \chi_\ell(t) |t|$  and we write the Agmon identity (see [1, 2])

$$\mathfrak{Q}_h(\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_\ell}\psi) = \lambda \|\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_\ell}\psi\|^2 + \||\nabla\Phi_\ell|\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_\ell}\psi\|^2.$$

There exists C > 0 such that for all  $\ell \ge 1$  we have

$$\| |\nabla \Phi_{\ell}| \mathrm{e}^{\Phi_{\ell}} \psi \|^2 \le C \varepsilon_0^2 \| \mathrm{e}^{\Phi_{\ell}} \psi \|^2.$$

We infer that

$$\mathfrak{Q}_h(\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_\ell}\psi) \le (\mu_0 + C_0 h + C\varepsilon_0^2) \|\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_\ell}\psi\|^2$$

For R > 0, we introduce a partition of unity  $(\chi_{1,R}, \chi_{2,R})$  in t-variables such that

$$\chi_{1,R}^2(t) + \chi_{2,R}^2(t) = 1, \quad |\nabla\chi_{1,R}|^2 + |\nabla\chi_{2,R}|^2 \le CR^{-2} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{supp} \chi_{2,R} \cap \mathcal{B}(0,R) = \emptyset.$$

With the so-called IMS formula (see [13, Chapter 3]), we deduce

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}(\chi_{1,R}e^{\Phi_{\ell}}\psi) + \mathfrak{Q}_{h}(\chi_{2,R}e^{\Phi_{\ell}}\psi) - CR^{-2}\|e^{\Phi_{\ell}}\psi\|^{2} \le (\mu_{0} + C_{0}h + C\varepsilon_{0}^{2})\|e^{\Phi_{\ell}}\psi\|^{2}.$$

Since  $e^{\Phi_{\ell}}$  is bounded on the support of  $\chi_{1,R}$ , we get the existence of  $C, \tilde{C} > 0$  such that for all  $\ell \geq 1$  and  $h \in (0, 1)$ :

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}(\chi_{2,R}e^{\Phi_{\ell}}\psi) - (\mu_{0} + C_{0}h + C\varepsilon_{0}^{2} + CR^{-2}) \|\chi_{2,R}e^{\Phi_{\ell}}\psi\|^{2} \le \tilde{C}\|\psi\|^{2}.$$

By using Assumption 1.7 and Remark 1.8, there exist  $R_0 > 0$  and  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $R \ge R_0$  and  $h \in (0, h_0)$  we have

$$\mathfrak{Q}_h(\chi_{2,R}\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_\ell}\psi) \ge \mu_0^* \|\chi_{2,R}\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_\ell}\psi\|^2.$$

We infer the existence of c > 0 such that for  $h \in (0, h_0)$ 

$$c \|\chi_{2,R} \mathbf{e}^{\Phi_{\ell}} \psi\|^2 \le \tilde{C} \|\psi\|^2.$$

Then there exist C > 0 and  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $\ell \ge 1$  and  $h \in (0, h_0)$ 

$$\|\mathbf{e}^{\Phi_\ell}\psi\|^2 \le C\|\psi\|^2.$$

It remains to consider the limit  $\ell \to +\infty$  and to use the Fatou lemma and the conclusion follows.

**Proposition 2.6** Let  $C_0 > 0$ . There exist  $h_0, C, \varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have

$$\left\| \mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_0 |s|} \psi \right\|^2 \le C \|\psi\|^2, \qquad \mathfrak{Q}_h \left( \mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_0 |s|} \psi \right) \le C \|\psi\|^2.$$

**Proof:** The proof is the same as that of Proposition 2.5 with  $\Phi(s) = \varepsilon_0 \chi_{\ell}(s) |s|$ .

We get the following.

**Corollary 2.7** Let  $C_0 > 0$  and  $k, l, d \in \mathbb{N}$ . There exist  $h_0, C, \varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$  and all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|t^k s^l \psi\| &\le C \|\psi\|, \qquad \mathfrak{Q}_h(t^k s^l \psi) \le C \|\psi\|^2, \\ \|(D_\tau)^d s^l t^k \psi\| &\le C \|\psi\|^2, \qquad \|(hD_s)^d s^l t^k \psi\| \le C \|\psi\|^2 \end{aligned}$$

**Proof:** For d = 1, this is an immediate consequence of Propositions 2.5 and 2.6. Taking successive derivatives of the eigenvalue equation  $\mathfrak{L}_h \psi = \lambda \psi$  we deduce the result for  $d \geq 2$ . For another purpose, we will need the following localization result which is again a consequence of Propositions 2.5 and 2.6.

**Proposition 2.8** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $\eta > 0$  and  $\chi$  a smooth cutoff function defined on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ and being zero in a neighborhood of 0. There exists  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$  and all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , we have

$$\|\chi(h^{\eta}|s|)\psi\|_{B^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{m+n})} \le \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})\|\psi\|, \qquad \|\chi(h^{\eta}|t|)\psi\|_{B^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{m+n})} \le \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})\|\psi\|,$$

where  $\|\cdot\|_{B^k(\mathbb{R}^{n+m})}$  is the standard norm on

$$B^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{m+n}) = \{\psi \in \mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m+n}) | y_{j}^{q} \partial_{y_{l}}^{p} \psi \in \mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n+m}), \forall j, l \in \{1, \dots, m+n\}, p+q \leq k\}.$$

By using a rough pseudo-differential calculus jointly with the space localization of Proposition 2.8 and standard elliptic estimates, we get

**Proposition 2.9** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $\eta > 0$  and  $\chi$  a smooth cutoff function being zero in a neighborhood of 0. There exists  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have

$$\|\chi(h^{\eta}hD_s)\psi\|_{B^k(\mathbb{R}^{m+n})} \le \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})\|\psi\|, \qquad \|\chi(h^{\eta}D_t)\psi\|_{B^k(\mathbb{R}^{m+n})} \le \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})\|\psi\|.$$

# 2.3 Microlocalization and coherent states

In this section we follow the same philosophy as in [48].

# 2.3.1 Formalism and application

Let us recall the formalism of coherent states (see for instance [18] and [12]). We define

$$g_0(\sigma) = \pi^{-m/4} \mathrm{e}^{-|\sigma|^2/2},$$

and the usual creation and annihilation operators

$$\mathfrak{a}_j = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\sigma_j + \partial_{\sigma_j}), \qquad \mathfrak{a}_j^* = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\sigma_j - \partial_{\sigma_j}),$$

which satisfy the commutator relations

$$[\mathfrak{a}_j,\mathfrak{a}_j^*] = 1,$$
  $[\mathfrak{a}_j,\mathfrak{a}_k^*] = 0$  if  $k \neq j.$ 

We notice that

$$\sigma_j = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\mathfrak{a}_j + \mathfrak{a}_j^*), \qquad \partial_{\sigma_j} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\mathfrak{a}_j - \mathfrak{a}_j^*), \qquad \mathfrak{a}_j \mathfrak{a}_j^* = \frac{1}{2}(D_{\sigma_j}^2 + \sigma_j^2 + 1).$$
(2.10)

For  $(u, p) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m$ , we introduce the coherent state

$$f_{u,p}(\sigma) = e^{ip \cdot \sigma} g_0(\sigma - u),$$

and the associated projection, defined for  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  by

$$\Pi_{u,p}\psi = \langle \psi, f_{u,p} \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathrm{d}\sigma)} f_{u,p} = \psi_{u,p} f_{u,p}.$$

We have the identity resolution formula

$$\psi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2m}} \Pi_{u,p} \psi \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p,\tag{2.11}$$

and the Parseval-type formula

$$\|\psi\|^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2m}} |\psi_{u,p}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

Let us emphasize here that the coherent states decomposition (2.11) is performed only with respect to the variable  $\sigma$ . We recall that

$$\mathfrak{a}_j f_{u,p} = \frac{u_j + ip_j}{\sqrt{2}} f_{u,p}$$

and

$$(\mathfrak{a}_j)^{\ell}(\mathfrak{a}_k^*)^q \psi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2m}} \left(\frac{u_j + ip_j}{\sqrt{2}}\right)^{\ell} \left(\frac{u_k - ip_k}{\sqrt{2}}\right)^q \Pi_{u,p} \psi \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p.$$
(2.12)

We recall that (see (2.2))

$$\mathcal{L}_h = \left(D_\tau + A_2(x_0 + h^{1/2}\sigma, \tau)\right)^2 + \left(\xi_0 + h^{1/2}D_\sigma + A_1(x_0 + h^{1/2}\sigma, \tau)\right)^2$$

and, since  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are polynomials, we get an expansion in the form

$$\mathcal{L}_h = \mathcal{L}_0 + h^{1/2} \mathcal{L}_1 + h \mathcal{L}_2 + \ldots + h^{M/2} \mathcal{L}_M.$$

Let us now replace  $\sigma_j$  and  $\partial_{\sigma_j}$  by their expressions in terms of  $\mathfrak{a}_j$  and  $\mathfrak{a}_j^*$  (see (2.10)). Then, we write the anti-Wick ordered operator. In other words, we commute  $\mathfrak{a}$  and  $\mathfrak{a}^*$  to put all the  $\mathfrak{a}$  on the left (in order to apply Formula (2.12)) and we deduce

$$\mathcal{L}_h = \underbrace{\mathcal{L}_0 + h^{1/2} \mathcal{L}_1 + h \mathcal{L}_2^{\mathsf{W}} + \ldots + (h^{1/2})^M \mathcal{L}_M^{\mathsf{W}}}_{\mathcal{L}_h^{\mathsf{W}}} + \underbrace{h \mathcal{R}_2 + \ldots + (h^{1/2})^M \mathcal{R}_M}_{\mathcal{R}_h}, \qquad (2.13)$$

where the  $R_d$  are the remainders in the anti-Wick ordering and satisfy, for  $d \ge 2$ ,

$$h^{d/2}R_d = h^{d/2}\mathcal{O}_{d-2}(\sigma, D_{\sigma}),$$
 (2.14)

where the notation  $\mathcal{O}_d(\sigma, D_{\sigma})$  stands for a polynomial operator with total degree in  $(\sigma, D_{\sigma})$  less than d. We recall that

$$\mathcal{L}_h^{\mathsf{W}} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2m}} \mathcal{M}_{x_0 + h^{1/2}u, \xi_0 + h^{1/2}p} \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p.$$

**Proposition 2.10** There exist  $h_0, C > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$  and all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h}(\psi) \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2m}} Q_{h,u,p}(\psi_{u,p}) \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p - Ch \|\psi\|^{2} \ge (\mu_{0} - Ch) \|\psi\|^{2}, \qquad (2.15)$$

where  $Q_{h,u,p}$  is the quadratic form associated with the operator  $\mathcal{M}_{x_0+h^{1/2}u,\xi_0+h^{1/2}p}$ .

**Proof:** We use (2.13). Then the terms of  $\mathcal{R}_h$  (see (2.14)) are in the form  $hh^{d/2}\sigma^l D^q_{\sigma}\tau^{\alpha}D^{\beta}_{\tau}$  with  $l + q \leq d$  and  $\beta = 0, 1$ . With Corollary 2.7 and the rescaling (2.1), we have

$$\|h^{d/2}\sigma^l D^q_{\sigma}\tau^{\alpha} D^{\beta}_{\tau}\psi\| \le C\|\psi\|$$

and the conclusion follows.

## 2.3.2 Localization in the phase space

This section is devoted to elliptic regularity properties (both in space and frequency) satisfied by the eigenfunctions. We will use the following generalization of the "IMS" formula the proof of which can be found in [48].

**Lemma 2.11 ("Localization" of**  $P^2$  with respect to  $\mathfrak{A}$ ) Let  $\mathsf{H}$  be a Hilbert space and P and  $\mathfrak{A}$  be two unbounded operators defined on a domain  $\mathsf{D} \subset \mathsf{H}$ . We assume that P is symmetric and that  $P(\mathsf{D}) \subset \mathsf{D}$ ,  $\mathfrak{A}(\mathsf{D}) \subset \mathsf{D}$ ,  $\mathfrak{A}^*(\mathsf{D}) \subset \mathsf{D}$ . Then, for  $\psi \in \mathsf{D}$ , we have

$$\operatorname{Re} \langle P^{2}\psi, \mathfrak{A}\mathfrak{A}^{*}\psi \rangle = \|P(\mathfrak{A}^{*}\psi)\|^{2} - \|[\mathfrak{A}^{*}, P]\psi\|^{2} + \operatorname{Re} \langle P\psi, [[P, \mathfrak{A}], \mathfrak{A}^{*}]\psi \rangle + \operatorname{Re} \left( \langle P\psi, \mathfrak{A}^{*}[P, \mathfrak{A}]\psi \rangle - \overline{\langle P\psi, \mathfrak{A}[P, \mathfrak{A}^{*}]\psi \rangle} \right). \quad (2.16)$$

The following lemma is a straightforward consequence of Assumption 1.2.

**Lemma 2.12** Under Assumption 1.2, there exist  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  and c > 0 such that

$$\mu(x_0 + x, \xi_0 + \xi) - \mu(x_0, \xi_0) \ge c(|x|^2 + |\xi|^2), \qquad \forall (x, \xi) \in \mathcal{B}(\varepsilon_0),$$

and

$$\mu(x_0 + x, \xi_0 + \xi) - \mu(x_0, \xi_0) \ge c, \qquad \forall (x, \xi) \in \mathsf{L}\mathcal{B}(\varepsilon_0),$$

where  $\mathcal{B}(\varepsilon_0) = \{(x,\xi) : |x| + |\xi| \le \varepsilon_0\}$  and  $\mathcal{CB}(\varepsilon_0)$  is its complement.

**Notation 2.13** In what follows we will denote by  $\tilde{\eta} > 0$  all the quantities which are multiples of  $\eta > 0$ , *i.e.* in the form  $j\eta$  for  $j \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$ . We recall that  $\eta > 0$  can be chosen arbitrarily small.

**Proposition 2.14** There exist  $h_0, C, \varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have

$$\|\sigma\psi\|^2 + \|\nabla_{\sigma}\psi\|^2 \le C\|\psi\|^2.$$

**Proof:** We recall that (2.15) holds. We have

$$Q_h(\psi) = \lambda \|\psi\|^2 \le (\mu_0 + C_0 h) \|\psi\|^2.$$

We deduce that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2m}} Q_{h,u,p}(\psi_{u,p}) - \mu_0 |\psi_{u,p}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p \le Ch \|\psi\|^2$$

and thus by the min-max principle

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2m}} \left( \mu(x_0 + h^{1/2}u, \xi_0 + h^{1/2}p) - \mu_0 \right) |\psi_{u,p}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}p \le Ch \|\psi\|^2$$

Let  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  be given in Lemma 2.12. We split the integral into two parts and find

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}(h^{-1/2}\varepsilon_0)} (|u|^2 + |p|^2) |\psi_{u,p}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p \leq C \|\psi\|^2,$$
(2.17)

$$\int_{\mathcal{CB}(h^{-1/2}\varepsilon_0)} |\psi_{u,p}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p \leq Ch \|\psi\|^2.$$
(2.18)

The first inequality is not enough to get the conclusion. We also need a control of momenta in the region  $\mathcal{CB}(h^{-1/2}\varepsilon_0)$ . For that purpose, we write:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h}(\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2m}} Q_{h,u,p}\left(\frac{u_{j}-ip_{j}}{\sqrt{2}}\psi_{u,p}\right) \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p + \langle \mathcal{R}_{h}\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\psi,\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\psi \rangle.$$
(2.19)

Up to lower order terms we must estimate terms in the form:

$$h\langle h^{d/2}\sigma^l D^q_\sigma au^lpha D^eta_\tau \mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi, \mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi 
angle,$$

with l + q = d,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\beta = 0, 1$ . By using the *a priori* estimates of Propositions 2.8 and 2.9, we have

$$\|h^{d/2}\sigma^l D^q_{\sigma}\tau^{\alpha} D^{\beta}_{\tau}\mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi\| \le Ch^{-\tilde{\eta}}\|\mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi\|.$$

The remainder is controlled by

$$|\langle \mathcal{R}_h \mathfrak{a}_j^* \psi, \mathfrak{a}_j^* \psi \rangle| \le C h^{1-\tilde{\eta}} (\|D_\sigma \psi\|^2 + \|\sigma \psi\|^2).$$

Then we analyze  $\mathcal{Q}_h(\mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi)$  by using Lemma 2.11 with  $\mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{a}_j$ . We need to estimate the different remainder terms. We notice that

$$\begin{split} \|[\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}, P_{k,r,h}]\psi\| &\leq Ch^{1/2} \|\psi\|, \\ |\langle P_{k,r,h}\psi, \mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}[P_{k,r,h}, \mathfrak{a}_{j}]\psi\rangle| &\leq \|P_{k,r,h}\psi\| \|\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}[P_{k,r,h}, \mathfrak{a}_{j}]\psi\|, \\ |\langle P_{k,r,h}\psi, \mathfrak{a}_{j}[P_{k,r,h}, \mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}]\psi\rangle| &\leq \|P_{k,r,h}\psi\| \|\mathfrak{a}_{j}[P_{k,r,h}, \mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}]\psi\|, \\ |\langle P_{k,r,h}\psi, [[P_{k,r,h}, \mathfrak{a}_{j}], \mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}]\psi\rangle| &\leq \|P_{k,r,h}\psi\| \|[[P_{k,r,h}, \mathfrak{a}_{j}], \mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}]\psi\|, \end{split}$$

where  $P_{1,r,h}$  denotes the magnetic momentum  $h^{1/2}D_{\sigma_r} + A_{1,r}(x_0 + h^{1/2}\sigma, \tau)$  and  $P_{2,r,h}$ denotes  $D_{\tau_r} + A_{2,r}(x_0 + h^{1/2}\sigma, \tau)$  and  $A_{k,r}$  is the r-th component of  $A_k$  (k = 1, 2). We have

$$\|P_{k,r,h}\psi\| \le C\|\psi\|$$

and

$$\|\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}[P_{k,r,h},\mathfrak{a}_{j}]\psi\| \leq Ch^{1/2}\|\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}Q(h^{1/2}\sigma,\tau)\psi\|$$

where Q is polynomial. The other terms are bounded in the same way. We apply the estimates of Propositions 2.8 and 2.9 to get

$$\|\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}Q(h^{1/2}\sigma,\tau)\psi\| \leq Ch^{-\tilde{\eta}}\|\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\psi\|.$$

We have

$$\mathcal{Q}_h(\mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi) = \lambda \|\mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi\|^2 + \mathcal{O}(h)\|\psi\|^2 + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{1}{2}-\tilde{\eta}})(\|\nabla_{\sigma}\psi\|^2 + \|\sigma\psi\|^2)$$

so that

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h}(\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\psi) \leq \mu_{0} \|\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\psi\|^{2} + Ch\|\psi\|^{2} + Ch^{\frac{1}{2}-\tilde{\eta}}(\|\nabla_{\sigma}\psi\|^{2} + \|\sigma\psi\|^{2}).$$

By using (2.19) and splitting again the integral into two parts, it follows

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}(h^{-1/2}\varepsilon_0)} (|u|^2 + |p|^2) |(u_j - ip_j)\psi_{u,p}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p \leq C \|\psi\|^2 + Ch^{-\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} (\|\nabla_{\sigma}\psi\|^2 + \|\sigma\psi\|^2),$$
$$\int_{\mathcal{CB}(h^{-1/2}\varepsilon_0)} |(u_j - ip_j)\psi_{u,p}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p \leq Ch \|\psi\|^2 + Ch^{\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} (\|\nabla_{\sigma}\psi\|^2 + \|\sigma\psi\|^2).$$

Choosing  $\tilde{\eta}$  small enough so that  $\tilde{\eta} < \frac{1}{2}$ , combining the last inequality with the first one of (2.17) and the Parseval formula we get the conclusion.

**Proposition 2.15** Let  $P \in \mathbb{C}_2[X_1, \ldots, X_{2m}]$ . There exist  $h_0, C, \varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have

$$||P(\sigma, D_{\sigma})\psi||^2 \le Ch^{-\frac{1}{2}-\tilde{\eta}}||\psi||^2.$$

**Proof:** From the proof of Proposition 2.14, we infer

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}(h^{-1/2}\varepsilon_0)} (|u|^2 + |p|^2) |(u_j - ip_j)\psi_{u,p}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p \leq Ch^{-\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} ||\psi||^2, \tag{2.20}$$

$$\int_{\mathcal{CB}(h^{-1/2}\varepsilon_0)} |(u_j - ip_j)\psi_{u,p}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p \leq Ch^{\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|^2.$$
(2.21)

Then we use Lemma 2.11 with  $\mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{a}_i \mathfrak{a}_i$ . The worst remainders in (2.16) are

$$\begin{aligned} \|[P_{k,r,h},\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}]\psi\|^{2} &\leq Ch\|\psi\|^{2},\\ |\langle P_{k,r,h}\psi,\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}[P_{k,r,h},\mathfrak{a}_{j}\mathfrak{a}_{j}]\psi\rangle| &\leq Ch^{\frac{1}{2}-\tilde{\eta}}\|\psi\|\|\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\psi\|.\end{aligned}$$

We infer

$$\mathcal{Q}_h(\mathfrak{a}_j^*\mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi) \le \mu_0 \|\mathfrak{a}_j^*\mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi\|^2 + Ch^{\frac{1}{2}-\tilde{\eta}}\|\psi\|^2 + Ch^{\frac{1}{2}-\tilde{\eta}}\|\mathfrak{a}_j^*\mathfrak{a}_j^*\psi\|^2.$$

We deduce

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}(h^{-1/2}\varepsilon_{0})} (|u|^{2} + |p|^{2}) |(u_{j} - ip_{j})^{2} \psi_{u,p}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}p \leq Ch^{-\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|^{2} + Ch^{-\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\psi\|^{2}, \\
\int_{\mathfrak{C}\mathcal{B}(h^{-1/2}\varepsilon_{0})} |(u_{j} - ip_{j})^{2} \psi_{u,p}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}p \leq Ch^{\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|^{2} + Ch^{\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\mathfrak{a}_{j}^{*}\psi\|^{2}.$$
(2.22)

Jointly with Proposition 2.14, estimates (2.20) and (2.22) imply that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2m}} (|u|^4 + |p|^4) |\psi_{u,p}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}p \le Ch^{-\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|^2.$$

The conclusion follows from the Parseval formula and Proposition 2.14.

# 2.4 Spectral gap

We introduce the projection

$$\Psi_0 = \Pi_0 \psi = \langle \psi, u_{x_0,\xi_0} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \, \mathrm{d}\tau)} u_{x_0,\xi_0}$$

and, inspired by (2.8) where  $f_0$  is replaced by  $\langle \psi, u_{x_0,\xi_0} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, d\tau)}$  and  $f_1$  by 0,

$$\Psi_{1} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} (\partial_{x_{j}} u)_{x_{0},\xi_{0}} \sigma_{j} \langle \psi, u_{x_{0},\xi_{0}} \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n},\,\mathrm{d}\tau)} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} (\partial_{\xi_{j}} u)_{x_{0},\xi_{0}} D_{\sigma_{j}} \langle \psi, u_{x_{0},\xi_{0}} \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n},\,\mathrm{d}\tau)}.$$
 (2.23)

This leads to define the corrected Feshbach projection

$$\Pi_h \psi = \Psi_0 + h^{1/2} \Psi_1 \tag{2.24}$$

and

$$R_h = \psi - \Pi_h \psi$$

Note that the functions  $\Psi_0$  and  $\Psi_1$  will be a priori h-dependent. By the L<sup>2</sup>-normalization of  $u_{x,\xi}$  (when  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ),  $\Psi_1$  and  $R_h$  are orthogonal (with respect to the  $\tau$ -variable) to  $u_0$  (and  $\Psi_0$ ). Let us recall that the  $\mathcal{L}_j$  were defined in (2.7). Furthermore, we have by construction and Proposition 2.2

$$(\mathcal{L}_0 - \mu_0)\Psi_1 = -\mathcal{L}_1\Psi_0 \tag{2.25}$$

and, by the Fredholm alternative,

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_0, \Psi_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathrm{d}\tau)} = 0.$$

# 2.4.1 Approximation results

We can prove a first approximation.

**Proposition 2.16** There exist  $h_0, C > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have

$$\|\psi - \Pi_0 \psi\| \le Ch^{\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|.$$

**Proof:** We can write

$$(\mathcal{L}_0 - \mu_0)\psi = (\lambda - \mu_0)\psi - h^{1/2}\mathcal{L}_1\psi - h\mathcal{L}_2\psi - \dots - h^{M/2}\mathcal{L}_M\psi.$$

By using the rough microlocalization given in Propositions 2.8 and 2.9 and Proposition 2.15, we infer that for  $d \ge 2$ 

$$h^{d/2} \| \tau^{\alpha} D^{\beta}_{\tau} \sigma^{l} D^{q}_{\sigma} \psi \| \le C h^{\frac{d}{2} - \frac{d-2}{2} - \frac{1}{4} - \tilde{\eta}} \| \psi \| = C h^{\frac{3}{4} - \tilde{\eta}} \| \psi \|, \qquad (2.26)$$

and thanks to Proposition 2.14

$$\|\mathcal{L}_1\psi\| \le Ch^{-\tilde{\eta}}\|\psi\|,$$

so that

$$\|(\mathcal{L}_0 - \mu_0)\psi\| \le Ch^{\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|,$$

and the conclusion follows.

**Corollary 2.17** There exist  $h_0, C > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have

$$\|\sigma(\psi - \Pi_0 \psi)\| \le Ch^{\frac{1}{4} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|, \qquad \|D_{\sigma}(\psi - \Pi_0 \psi)\| \le Ch^{\frac{1}{4} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|.$$

We can now estimate  $\psi - \Pi_h \psi$ .

**Proposition 2.18** There exist  $h_0, C > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  with  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have

$$||R_h\psi|| = ||\psi - \Pi_h\psi|| \le Ch^{\frac{3}{4}-\tilde{\eta}}||\psi||.$$

**Proof:** Let us write

$$\mathcal{L}_h \psi = \lambda \psi.$$

We have

$$(\mathcal{L}_0 + h^{1/2}\mathcal{L}_1)\psi = (\mu_0 + \mathcal{O}(h))\psi - h\mathcal{L}_2\psi - \dots - h^{M/2}\mathcal{L}_M\psi$$

Let us notice that, as in (2.26), we have, for  $d \ge 2$ ,

$$h^{d/2} \|\mathcal{L}_d \psi\| \le C h^{\frac{3}{4} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|.$$

We get

$$(\mathcal{L}_0 - \mu_0)R_h = -h^{1/2}\mathcal{L}_1(\psi - \Psi_0) + \mathcal{O}(h)\psi - h\mathcal{L}_2\psi - \dots - h^{M/2}\mathcal{L}_M\psi$$

It remains to apply Corollary 2.17 and obtain

$$h^{1/2} \|\mathcal{L}_1(\psi - \Psi_0)\| \le \tilde{C} h^{\frac{3}{4} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|$$

# 2.4.2 Proof of Theorem 1.10

Let us introduce a subspace of dimension  $P \ge 1$ . For  $j \in \{1, \ldots, P\}$  we can consider an  $L^2$ -normalized eigenfunction of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  denoted by  $\psi_{j,h}$  and so that the family  $(\psi_{j,h})_{j \in \{1,\ldots,P\}}$  is orthogonal. We let

$$\mathfrak{E}_P(h) = \operatorname{span}_{j \in \{1, \dots, P\}} \psi_{j,h}.$$

**Remark 2.19** We can extend the estimates of Propositions 2.14 and 2.15 as well as the approximations proved in Section 2.4.1 to  $\psi \in \mathfrak{E}_P(h)$ .

We can now prove the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.20** For all  $n \ge 1$ , there exists  $h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , we have

$$\lambda_n(h) \ge \mu_0 + \lambda_{n,1}h + o(h)$$

where we recall that  $\lambda_{n,1}$  is the n-th eigenvalue of  $\frac{1}{2}$  Hess  $\mu(x_0,\xi_0)(\sigma,D_{\sigma})$ .

**Proof:** Since we want to establish a lower bound for the eigenvalues, let us prove a lower bound for the quadratic form on  $\mathfrak{E}_P(h)$ , for  $P \ge 1$ . By definition of the  $\mathcal{L}_j$  in (2.7), we have, for  $\psi \in \mathfrak{E}_P(h)$ ,

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h}(\psi) = \langle \mathcal{L}_{0}\psi, \psi \rangle + h^{1/2} \langle \mathcal{L}_{1}\psi, \psi \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_{2}\psi, \psi \rangle + \ldots + h^{p/2} \langle \mathcal{L}_{p}\psi, \psi \rangle + \ldots + h^{M/2} \langle \mathcal{L}_{M}\psi, \psi \rangle.$$

Using Propositions 2.14, 2.15, 2.8 and 2.9, we have, for  $d \ge 3$ 

$$h^{d/2}\langle \mathcal{L}_d\psi,\psi\rangle| \le Ch^{\frac{d}{2}-\frac{d-3}{2}-\tilde{\eta}-\frac{1}{4}} \|\psi\|^2 = Ch^{\frac{5}{4}-\tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|^2.$$

We infer

$$\mathcal{Q}_h(\psi) \ge \langle \mathcal{L}_0 \psi, \psi \rangle + h^{1/2} \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \psi, \psi \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_2 \psi, \psi \rangle - C h^{\frac{5}{4} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|^2.$$

It remains to analyze the different terms. We have

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_0 \psi, \psi \rangle = \langle \mathcal{L}_0(\Psi_0 + h^{1/2}\Psi_1 + R_h), \Psi_0 + h^{1/2}\Psi_1 + R_h \rangle$$

The orthogonality (with respect to  $\tau$ ) cancels the terms  $\langle \mathcal{L}_0 \Psi_1, \Psi_0 \rangle$  and  $\langle R_h, \Psi_0 \rangle$ . Moreover, we have, with Propositions 2.8 and 2.9,

$$h^{1/2}|\langle \mathcal{L}_0 R_h, \Psi_1 \rangle| \le h^{1/2-\tilde{\eta}} \|R_h\| \|\Psi_1\|_{2}$$

and we use Proposition 2.14 to get

$$\|\Psi_1\| \le C \|\psi\|,$$

so that, with Proposition 2.18,

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_0 \psi, \psi \rangle = \mu_0 \|\Psi_0\|^2 + h \langle \mathcal{L}_0 \Psi_1, \Psi_1 \rangle + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{5}{4} - \tilde{\eta}}) \|\psi\|^2.$$

We have

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_1 \psi, \psi \rangle = \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_0, \Psi_0 \rangle + 2h^{1/2} \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_0, \Psi_1 \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_1, \Psi_1 \rangle + 2 \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \psi, R_h \rangle.$$

Then, a Feynman-Hellmann formula provides  $\langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_0, \Psi_0 \rangle = 0$ . Using again Propositions 2.8, 2.9, 2.14, 2.15 and 2.18, we notice that

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_1 \psi, \psi \rangle = 2h^{1/2} \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_0, \Psi_1 \rangle + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{3}{4} - \tilde{\eta}}) \|\psi\|^2.$$

We notice

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_2 \psi, \psi \rangle = \langle \mathcal{L}_2 \Psi_0, \Psi_0 \rangle + \langle \mathcal{L}_2 (\psi - \Psi_0), \psi \rangle + \langle \mathcal{L}_2 \psi, \psi - \Psi_0 \rangle$$

Writing  $\psi - \Psi_0 = h^{1/2} \Psi_1 + R_h$ , we have the estimate

$$|\langle \mathcal{L}_2(\psi - \Psi_0), \psi \rangle + \langle \mathcal{L}_2\psi, \psi - \Psi_0 \rangle| \le Ch^{-\frac{1}{4} - \tilde{\eta}} h^{\frac{1}{2} - \tilde{\eta}} ||\psi||^2.$$

We infer the lower bound

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h}(\psi) \geq \mu_{0} \|\Psi_{0}\|^{2} + h \langle \mathcal{L}_{0}\Psi_{1}, \Psi_{1} \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_{1}\Psi_{0}, \Psi_{1} \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_{1}\Psi_{1}, \Psi_{0} \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_{2}\Psi_{0}, \Psi_{0} \rangle - Ch^{\frac{5}{4}-\tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|^{2}.$$
  
Using (2.25), we get

$$h\langle \mathcal{L}_0 \Psi_1, \Psi_1 \rangle + h\langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_0, \Psi_1 \rangle = h\mu_0 \|\Psi_1\|^2,$$

so that, by orthogonality,

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h}(\psi) \geq \mu_{0} \|\Psi_{0} + h^{1/2} \Psi_{1}\|^{2} + h \langle \mathcal{L}_{1} \Psi_{1}, \Psi_{0} \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_{2} \Psi_{0}, \Psi_{0} \rangle - C h^{\frac{5}{4} - \tilde{\eta}} \|\psi\|^{2}.$$

Since  $\langle R_h, \Psi_0 \rangle = 0$  we deduce that

$$\|\Psi_0 + h^{1/2}\Psi_1\|^2 = \|\Psi_0 + h^{1/2}\Psi_1 + R_h\|^2 + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{5}{4} - \tilde{\eta}})\|\psi\|^2.$$

It follows that

$$\mathcal{Q}_h(\psi) - \mu_0 \|\psi\|^2 \ge h \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_1, \Psi_0 \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_2 \Psi_0, \Psi_0 \rangle + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{5}{4} - \tilde{\eta}}) \|\psi\|^2,$$

and, since  $\mathcal{Q}_h(\psi) \leq \lambda_P(h) ||\psi||^2$ , we have

$$(\lambda_P(h) - \mu_0) \|\psi\|^2 \ge h \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_1, \Psi_0 \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_2 \Psi_0, \Psi_0 \rangle + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{5}{4} - \tilde{\eta}}) \|\psi\|^2.$$

Thus we get

$$(\lambda_P(h) - \mu_0) \|\Psi_0\|^2 \ge h \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_1, \Psi_0 \rangle + h \langle \mathcal{L}_2 \Psi_0, \Psi_0 \rangle + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{5}{4} - \tilde{\eta}}) \|\psi\|^2.$$

We recall that (see (2.9) and below)

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{L}_1 \Psi_1, \Psi_0 \rangle + \langle \mathcal{L}_2 \Psi_0, \Psi_0 \rangle \\ &= \left\langle \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{Hess} \ \mu(x_0, \xi_0)(\sigma, D_{\sigma})(\langle \psi, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \, \mathrm{d}\tau)}), \langle \psi, u_0 \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \, \mathrm{d}\tau)} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \, \mathrm{d}\sigma)}. \end{split}$$

Finally we apply the min-max principle to the *P*-dimensional space  $\langle \mathfrak{E}_P(h), u_0 \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, d\tau)}$  to get the wished lower bound.

Theorem 1.10 is a consequence of Propositions 2.20 and 2.1.

# 3 Magnetic WKB constructions

# 3.1 Stable manifold and eikonal equation

In this section we study the construction of WKB solutions in the general case

$$\mathfrak{L}_h = (hD_s + A_1(s,t))^2 + (D_t + A_2(s,t))^2$$
 with  $D = -i\nabla$ .

As mentioned in the introduction, for  $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m$ , we are interested in the following electro-magnetic Laplacian acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, dt)$ , when looking at the partial semiclassical symbol of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  in variable s,

$$\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi} = (D_t + A_2(x,t))^2 + (\xi + A_1(x,t))^2.$$
(3.1)

Denoting by  $\mu(x,\xi)$  its lowest eigenvalue, we would like to replace (in spirit)  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  by the *m*-dimensional pseudo-differential operator  $\mu(x,hD_x)$ . In order to complete this program, the main assumption on the operator  $\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}$  in variable *t* concerns its lowest eigenvalue  $\mu$  and is stated in Assumption 1.2 in the introduction.

In order to build suitable quasimodes for  $\mathfrak{L}_h$ , it will be of great use to first study the following eikonal equation

$$\mu(x_0 + x, \xi_0 + i\nabla\Phi(x)) = \mu_0, \tag{3.2}$$

with unknown  $\Phi$ , where we recall that  $(x_0, \xi_0)$  is the point where the minimum  $\mu_0$  of  $\mu$ , is attained (as a real function of  $(x, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2m}$ ). Although certainly well-known (see e.g. [51]), in particular in the context of Sjöstrand's theory of FIO with complex phases, we recall in the next subsections this construction with elementary tools. In order to simplify the notation, we denote in the following

$$p(x,\xi) = \mu^{\natural}(x,\xi) - \mu_0$$
 with  $\mu^{\natural}(x,\xi) = \mu(x_0 + x,\xi_0 + \xi).$ 

With these notations, we deal with a real analytic symbol p defined at least in a neighborhood of (0,0) in the complex plane, and such that

$$p(0,0) = 0$$
,  $\nabla p(0,0) = 0$ , and  $\operatorname{Hess} p(0,0)$  is (real) positive definite.

The point  $\rho_0 = (0,0)$  is then a so-called doubly characteristic point for p, and the eikonal equation now reads

$$p(x, i\nabla\Phi(x)) = 0.$$

In the next subsection, we introduce our general framework.

#### 3.1.1 Framework

In order to stick to the standard theory (see e.g. [16]), we introduce

$$q(x,\xi) = -p(x,i\xi)$$

and the eikonal equation reads

$$q(x, \nabla \Phi(x)) = 0. \tag{3.3}$$

We focus from now on (3.3). In general, the symbol q is not necessarily real, so that we cannot expect to get a real phase  $\Phi$ . Anyway the classical construction in  $\mathbb{C}^{2m}$  of the phase remains true as we shall shortly recall below (both in quadratic and general cases). We can look at the Hamiltonian vector field  $H_q$ , in a small neighborhood of  $\rho_0 = (0,0)$ ,

$$H_q(x,\xi) = \frac{\partial q}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) \cdot \nabla_x - \frac{\partial q}{\partial x}(x,\xi) \cdot \nabla_\xi$$

and its linearization  $F_q$ , at  $\rho_0$ , called the fundamental matrix, is

$$F_q = J \operatorname{Hess} q(\rho_0) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial^2 q}{\partial x \partial \xi}(\rho_0) & \frac{\partial^2 q}{\partial \xi^2}(\rho_0) \\ -\frac{\partial^2 q}{\partial x^2}(\rho_0) & -\frac{\partial^2 q}{\partial x \partial \xi}(\rho_0) \end{pmatrix}, \quad J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ -I & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since p is real, the Hessian of p is real, and of the form

$$M_p = \operatorname{Hess} \ p(\rho_0) = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ B & C \end{pmatrix},$$

with A, B and C real symmetric matrices. If  $M_q$  denotes the Hessian of q, we therefore get that

$$M_q = \begin{pmatrix} -A & -iB \\ -iB & C \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since  $\rho_0$  is a non degenerate minimum of p, the Hessian of p at  $\rho_0$  is positive definite. We directly check that  $F_q = JM_q$  and we have

$$F_q = \begin{pmatrix} -iB & C \\ A & iB \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now using that  $F_p = JM_p$ , we also have

$$F_p = F_0 = \begin{pmatrix} B & C \\ -A & -B \end{pmatrix},$$

so that

$$F_q = -i \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & -iI \end{pmatrix} F_p \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & iI \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.4)

We now deal with the eikonal equation in the quadratic case.

# 3.1.2 The quadratic case

In this subsection we recall basic facts from [51] about the quadratic case and also about symplectic geometry. Recall that  $T^*\mathbb{R}^m$  is endowed with the canonical symplectic 2-form which can be written as  $\omega = \sum_j d\xi_j \wedge dx_j$  in coordinates, and that this form naturally extends to a symplectic 2-form in  $T^*\mathbb{C}^m$  with the same expression

$$\omega((x,\xi),(y,\eta)) = \xi \cdot y - x \cdot \eta, \qquad (x,\xi), (y,\eta) \in T^* \mathbb{C}^m, \tag{3.5}$$

where we denote  $x \cdot y = \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_j y_j$ . Note that

$$\frac{1}{i}\omega(X,\overline{X}) = \frac{1}{i}(\xi \cdot \overline{x} - x \cdot \overline{\xi}) = 2\mathrm{Im}\left(\xi \cdot \overline{x}\right) \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(3.6)

We recall that an endomorphism  $\kappa^0$  of  $T^*\mathbb{R}^m$  is said to be symplectic if  $\omega(\kappa^0, \kappa^0) = \omega(., .)$ . In coordinates,  $\omega$  is represented by the matrix J so that  $\omega(X, Y) = {}^tYJX$ . Let  $X = (x, \xi) \in T^*\mathbb{C}^m$  and consider a quadratic form  $p_0$  associated with the bilinear form  $b_0$ ,

$$X \mapsto b_0(X, X) = p_0(X)$$
 on  $T^* \mathbb{C}^m$ ,

which is real positive definite when restricted to  $T^*\mathbb{R}^m$ . Note that this implies that

$$b_0(X,\overline{X}) > 0, \qquad \forall X \in T^* \mathbb{C}^m \setminus \{0\}$$

We first recall that the fundamental matrix  $F_0$  of  $p_0$  may be defined through the symplectic form via the following formula

$$2b_0(X,Y) = \omega(X,F_0Y), \qquad \forall X,Y \in T^* \mathbb{C}^m.$$

Let us recall some properties of  $F_0$  (see [16, 37]). Let M be the matrix of the quadratic form  $p_0$ . We have  $F_0 = JM$ . Since M is positive, we may consider  $M^{1/2}$  and  $M^{1/2}F_0M^{-1/2} = M^{1/2}JM^{1/2}$  is a real antisymmetric matrix. Its eigenvalues are purely imaginary and conjugate (the matrices are real). We denote them by  $\pm i\vartheta_j$  with  $\vartheta_j > 0$ . Following [30, 16], we introduce

$$\Lambda^0_+ = \bigoplus_j E_{i\vartheta_j}, \qquad \Lambda^0_- = \bigoplus_j E_{-i\vartheta_j},$$

and note that  $\Lambda^0_+$  and  $\Lambda^0_-$  are Lagrangian vector spaces of  $T^*\mathbb{C}^m$  (we recall that both families  $(E_{i\vartheta_j})_j$ ,  $(E_{-i\vartheta_j})_j$  are  $\omega$ -orthogonal).

The next step is to show a transversality property.

**Lemma 3.1** We have  $\Lambda^0_+ \cap T^* \mathbb{R}^m = \{0\}.$ 

**Proof:** Let us take  $X \in \Lambda^0_+ \cap T^* \mathbb{R}^m$ . Then by stability of  $\Lambda^0_+$ , we also have  $F_0 X \in \Lambda^0_+$  and we get

$$2b_0(X,X) = \omega(X,F_0X) = 0,$$

since  $\Lambda^0_+$  is Lagrangian. In addition we know that  $p_0$  is positive definite, and this implies X = 0.

We now show that

**Lemma 3.2** For all  $X \in \Lambda^0_+ \setminus \{0\}$ , we have  $\frac{1}{i}\omega(X,\overline{X}) > 0$ .

**Proof:** This is done by a perturbation argument. For  $X = (x, \xi) \in T^* \mathbb{C}^m$ , we denote  $p_1(X) = x^2 + \xi^2$  the harmonic oscillator, and we introduce

$$p_t = (1-t)p_0 + tp_1, \quad \forall t \in [0,1],$$

and we denote by  $F_t$  the fundamental matrix of  $p_t$ . The eigenvalues of  $F_1 = J$  are  $\pm i$  and the Lagrangian subspaces are given by

$$\Lambda^{1}_{+} = \{\xi = ix\}, \qquad \Lambda^{1}_{-} = \{\xi = -ix\}.$$

In particular we have from (3.6) that for all  $X = (x, ix) \in \Lambda^1_+ \setminus \{0\}$ ,

$$\frac{1}{i}\omega(X,\overline{X}) = \frac{1}{i}\omega((x,ix),\overline{(x,ix)}) = 2\mathrm{Im}\left(ix\cdot\overline{x}\right) = 2|x|^2 > 0.$$
(3.7)

Now we can consider

$$\Lambda^t_+ = \bigoplus_j E_{i\vartheta^t_j}$$

where  $i\vartheta_i^t$  are the eigenvalues of  $F_t$ .

For  $\dot{R} > 0$ , let  $\gamma_R$  be the contour made of a segment [-R, R] and the semi-circle  $\mathcal{C}(0, R) \cap \{\operatorname{Im} z > 0\}$ . Since  $\vartheta_j^t > 0$  for all  $t \in [0, 1]$  and  $j \geq 1$ , the open semi-disk surrounded by  $\gamma_R$  contains all eigenvalues  $i\vartheta_j^t$  as soon as R is sufficiently large. We get

$$\Lambda_{+}^{t} = \mathsf{range}\frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\gamma_{R}} (z - F_{t})^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}z$$

so that the application  $t \mapsto \Lambda^t_+$  is a continuous family of subspaces.

Now we want to show that

$$\frac{1}{i}\omega(X,\overline{X}) > 0, \qquad \forall X \in \Lambda^t_+ \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall t \in [0,1].$$
(3.8)

This is already known for t = 1 by (3.7). Let us prove (3.8) by contradiction. Let us consider the largest  $t_0 \in [0, 1]$  so that there exists  $X_0 \in \Lambda_+^{t_0} \setminus \{0\}$  with

$$\frac{1}{i}\omega(X_0,\overline{X_0}) = 0.$$

By definition of  $t_0$  and continuity this implies that  $(X, Y) \longrightarrow \frac{1}{i}\omega(X, \overline{Y})$  is a non negative Hermitian form on  $\Lambda^{t_0}_+$ . By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we get

$$\left|\frac{1}{i}\omega(X,\overline{Y})\right|^2 \leq \frac{1}{i}\omega(X,\overline{X})\frac{1}{i}\omega(Y,\overline{Y}), \qquad \forall X,Y \in \Lambda_+^{t_0}.$$

Applying this to  $Y = X_0$ , we have

$$\omega(X, \overline{X_0}) = 0, \quad \forall X \in \Lambda_+^{t_0},$$

which implies  $\overline{X_0} \in (\Lambda_+^{t_0})^{\perp_{\omega}} = \Lambda_+^{t_0}$ , since  $\Lambda_+^{t_0}$  is Lagrangian. As a consequence we get that

$$\operatorname{Re} X_0 = \frac{1}{2} (X_0 + \overline{X_0}) \in \Lambda_+^{t_0} \cap T^* \mathbb{R}^m, \qquad \operatorname{Im} X_0 = \frac{1}{2i} (X_0 - \overline{X_0}) \in \Lambda_+^{t_0} \cap T^* \mathbb{R}^m.$$

From Lemma 3.1, we get that  $X_0 = 0$ , which gives a contradiction and proves (3.8). Taking t = 0 in (3.8) gives the lemma.

Let us now prove that  $\Lambda^0_+$  is a graph. For this we establish first a transversality lemma.

Lemma 3.3  $\Lambda^0_+ \cap \{x = 0\} = \{0\}.$ 

**Proof:** Let us consider  $(0,\xi_0) \in \Lambda^0_+$ . Applying (3.6) gives  $\frac{1}{i}\omega((0,\xi_0),(0,\overline{\xi_0})) = 0$ . Using Lemma 3.2 with  $X = (0,\xi_0)$ , we get  $\xi_0 = 0$ .

Then we describe a parametrization of the graph.

**Lemma 3.4** There exists a unique matrix  $L \in M_m(\mathbb{C})$  such that  $\Lambda^0_+ = \{(x, Lx), x \in \mathbb{C}^m\}$ and it satisfies  ${}^tL = L$  and  $\operatorname{Im} L > 0$ .

**Proof:** By Lemma 3.3, we know that there exists a matrix L such that  $\Lambda^0_+ = \{(x, Lx) : x \in \mathbb{C}^m\}$ . We have to check that L satisfies the required properties. Since  $\Lambda^0_+$  is Lagrangian, we have, with (3.5),

$$0 = \omega((x, Lx), (y, Ly)) = Lx \cdot y - Ly \cdot x = x({}^{t}L - L)y, \qquad \forall x, y \in \mathbb{C}^{m}.$$

This implies  ${}^{t}L = L$ . From (3.6), we also have for all  $x \in \mathbb{C}^{m} \setminus \{0\}$ ,

$$0 < \frac{1}{i}\omega((x,Lx),(\overline{x},\overline{Lx})) = \frac{1}{i}\left(Lx\cdot\overline{x}-\overline{L}\overline{x}\cdot x\right) = \frac{1}{i}(L-{}^{t}\overline{L})x\cdot\overline{x} = 2\mathrm{Im}\,Lx\cdot\overline{x}.$$
 (3.9)

This implies Im L > 0 which is the desired result.

We can now solve the so-called eikonal equation in the quadratic case.

**Proposition 3.5** Let L given by Lemma 3.4 and define  $\Phi_0(x) = \frac{1}{2i}Lx \cdot x$ . Then  $\Phi_0$  is a quadratic homogeneous polynomial with Re Hess  $\Phi_0 > 0$  and such that

$$\Lambda^0_+ = \left\{ \xi = i \nabla \Phi_0(x) \right\}, \qquad \Lambda^0_- = \left\{ \xi = -i \overline{\nabla \Phi_0(\overline{x})} \right\}.$$

Furthermore this function satisfies the eikonal equations

$$p_0(x, i\nabla\Phi_0(x)) = 0, \qquad p_0(x, -i\overline{\nabla\Phi_0(\overline{x})}) = 0, \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^m$$

**Proof:** Since  ${}^{t}L = L$ , we have  $\nabla \Phi_0(x) = \frac{1}{i}Lx$  and Re Hess  $\Phi_0 = \operatorname{Im} L > 0$ . For the eikonal equation, we check that for  $X = (x, Lx) \in \Lambda^0_+$ ,

$$p_0(x, i\nabla \Phi_0(x)) = b_0(X, X) = \omega(X, F_0X) = 0,$$

since X and  $F_0 X \in \Lambda^0_+$ , and  $\Lambda^0_+$  is Lagrangian. We can deal similarly with  $\Lambda^0_-$ . This concludes the proof.

Let us now explain the relation with the transport equation. We will later need some information about the transport operator

$$\mathscr{T}_0(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \nabla_{\xi} q(x, \nabla \Phi_0(x)) \cdot \nabla_x + \nabla_x \cdot \nabla_{\xi} q(x, \nabla \Phi_0(x)) \right)$$

We let

$$\mathsf{v}_0(x) = \frac{1}{2i} \nabla_x \cdot \nabla_\xi q(x, i \nabla \Phi_0(x)) = \frac{1}{2} \nabla_x \cdot \nabla_\xi q(x, \nabla \Phi_0(x)).$$

Then the transport  $\mathscr{T}_0$  is exactly the projection on  $T\mathbb{R}^m_x$  of the Hamiltonian vector field of  $q(x,\xi)$  at the point  $(x, \nabla \Phi_0(x)) \in \Lambda^0_+$ ,

$$\mathscr{T}_0(x) = \pi_x(H_q(x, \nabla \Phi_0(x))) + \mathsf{v}_0(x),$$

which reads in suitable coordinates

$$\mathscr{T}_0(x) = \sum_{j=1}^m \vartheta_j y_j \nabla_{y_j} + \mathsf{v}_0(\kappa^{-1}(y)),$$

where  $(y, \eta) = (\kappa(x), {}^t d\kappa(x)^{-1}\xi)$  is the corresponding symplectic change of variable (the existence of  $\kappa$  is justified by the transversality of  $\Lambda^0_+$  with  $\{x = 0\}$  stated in Lemma 3.8).

**Remark 3.6** We recall that the spectrum of the operator  $\mathscr{T}_0$  acting on  $L^2(e^{-\Phi/h} dx)$  is nothing but the one of  $\mathsf{Op}_h^w(p)$ .

# 3.1.3 General case

Let us now deal with the general case. By Proposition 3.5, we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.7** The matrix  $F_q$  is antisymmetric with respect to  $\omega$ . The eigenvalues of  $F_q$  are of the form  $(-\vartheta_j, +\vartheta_j)$ ,  $j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ , where the  $\vartheta_j > 0$  are counted with multiplicity. In addition, for  $q_0$  the quadratic approximation of q at 0, we have

$$q_0(x, \nabla \Phi_0(x)) = 0,$$

where  $\Phi_0$  is defined in Proposition 3.5 with the  $p_0$  associated with  $q_0$ .

Here we recall that  $\Lambda^0_+ = \{(x, Lx) : x \in \mathbb{C}^m\}$  is the Lagrangian subspace associated with the eigenvalues  $i\vartheta_j$  of  $F_p(\vartheta_j > 0)$ . The transformation

$$U: (x,\xi) \mapsto (x,-i\xi)$$

and (3.4) give directly that  $\Lambda^{0,q}_+ = U\Lambda^0_+ = \{(x, -iLx) : x \in \mathbb{C}^m\}$  is also a Lagrangian subspace associated to eigenvalues of positive real part  $\{\vartheta_j, 1 \leq j \leq m\}$ . We have another interpretation of the set  $\Lambda^{0,q}_+$ : For this we study the linearized flow at  $\rho_0$  given by

$$Z'(t) = F_q(Z) \cdot \nabla Z.$$

This is clear that  $\Lambda^{0,q}_+$  and  $\Lambda^{0,q}_-$  are respectively the unstable and stable manifolds associated with the vector field  $F_q(Z) \cdot \nabla$ . By this we mean that

$$\forall Z_0 \in \Lambda^{0,q}_{\mp}, \qquad \lim_{t \to \pm \infty} Z(t) = \rho_0. \tag{3.10}$$

As already noted, these two spaces  $\Lambda^{0,q}_{\pm}$  are Lagrangian. Now we show that the stable and unstable manifolds  $\Lambda^q_{\pm}$  associated with the vector field  $H_q$  are also Lagrangian. Knowing the spectrum of the linearization of  $H_q$ , we just have to apply the (complex) stable manifold theorem and we directly get that there exists one unstable holomorphic manifold  $\Lambda^q_+$  and one stable holomorphic manifold  $\Lambda^q_-$ , for which we have

$$T_{\rho_0} \Lambda^q_{\pm} = \Lambda^{0,q}_{\pm}. \tag{3.11}$$

Since  $\Lambda^{0,q}_+$  are *m* dimensional, so are  $\Lambda^q_+$ . Our next result is the following

**Lemma 3.8** The manifolds  $\Lambda^q_+$  are transverse to  $\{x = 0\}$  and  $\{\xi = 0\}$ .

**Proof:** The first result is a direct consequence of Lemma 3.3 for  $p_0$  and (3.11).

Now we can solve the eikonal equation, near  $q_0$ , in the general case.

**Proposition 3.9** There exists a holomorphic function  $\Phi$  such that

$$\Lambda^q_+ = \{\xi = \nabla \Phi(x)\}$$

In addition  $\Phi$  solves (locally) the eikonal equation  $q(x, \nabla \Phi(x)) = 0$  and  $\Lambda^q_- = \left\{ \xi = -\overline{\nabla \Phi(\overline{x})} \right\}$ , and Re Hess  $\Phi(\rho_0)$  is positive definite.

**Proof:** The existence of  $\Phi$  is a consequence of the fact that  $\Lambda^q_+ \cap \{x = 0\} = \{0\}$  and that  $\Lambda^q_+$  is Lagrangian. We first recall that at the linearization level (see Proposition 3.5), we have

$$\Lambda^{0,q}_{+} = \big\{\xi = \nabla\Phi_0(x)\big\},\,$$

where  $\nabla \Phi_0(x) = -iLx$  is exactly the linear part of the expansion of  $\nabla \Phi(x)$  at  $\rho_0$  and Re Hess  $\Phi(\rho_0)$  is a real positive definite quadratic form.

Now for x in a neighborhood of  $\rho_0$  in  $\mathbb{C}^m$ , and looking at the characteristic X(t) of  $H_q$ starting at  $X_0 = (x, \nabla \Phi(x))$ , we get that

$$q(x,\nabla\Phi(x))=q(X_0)=\lim_{t\to-\infty}q(X(t))=q(\rho_0)=0,$$

where we have used that q is constant along the characteristics of  $H_q$ , (3.10) and the stable manifold theorem. The phase  $\Phi$  therefore solves the eikonal equation. For the description

of  $\Lambda_{-}^{q}$ , we first check that for all x in a neighbourhood of  $\rho_{0}$  in  $\mathbb{C}^{m}$ ,  $\overline{x}$  also belongs to a neighborhood of  $\rho_{0}$  and therefore  $q(\overline{x}, \nabla \Phi(\overline{x})) = 0$ . Taking the complex conjugate and using that p is real analytic we get

$$0 = \overline{q(\overline{x}, \nabla\Phi(\overline{x}))} = \overline{-p(\overline{x}, i\nabla\Phi(\overline{x}))} = -p(x, -i\overline{\nabla\Phi(\overline{x})}) = q(x, -\overline{\nabla\Phi(\overline{x})})$$
(3.12)

which gives that q is zero on  $\{\xi = -\overline{\nabla \Phi(\overline{x})}\}$ . This holomorphic manifold is of dimension m, is clearly Lagrangian and we only have to check that it coincides with  $\Lambda_{-}^{q}$ , with tangent space  $\Lambda_{-}^{0,q}$ . For this, it is sufficient to check that  $(x, -\overline{\nabla \Phi(\overline{x})}) \in \Lambda_{-}^{q}$ . If we look at the solution of  $X'(t) = H_q(X(t))$  with initial condition  $X_0 = (x, -\overline{\nabla \Phi(\overline{x})})$ , we get, by the stable manifold theorem, that  $\lim_{t\to+\infty} X(t) = \rho_0$ . From dimensional considerations, we get that  $\{\xi = -\overline{\nabla \Phi(\overline{x})}\} = \Lambda_{-}^{q}$ .

# 3.2 WKB expansions

We assume that  $A_2 = 0$  in (1.1) (note that this was not the case in the previous subsection). Before starting our magnetic WKB analysis we center the operator  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  at  $x_0$  and perform a change of gauge in order to center the phase at  $\xi_0$ . This means that we rather consider

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\natural} = D_{t}^{2} + (hD_{s} + A^{\natural})^{2}, \qquad A^{\natural}(s,t) = \xi_{0} + A_{1}(x_{0} + s,t).$$

In order to lighten the notation, we introduce

$$\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{\natural} = \mathcal{M}_{x+x_0,\xi+\xi_0}, \qquad u_{x,\xi}^{\natural} = u_{x+x_0,\xi+\xi_0}, \qquad \mu^{\natural}(x,\xi) = \mu(x+x_0,\xi+\xi_0).$$

We always have

$$\left(\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{\natural}\right)^{*} = \mathcal{M}_{x,\overline{\xi}}^{\natural}, \qquad \forall (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{m} \times \mathbb{C}^{m}$$

and the assumption  $A_2 = 0$  implies the fundamental property:

$$\overline{u_{x,\xi}^{\natural}} = u_{x,\overline{\xi}}^{\natural}, \qquad \forall (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{C}^m.$$
(3.13)

We conjugate  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\natural}$  via a weight function  $\Phi = \Phi(s)$  and define

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{L}_{\Phi}^{\natural} &= \mathrm{e}^{\Phi(s)/h} \, \mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\natural} \, \mathrm{e}^{-\Phi(s)/h} \\ &= D_{t}^{2} + (hD_{s} + i\nabla\Phi + A^{\natural})^{2} \\ &= \mathfrak{L}_{0}^{\natural} + h\mathfrak{L}_{1}^{\natural} + h^{2}\mathfrak{L}_{2}^{\natural}, \end{split}$$

with

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{L}_{0}^{\natural} &= D_{t}^{2} + (i\nabla\Phi + A^{\natural})^{2} = \mathcal{M}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural},\\ \mathfrak{L}_{1}^{\natural} &= D_{s} \cdot (i\nabla\Phi + A^{\natural}) + (i\nabla\Phi + A^{\natural}) \cdot D_{s} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( D_{s} \cdot (\nabla_{\xi}\mathcal{M}^{\natural})_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)} + (\nabla_{\xi}\mathcal{M}^{\natural})_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)} \cdot D_{s} \Big),\\ \mathfrak{L}_{2}^{\natural} &= D_{s}^{2} \Phi, \end{split}$$

where we have used

$$(\nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{M}^{\natural})_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)} = 2(i\nabla\Phi(s) + A^{\natural}).$$
(3.14)

We now look for a formal solution on the form

$$\lambda \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} \lambda_j h^j, \qquad a \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} a_j h^j$$

such that  $\mathfrak{L}_{\Phi}^{\natural} a = \lambda a$ . We cancel each power of h step by step.

# **3.2.1** Term in $h^0$ : Solving the operator valued eikonal equation

We have to find  $(\lambda_0, a_0)$  such that

$$\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} a_0 = \lambda_0 a_0.$$

According to Theorem 1.10, we must choose

$$\lambda_0 = \mu_0$$

Thus we have to find  $a_0$  such that

$$\mathfrak{L}_0^{\mathfrak{q}} a_0 = \mu_0 a_0, \tag{3.15}$$

that is to say

$$\mathcal{M}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural}a_0 = \mu_0 a_0.$$

To solve (3.15), we choose  $a_0$  in the form

$$a_0(s,t) = u_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural}(t)b_0(s), \qquad (3.16)$$

where  $b_0$  has to be determined and  $\Phi$  is the solution constructed in Section 3.1 of the following eikonal equation

$$\mu^{\mathfrak{q}}(s, i\nabla_s \Phi) = \mu_0.$$

# **3.2.2** Term in $h^1$

Collecting the terms in  $h^1$ , we obtain the first transport equation

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)a_1 = -(\mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural} - \lambda_1)a_0$$

Pointwise in s, the Fredholm compatibility condition can be written as

$$(\lambda_1 - \mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural})a_0 \in (\operatorname{Ker}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)^*)^{\perp} = (\operatorname{Ker}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural^*} - \mu_0))^{\perp}.$$
(3.17)

**Lemma 3.10** The condition (3.17) is equivalent to

$$\mathscr{T}b_0 = \lambda_1 b_0,$$

where

$$\mathscr{T} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural} \cdot D_s + D_s \cdot \nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural} \right).$$

**Proof:** From Assumption 1.2, we have  $\operatorname{Ker}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural^*} - \mu_0) = \operatorname{span}(u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural})$ , so that, with (3.16), the compatibility condition is equivalent to

$$\lambda_1 \left\langle u_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural} b_0(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^m,\,\mathrm{d}t)} = \left\langle \mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural} u_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural} b_0(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^m,\,\mathrm{d}t)}, \, \forall s \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

By (1.5), we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural}(t) \overline{u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural}(t)} dt = 1, \qquad \forall s \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$
(3.18)

Let us rewrite the first term:

$$\lambda_1 \left\langle u_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural} b_0(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^m,\,\mathrm{d}t)} = \lambda_1 b_0(s). \tag{3.19}$$

Let us deal with the second term. Differentiating the relation  $\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{\natural} u_{x,\xi}^{\natural} = \mu^{\natural}(x,\xi) u_{x,\xi}^{\natural}$  with respect to (the complex variable)  $\xi$  leads to (see Proposition 2.2)

$$\left(\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{\natural} - \mu^{\natural}(x,\xi)\right) \nabla_{\xi} u_{x,\xi}^{\natural} = \left(\nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural}(x,\xi) - \nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{\natural}\right) u_{x,\xi}^{\natural}.$$
(3.20)

The Fredholm condition associated with (3.20) can be written as

$$\langle (\nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{\natural} - \nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural}(x,\xi)) u_{x,\xi}^{\natural}, u_{x,\overline{\xi}}^{\natural} \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n},\,\mathrm{d}t)} = 0.$$

Consequently, taking  $\xi = i \nabla \Phi(s)$  and using (3.13), we get

$$\nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural}(s, i \nabla \Phi(s)) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{M}^{\natural})_{s, i \nabla \Phi(s)} \ u^{\natural}_{s, i \nabla \Phi(s)}(t) u^{\natural}_{s, i \nabla \Phi(s)}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t.$$
(3.21)

Multiplying by  $b_0$  and differentiating with respect to s, we infer

$$D_{s} \cdot (b_{0}(s)\nabla_{\xi}\mu^{\natural}(s,i\nabla\Phi(s))) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} D_{s} \cdot \left( (\nabla_{\xi}\mathcal{M}^{\natural})_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}b_{0}(s)u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t) \right) u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t) \, dt \\ + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (\nabla_{\xi}\mathcal{M}^{\natural})_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}b_{0}(s)u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t) \cdot D_{s}u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t) \, dt \\ = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} D_{s} \cdot \left( (\nabla_{\xi}\mathcal{M}^{\natural})_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}b_{0}(s)u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t) \right) u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t) \, dt \\ + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (\nabla_{\xi}\mathcal{M}^{\natural})_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t) \cdot D_{s}(b_{0}(s)u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t)) \, dt \\ - D_{s}b_{0}(s) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (\nabla_{\xi}\mathcal{M}^{\natural})_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t)u^{\natural}_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}(t) \, dt,$$

where we have used  $b_0 D_s u = D_s(b_0 u) - u D_s b_0$ . We recognize the expression of  $\mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural}$  and using (3.21), this yields

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathfrak{L}_{1}^{\natural} u_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural} b_{0}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m},\,\mathrm{d}t)} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \Big( \nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural}(s,i\nabla\Phi(s)) \cdot D_{s} b_{0}(s) + D_{s} \cdot \Big( \nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural}(s,i\nabla\Phi(s)) b_{0}(s) \Big) \Big). \end{split}$$

Combining this last relation with (3.19), the compatibility condition gives the effective transport equation

$$\frac{1}{2} \left( \nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural} \cdot D_s + D_s \cdot \nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural} \right) b_0 = \lambda_1 b_0,$$

where  $\mu^{\natural}$  stands for  $\mu^{\natural}(s, i\nabla \Phi(s))$  for short.

# 3.2.3 Solving the effective transport equation

We recall now some notations from Section 3.1 in order to solve the standard transport equation given in Lemma 3.17. We let

$$q(s,\xi) = \mu_0 - \mu^{\natural}(s,i\xi)$$

so that with this notation

$$\mathscr{T}(s) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \nabla_{\xi} q(s, \nabla \Phi(s)) \cdot \nabla_s + \nabla_s \cdot \nabla_{\xi} q(s, \nabla \Phi(s)) \right).$$
(3.22)

We let

$$\mathbf{v}(s) = \frac{1}{2i} \nabla_s \cdot (\nabla_{\xi} \mu^{\natural}(s, i \nabla \Phi(x))) = \frac{1}{2} \nabla_s \cdot (\nabla_{\xi} q(s, \nabla \Phi(s))).$$

Then the transport  $\mathscr{T}$  is exactly the projection on  $T\mathbb{C}_s^m$  of the Hamiltonian of  $q(s,\xi)$  at the point  $(s, \nabla \Phi(s)) \in \Lambda^q_+$ ,

$$\mathscr{T}(s) = \pi_s(H_q(s, \nabla \Phi(s))) + \mathbf{v}(s),$$

which reads in suitable coordinates

$$\mathcal{T} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \vartheta_j y_j \nabla_{y_j} + \mathcal{O}(y^2) \nabla_{y_j} + \mathbf{v},$$

where  $(y, \eta) = (\kappa(s), {}^t d\kappa(s)^{-1}\xi)$  is the corresponding symplectic change of variable (the existence of  $\kappa$  is justified by the transversality of  $\Lambda^q_+$  with  $\{x = 0\}$  stated in Lemma 3.8).

Using again this change of coordinates, we also directly get that

$$\mathsf{v}(s) = \sum_{j} \frac{1}{2}\vartheta_j + \mathcal{O}(s).$$

We are reduced to the study of a standard transport equation (see e.g. [16]) and we can at least formally solve the equation  $\mathscr{T}b_0 = \lambda_1 b_0$  in the space of formal series first, provided that

$$\lambda_1 \in \Big\{ \sum_{j=1}^m (\frac{1}{2} + \alpha_j) \vartheta_j, \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^m \Big\}.$$

By Remark 3.6, these values are exactly the eigenvalues of  $\frac{1}{2}$ Hess  $\mu(x_0, \xi_0)(\sigma, D_{\sigma})$ , with in particular  $\frac{1}{2}\sum_j \vartheta_j$  for the smallest one and recall that they were supposed to be simple by Assumption 1.5. This is of course coherent with the statement of Theorem 1.10. Following again e.g. [16], we can also solve this first transport equation in  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  in a neighborhood of 0 and so determine  $b_0$ .

## **3.2.4** Determination of $a_1$

Let us now take  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^m$  fixed and let  $b_0$  be the corresponding solution of the transport equation. Let us come back to

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)a_1 = -(\mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural} - \lambda_1)a_0,$$

where  $a_0$  is given in (3.16). We look at a function  $a_1$  not necessary given in a tensor form, but with an orthogonal decomposition in the form

$$a_1(s,t) = u_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural}(t)b_1(s) + \tilde{a}_1(s,t), \qquad (3.23)$$

with

$$\tilde{a}_1 \in (\operatorname{Ker}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0))^{\perp}.$$

From the transport equation, we see that we can directly find

$$\tilde{a}_1 = -(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)^{-1}(\mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural} - \lambda_1)a_0,$$

where by operator  $(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)^{-1}$  we mean the inverse of the operator

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0) : \mathsf{Dom}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0) \cap (\mathrm{Ker}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0))^{\perp} \longrightarrow (\mathrm{Ker}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural^*} - \mu_0))^{\perp}$$

where  $\mathsf{Dom}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)$  is the domain in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, dt)$  of operator  $\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0$ , pointwise in s. Note that  $a_0(s, .)$  belongs to  $\mathsf{Dom}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)$  because of the properties of  $u^{\natural}$ , and that we indeed get that  $\tilde{a}_1$  is smooth by elliptic regularity.

To summarize, at this point, and whatever  $b_1$  is, we have been able to find a function

$$a^{[1]}(s,t) = a_0(s,t) + ha_1(s,t)$$

such that

$$(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\natural} - \mu_{0} - h\lambda_{1})a^{[1]}e^{-\Phi/h} = r^{[1]}e^{-\Phi/h}$$

Furthermore, there exist a neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}$  of  $0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$  and for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^m, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$ , a constant C > 0 such that

$$|\partial_s^{\alpha} \partial_t^{\beta} r^{[1]}(s,t)| \le Ch^2, \quad \forall s \in \mathcal{V}, \forall t \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

# 3.2.5 Full asymptotic expansion

The first step is to find the function  $b_1$  built in the previous section. For this we look at the next transport equation, which reads

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)a_2 = -(\mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural} - \lambda_1)a_1 - (\mathfrak{L}_2^{\natural} - \lambda_2)a_0.$$

We look at the compatibility Fredholm condition which gives, pointwise in s,

$$(\mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural} - \lambda_1)a_1 + (\mathfrak{L}_2^{\natural} - \lambda_2)a_0 \in (\mathrm{Ker}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)^*)^{\perp}.$$

This condition is equivalent to

$$\begin{split} &\left\langle (\mathfrak{L}_{1}^{\natural}-\lambda_{1})a_{1}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m},\mathrm{d}t)} \\ &= -\left\langle \mathfrak{L}_{2}^{\natural}a_{0}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m},\mathrm{d}t)} + \lambda_{2} \left\langle a_{0}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m},\mathrm{d}t)} \\ &= -\left\langle \mathfrak{L}_{2}^{\natural}a_{0}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m},\mathrm{d}t)} + \lambda_{2}b_{0}(s), \qquad \forall s \in \mathbb{R}^{m}, \end{split}$$

where we used (3.19). Using the splitting (3.23) and the expression for  $a_0$  in (3.16) we get that for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle (\mathfrak{L}_{1}^{\natural} - \lambda_{1}) u_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural} b_{1}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathrm{d}t)} \\ &= - \left\langle \mathfrak{L}_{2}^{\natural} a_{0}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathrm{d}t)} + \lambda_{2} \left\langle a_{0}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathrm{d}t)} \\ &+ \left\langle (\mathfrak{L}_{1}^{\natural} - \lambda_{1})\tilde{a}_{1}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathrm{d}t)} \\ &= - \left\langle \mathfrak{L}_{2}^{\natural} a_{0}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathrm{d}t)} + \lambda_{2} b_{0}(s) + \left\langle (\mathfrak{L}_{1}^{\natural} - \lambda_{1})\tilde{a}_{1}(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathrm{d}t)} \end{split}$$

Using the definition of the reduced transport introduced in (3.22), this equation reads

$$\mathscr{T}b_1 = \lambda_1 b_1 + \lambda_2 b_0 + R_1,$$

where  $\lambda_2$  has to be determined and  $R_1$  is already known and defined by

$$R_1(s) = -\left\langle \mathfrak{L}_2^{\natural} a_0(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^m,\,\mathrm{d}t)} + \left\langle (\mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural} - \lambda_1)\tilde{a}_1(s), u_{s,-i\nabla\overline{\Phi}(s)}^{\natural} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^m,\,\mathrm{d}t)}.$$

Using again the theory of formal series, this completely determines the value of  $\lambda_2$  as well as the Taylor expansion of  $b_1$ . Now, exactly as we did for  $b_0$  in the previous section, we can also solve in  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  the transport equation on  $b_1$ .

We can look for the next function  $a_2$  in the form

$$a_2(s,t) = u_{s,i\nabla\Phi(s)}^{\natural}(t)b_2(s) + \tilde{a}_2(s,t)$$
(3.24)

with

$$\tilde{a}_2 \in (\operatorname{Ker}(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0))^{\perp}.$$

From the transport equation, we see that we can directly find

$$\tilde{a}_2 = -(\mathfrak{L}_0^{\natural} - \mu_0)^{-1}(\mathfrak{L}_1^{\natural} - \lambda_1)a_1.$$

At this stage, whatever  $b_2$  is, we have found a function

$$a^{[2]}(s,t) = a_0(s,t) + ha_1(s,t) + h^2a_2(s,t)$$

such that

$$(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\natural} - \mu_{0} - h\lambda_{1} - h^{2}\lambda_{2})a^{[2]}\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h} = r^{[2]}\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h}$$

where, for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^m, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$ ,

$$|\partial_s^{\alpha} \partial_t^{\beta} r^{[2]}| = \mathcal{O}(h^3), \quad \text{locally in } s.$$

The same procedure can be continued at any order and we are able to find a full family of functions  $a_j$  and  $\lambda_j$  such that the formal series

$$a \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} a_j h^j \qquad \lambda \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} \lambda_j h^j,$$

solve the equation

$$(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\natural} - \lambda)a\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h} = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h}.$$

Then we consider a truncated (with respect to s)  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  realization of a and we apply the spectral theorem. Using Theorem 1.10, this completes the proof of Theorem 1.12.

# 4 Generalized Montgomery operators

We focus on the operator

$$\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]} = D_t^2 + \left(hD_s - \gamma(s)\frac{t^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^2$$

obtained in (1.8) after the rescaling described there. We denote by  $\lambda_n^{[k]}(h)$  its *n*-th eigenvalue if it exists.

#### Verifying assumptions 4.1

The aim of this section is to prove that the operator  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$  fulfills the assumptions mentioned in Section 1.2.

**Definition** 4.1 If  $k \ge 0$  is an integer, we let  $\Omega_k = \mathbb{R}$  for  $k \ge 1$  and  $\Omega_k = \mathbb{R}_+$  for k = 0. Let us introduce the generalized Montgomery operators  $\mathfrak{h}_{\zeta}^{[k]}$  as the self-adjoint realization, on  $L^2(\Omega_k, d\tau)$ , of

$$D_{\tau}^{2} + \left(\zeta - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^{2},$$
 (4.1)

with Neumann condition in the case k = 0. Let  $u_{\zeta}^{[k]}$  be an L<sup>2</sup>-normalized eigenfunction

depending analytically on  $\zeta$  and associated with the first eigenvalue  $\nu^{[k]}(\zeta)$ . For k = 0,  $\mathfrak{h}_{\zeta}^{[k]}$  is nothing but the de Gennes operator (see [14] or [20, Chapter 3]) and in this case we omit the superscript [0].

**Proposition 4.2** Let us assume that either  $\gamma$  is polynomial and admits a unique minimum  $\gamma_0 > 0$  at  $s_0 = 0$  which is non degenerate, or  $\gamma$  is analytic with  $\liminf_{x \to \pm \infty} \gamma = \gamma_{\infty} \in (\gamma_0, +\infty)$ . For  $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$ , the operator  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  satisfies Assumptions 1.2, 1.5 and 1.7.

This proposition is proved in the following two sections.

#### 4.1.1Uniqueness and non-degeneracy

The symbol of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  with respect to s is

$$\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{[k]} = D_t^2 + V(x,\xi), \quad \text{with } V(x,\xi) = \left(\xi - \gamma(x)\frac{t^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^2.$$

The family  $(\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}^{[k]})_{(x,\xi)\in\mathbb{R}^{2m}}$  is clearly analytic of type (A). Given a point  $(x_1,\xi_1)\in\mathbb{R}^{2m}$ , there exist c, C > 0 and a  $\mathbb{C}$ -neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}$  of  $(x_1,\xi_1)$  such that,

$$\operatorname{Re} V(x,\xi) \ge -C + cV(x_1,\xi_1) \ge -C, \qquad \forall (x,\xi) \in \mathcal{V}.$$

Therefore, for  $(x,\xi) \in \mathcal{V}$ , the operator  $\mathcal{M}_{x,\xi}$  is well defined thanks to the Lax-Milgram theorem. This extension is holomorphic of type (A). The lowest eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{M}_{x\,\varepsilon}^{[k]}$ denoted by  $\mu^{[k]}(x,\xi)$ , satisfies

$$\mu^{[k]}(x,\xi) = (\gamma(x))^{\frac{2}{k+2}}\nu^{[k]}\left((\gamma(x))^{-\frac{1}{k+2}}\xi\right).$$

It is proved in [21, Theorem 1.3] that  $\mathbb{R} \ni \zeta \mapsto \nu^{[k]}(\zeta)$  admits a unique and non degenerate minimum. Therefore Assumption 1.2 is satisfied. Note that Assumption 1.5 is satisfied since m = 1 according to Remark 1.6.

**Notation 4.3** We denote by  $\zeta_0^{[k]}$  the point  $\zeta$  where the minimum of  $\nu^{[k]}$  is reached.

#### 4.1.2Confinement

This verification is a little more delicate. It is based on a normal form procedure. Let us denote by  $\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}$  the quadratic form associated with  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$ . For  $\psi \in \mathsf{Dom}(\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]})$ , we have

$$\mathfrak{Q}_h^{[k]}(\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |D_t \psi|^2 + \left| \left( hD_s - \gamma(s) \frac{t^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \psi \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s$$

We would like to prove a lower bound for  $\mathfrak{Q}_h^{[k]}(\psi)$  when  $\psi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  is supported away from the square  $[-R_0, R_0]^2$ .

**Magnetic confinement for the variable** *t*. If  $\psi$  is supported in  $\{(s,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |t| > R\}$ , we can use the standard inequality (see for instance [20, Lemma 1.4.1]):

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\psi) \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \gamma(s) |t|^{k} |\psi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t \ge R^{k} \gamma_{0} \|\psi\|^{2}.$$

$$(4.2)$$

**Spectral confinement for the variable** *s*. If  $\psi$  is supported in the set  $\{(s,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |t| < R, |s| \ge R\}$ , we use the canonical transformation associated with the change of variables

$$t = (\gamma(\sigma))^{-\frac{1}{k+2}}\tau, \quad s = \sigma, \tag{4.3}$$

we deduce that  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  is unitarily equivalent to the operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2, \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau)$ 

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k],\flat} = \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} D_{\tau}^{2} + \left(hD_{\sigma} - \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} + \frac{h}{2(k+2)} \frac{\gamma'(\sigma)}{\gamma(\sigma)} (\tau D_{\tau} + D_{\tau}\tau)\right)^{2}$$

Let us denote by  $\psi^{\flat}$  the function  $\psi$  transported by the canonical transformation. In terms of the quadratic from, we have

$$\mathfrak{Q}_h^{[k]}(\psi) = \mathfrak{Q}_h^{[k],\flat}(\psi^\flat).$$

Let us notice that  $\psi^{\flat}$  is supported in  $\left\{(\sigma, \tau) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |\sigma| \ge R, |\tau| \le R\gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{1}{k+2}}\right\}$ . We can write, for all  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ 

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) \geq (1-\varepsilon) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \left( |D_{\tau}\psi^{\flat}|^{2} + \left| \left( h\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} D_{\sigma} - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \psi^{\flat} \right|^{2} \right) d\sigma d\tau - \frac{\varepsilon^{-1} h^{2}}{(2(k+2))^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left| \frac{\gamma'(\sigma)}{\gamma(\sigma)} (\tau D_{\tau} + D_{\tau}\tau) \psi^{\flat} \right|^{2} d\sigma d\tau.$$
(4.4)

In the analytical case for  $\gamma$ , there exists  $\eta_0 > 0$  and for all  $\eta \in (0, \eta_0)$ ,  $R_0 > 0$  such that, on  $\{|\sigma| \ge R_0\}$ 

$$\gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta) \ge \left\{ \gamma_{\infty}^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \eta \right\} \min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta) > \mu^{[k]}(x_0, \xi_0).$$
(4.5)

Note that in the polynomial case for  $\gamma$ , we can replace  $\gamma_{\infty}$  by any positive constant larger than  $\gamma_0$ . Up to choosing  $R_0$  larger, we may also assume that

$$\left(\frac{R_0}{2}\right)^k \gamma_0 \ge \left\{\gamma_{\infty}^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \eta\right\} \min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta).$$
(4.6)

Moreover, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left| \frac{\gamma'(\sigma)}{\gamma(\sigma)} (\tau D_\tau + D_\tau \tau) \psi^{\flat} \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\psi^{\flat}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\
+ 4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left( \frac{\gamma'(\sigma)}{\gamma(\sigma)} \right)^2 |\tau D_\tau \psi^{\flat}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau. \quad (4.7)$$

Using support considerations, we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left| \frac{\gamma'(\sigma)}{\gamma(\sigma)} (\tau D_\tau + D_\tau \tau) \psi^{\flat} \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ & \leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\psi^{\flat}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau + 4R^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}-2} \gamma'(\sigma)^2 |D_\tau \psi^{\flat}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ & \leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\psi^{\flat}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau + 4CR^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |D_\tau \psi^{\flat}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau. \end{split}$$

We deduce

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) \geq (1-\varepsilon) \left(\gamma_{\infty}^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \eta\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left( |D_{\tau}\psi^{\flat}|^{2} + \left| \left(h\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}}D_{\sigma} - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)\psi^{\flat} \right|^{2} \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau \\ - C\varepsilon^{-1}h^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left|\psi^{\flat}\right|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau - 4CR^{2}\varepsilon^{-1}h^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left|D_{\tau}\psi^{\flat}\right|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

We choose  $\varepsilon = h$ , we infer that

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) \geq \left\{ (1-h) \left( \gamma_{\infty}^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \eta \right) - 4CR^{2}h \right\} \mathfrak{q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) - Ch \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left| \psi^{\flat} \right|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau, \qquad (4.8)$$

where

$$\mathfrak{q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left( |D_{\tau}\psi^{\flat}|^{2} + \left| \left( h\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} D_{\sigma} - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \psi^{\flat} \right|^{2} \right) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

We have

$$\mathfrak{q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left( |D_{\tau}\psi^{\flat}|^{2} + \left| \left( h\Xi(\sigma, D_{\sigma}) - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} - \frac{ih}{2k+4} \gamma'(\sigma)\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{k+3}{k+2}} \right) \psi^{\flat} \right|^{2} \right) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau, \quad (4.9)$$

with  $\Xi(\sigma, D_{\sigma}) = \gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{2k+4}} D_{\sigma} \gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{2k+4}}$ . We get the lower bound:

$$\mathfrak{q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) \geq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left( |D_{\tau}\psi^{\flat}|^{2} + \left| \left( h\Xi(\sigma, D_{\sigma}) - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \psi^{\flat} \right|^{2} \right) d\sigma d\tau + \frac{2h}{2k+4} \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} i\gamma'(\sigma)\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{k+3}{k+2}} \left( h\Xi(\sigma, D_{\sigma}) - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \psi^{\flat} \overline{\psi^{\flat}} d\sigma d\tau.$$

This becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) &\geq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left( |D_{\tau}\psi^{\flat}|^{2} + \left| \left( h\Xi(\sigma, D_{\sigma}) - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \psi^{\flat} \right|^{2} \right) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \frac{2h^{2}}{2k+4} \mathrm{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} i\gamma'(\sigma)\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{k+3}{k+2}} \Xi(\sigma, D_{\sigma})\psi^{\flat} \,\overline{\psi^{\flat}} \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau. \end{aligned}$$

By using in particular that 2Re  $\left(\partial_{\sigma}\psi^{\flat} \overline{\psi^{\flat}}\right) = \partial_{\sigma}|\psi^{\flat}|^2$  and by integrating by parts, we infer

$$\left|\frac{2h^2}{2k+4}\operatorname{Re}\int_{\mathbb{R}^2}i\gamma'(\sigma)\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{k+3}{k+2}}\Xi(\sigma,D_{\sigma})\psi^{\flat}\,\overline{\psi^{\flat}}\,\mathrm{d}\sigma\,\mathrm{d}\tau\right|\leq Ch^2\int_{\mathbb{R}^2}|\psi^{\flat}|^2\,\mathrm{d}\sigma\,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

By using the functional calculus, we get

$$\mathfrak{q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) \ge \left(\min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta) - Ch^{2}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |\psi^{\flat}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

$$(4.10)$$

Fixing  $R = R_0$  and  $\eta_0$  defined in (4.5) and (4.6) and combining (4.8) and (4.10), we infer the existence of  $h_0 > 0$  and C > 0 such that for  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and all  $\eta \in (0, \eta_0)$ 

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\flat}) \geq \left(\gamma_{\infty}^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta) - \eta - Ch\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |\psi^{\flat}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau$$

or equivalently

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\psi) \geq \left(\gamma_{\infty}^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta) - \eta - Ch\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |\psi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t,$$

for all  $\psi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  supported in  $\{(s,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |t| < R_0, |s| \ge R_0\}.$ 

Gluing the lower bounds. Using (4.2) (with  $R = \frac{R_0}{2}$ ) and (4.6), we deduce

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\psi) \geq \left(\gamma_{\infty}^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta) - \eta - Ch\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |\psi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t,$$

for all  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  supported either in  $\{(s,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |t| < R_0, |s| \ge R_0\}$  or in  $\{(s,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |t| > \frac{R_0}{2}\}$ . We now use a standard partition of unity with respect to t such that

$$\chi_{1,R_0}^2 + \chi_{2,R_0}^2 = 1, \qquad \chi_{1,R_0} = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ for } |t| \le \frac{R_0}{2}, \\ 0 \text{ for } |t| \ge R_0, \end{cases} \quad \text{and } (\chi_{1,R_0}')^2 + (\chi_{2,R_0}')^2 \le CR_0^{-2}.$$

The "IMS" formula provides, for all  $\psi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty} (\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus [-R_0, R_0]^2)$ :

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\psi) \ge \mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\chi_{1,R_{0}}\psi) + \mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\chi_{2,R_{0}}\psi) - CR_{0}^{-2} \|\psi\|^{2}.$$

By supports considerations we have

 $\sup p(\chi_{1,R_0}\psi) \subset \{(s,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |t| < R_0, \ |s| \ge R_0\}, \quad \sup p(\chi_{2,R_0}\psi) \subset \{(s,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |t| \ge \frac{R_0}{2}\},$  so that, for all  $\psi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty} (\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus [-R_0, R_0]^2)$ , there holds

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\psi) \geq \left(\gamma_{\infty}^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta) - \eta - Ch - CR_{0}^{-2}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |\psi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t$$

Therefore, for all  $\mu_0^* \in \left(\mu_0, \gamma_{\infty}^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \min \nu^{[k]}\right)$ , up to choosing  $\eta$ , h small enough and possibly  $R_0$  larger, we have

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\psi) \geq \mu_{0}^{*} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |\psi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t, \quad \forall \psi \in \mathcal{C}_{0}^{\infty} \left(\mathbb{R}^{2} \setminus [-R_{0}, R_{0}]^{2}\right).$$

# 4.2 Explicit WKB expansions, weak magnetic barrier

# 4.2.1 Renormalization

The key point to perform the spectral analysis of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  is the normal form procedure introduced in [47, 17, 45], see also [50] which is pervaded by this spirit. Let us explain this basic idea. We again use the canonical transformation associated with the change of variables

$$t = (\gamma(\sigma))^{-\frac{1}{k+2}}\tau, \qquad s = \sigma.$$

We deduce that  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$  is unitarily equivalent to the operator on  $L^{2}(d\sigma d\tau)$ 

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k],\flat} = \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} D_{\tau}^{2} + \left(hD_{\sigma} - \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} + \frac{h}{2(k+2)} \frac{\gamma'(\sigma)}{\gamma(\sigma)} (\tau D_{\tau} + D_{\tau}\tau)\right)^{2}.$$

In order to estimate the low lying eigenvalues, we may write the heuristic approximation

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k],\flat} \approx \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \left( D_{\tau}^{2} + \left( h\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} D_{\sigma} - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right)^{2} \right) \\
\approx \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \nu^{[k]} \left( h\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+1}} D_{\sigma} \right).$$

Let now make this approximation more rigorous. We may change the gauge

$$e^{-ig(\sigma)/h} \mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k],b} e^{ig(\sigma)/h} = \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} D_{\tau}^{2} + \left(hD_{\sigma} + \zeta_{0}^{[k]}\gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{1}{k+2}} - \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} + \frac{h}{2(k+2)} \frac{\gamma'(\sigma)}{\gamma(\sigma)} (\tau D_{\tau} + D_{\tau}\tau)\right)^{2},$$
with

$$g(\sigma) = \zeta_0^{[k]} \int_0^{\sigma} \gamma(\tilde{\sigma})^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\sigma}.$$

For some function  $\Phi = \Phi(\sigma)$  to be determined, we consider

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k],\mathsf{wg}} = \mathrm{e}^{\Phi/h} \mathrm{e}^{-ig(\sigma)/h} \mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k],\flat} \, \mathrm{e}^{ig(\sigma)/h} \mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h} = \mathfrak{L}^{[k],\mathsf{wg},0} + h \mathfrak{L}^{[k],\mathsf{wg},1} + h^{2} \mathfrak{L}^{[k],\mathsf{wg},2},$$

with

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{L}^{[k], \mathsf{wg}, 0} &= \gamma^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \left( D_{\tau}^2 + \left( V_{\zeta_0^{[k]}} + i\gamma^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} \Phi' \right)^2 \right), \\ \mathfrak{L}^{[k], \mathsf{wg}, 1} &= \left( \gamma^{\frac{1}{k+2}} V_{\zeta_0^{[k]}} + i\Phi' \right) D_{\sigma} + D_{\sigma} \left( \gamma^{\frac{1}{k+2}} V_{\zeta_0^{[k]}} + i\Phi' \right) + \mathfrak{R}_1(\sigma, \tau; D_{\tau}), \\ \mathfrak{L}^{[k], \mathsf{wg}, 2} &= D_{\sigma}^2 + \mathfrak{R}_2(\sigma, \tau; D_{\sigma}, D_{\tau}), \end{split}$$

where

$$V_{\zeta}(\tau) = \zeta - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1},$$

and where  $\Re_1(\sigma, \tau; D_{\tau})$  is of order zero in  $D_{\sigma}$  and cancels for  $\sigma = 0$  whereas  $\Re_2(\sigma, \tau; D_{\sigma}, D_{\tau})$  is an operator of order one with respect to the variable  $\sigma$ .

Now, let us solve, as in the previous section, the eigenvalue equation

$$\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k], \mathsf{wg}} a = \lambda a$$

in the sense of formal series in h,

$$a \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} h^j a_j, \qquad \lambda \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} h^j \lambda_j.$$

## 4.2.2 Solving the operator valued eikonal equation

The first equation is

$$\mathfrak{L}^{[k],\mathsf{wg},0}a_0 = \lambda_0 a_0.$$

We must choose

$$\lambda_0 = \gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \nu^{[k]} (\zeta_0^{[k]}),$$

and we are led to take

$$a_0(\sigma,\tau) = f_0(\sigma) u_{w(\sigma)}^{[k]}(\tau), \quad \text{with} \quad w(\sigma) = \zeta_0^{[k]} + i\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} \Phi'(\sigma).$$
 (4.11)

Recall that  $u_{\zeta}^{[k]}$  (with  $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}$ ) denotes an L<sup>2</sup>-normalized eigenfunction associated with  $\nu^{[k]}(\zeta)$  for the generalized Montgomery operator (4.1) and that it admits a holomorphic extension near  $\zeta_0$ . Then the equation becomes

$$\gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}}\nu^{[k]}\left(\zeta_{0}^{[k]}+i\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}}\Phi'(\sigma)\right)=\gamma_{0}^{\frac{2}{k+2}}\nu^{[k]}\left(\zeta_{0}^{[k]}\right),$$

and this can be written in the form

$$\nu^{[k]} \left( \zeta_0^{[k]} + i\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} \Phi'(\sigma) \right) - \nu^{[k]} \left( \zeta_0^{[k]} \right) = \left( \gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{2}{k+2}} - 1 \right) \nu^{[k]} \left( \zeta_0^{[k]} \right).$$

Therefore we are in the framework of the following elementary lemma.

**Lemma 4.4** For r > 0, let us consider a holomorphic function  $\nu : \mathcal{B}(0,r) \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\nu(0) = \nu'(0) = 0$  and  $\nu''(0) \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . Let us also introduce a smooth and real-valued function F defined in a real neighborhood of  $\sigma = 0$  such that  $\sigma = 0$  is a non degenerate maximum. Then, there exists a neighborhood of  $\sigma = 0$  such that the equation

$$\nu(i\varphi(\sigma)) = F(\sigma) \tag{4.12}$$

admits a smooth solution  $\varphi$  such that  $\varphi(0) = 0$  and  $\varphi'(0) > 0$ .

**Proof:** We can apply the Morse lemma to deduce that (4.12) is equivalent to

$$\widetilde{\nu}(i\varphi(\sigma))^2 = -f(\sigma)^2,$$

where f is a non negative function such that  $f'(0) = \sqrt{-\frac{F''(0)}{2}}$  and  $F(\sigma) = -f(\sigma)^2$  and  $\tilde{\nu}$  is a holomorphic function in a neighborhood of 0 such that  $\tilde{\nu}^2 = \nu$  and  $\tilde{\nu}'(0) = \sqrt{\frac{\nu''(0)}{2}}$ . This provides the equations

$$\widetilde{\nu}(i\varphi(\sigma)) = if(\sigma), \quad ext{ or } \quad \widetilde{\nu}(i\varphi(\sigma)) = -if(\sigma).$$

Since  $\tilde{\nu}$  is a local biholomorphism and f(0) = 0, we can write the equivalent equations

$$\varphi(\sigma) = -i\widetilde{\nu}^{-1}(if(\sigma)), \quad \text{or} \quad \varphi(\sigma) = -i\widetilde{\nu}^{-1}(-if(\sigma)).$$

The function  $\varphi = -i\tilde{\nu}^{-1}(if)$  satisfies our requirements since  $\varphi'(0) = \sqrt{-\frac{F''(0)}{\nu''(0)}}$ .

We use Lemma 4.4 with  $F(\sigma) = \left(\gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}}\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{2}{k+2}} - 1\right)\nu^{[k]}(\zeta_0^{[k]})$  and, for the function  $\varphi$  given by the lemma, we have (up to a translation by  $\zeta_0^{[k]}$ ):

$$\Phi'(\sigma) = \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{1}{k+2}}\varphi(\sigma)$$

and we take

$$\Phi(\sigma) = \int_0^\sigma \gamma(\tilde{\sigma})^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \varphi(\tilde{\sigma}) \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\sigma},$$

which is defined in a fixed neighborhood of 0 and satisfies  $\Phi(0) = \Phi'(0) = 0$  and

$$\Phi''(0) = \gamma_0^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \sqrt{\frac{2}{k+2} \frac{\gamma''(0) \ \nu^{[k]}(\zeta_0^{[k]})}{\gamma(0) \ (\nu^{[k]})'' \ (\zeta_0^{[k]})}} > 0.$$
(4.13)

Therefore (4.11) is well defined in a neighborhood of  $\sigma = 0$ .

# 4.2.3 Solving the transport equation

We can now deal with the operator valued transport equation

$$(\mathfrak{L}^{[k],\mathsf{wg},0} - \lambda_0)a_1 = (\lambda_1 - \mathfrak{L}^{[k],\mathsf{wg},1})a_0.$$

For each  $\sigma$  the Fredholm condition is

$$\left\langle (\lambda_1 - \mathfrak{L}^{[k], \mathsf{wg}, 1}) a_0, \overline{u_{w(\sigma)}^{[k]}} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathrm{d}\tau)} = 0$$

Using (1.5), (3.13) and a Feynman-Hellmann formula (as in Section 3), we get the transport equation

$$\begin{split} \lambda_1 f_0 &= \left\langle \mathfrak{L}^{[k], \mathsf{wg}, 1} a_0, \overline{u_{w(\sigma)}^{[k]}} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \left( \nu^{[k]} \right)'(w(\sigma)) D_\sigma + D_\sigma \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \left( \nu^{[k]} \right)'(w(\sigma)) \right\} f_0 \\ &+ \left\langle \mathfrak{R}_1 u_{w(\sigma)}^{[k]}, \overline{u_{w(\sigma)}^{[k]}} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathrm{d}\tau)} f_0. \end{split}$$

The term

$$\left\langle \mathfrak{R}_{1} u_{w(\sigma)}^{[k]}, \overline{u_{w(\sigma)}^{[k]}} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}, \mathrm{d}\tau)}$$

is just a smooth function which cancels in  $\sigma = 0$  so that we have just to consider the linearization of the first part of the equation. The linearized operator is

$$\frac{1}{2} \left( \nu^{[k]} \right)'' \left( \zeta_0^{[k]} \right) \Phi''(0) (\sigma \partial_\sigma + \partial_\sigma \sigma).$$

The eigenvalues of this operator in the corresponding weighted space are

$$\left\{ \left(\nu^{[k]}\right)''\left(\zeta_0^{[k]}\right)\Phi''(0)\left(j+\frac{1}{2}\right), \quad j \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$
(4.14)

Let us notice that

$$\left(\nu^{[k]}\right)''\left(\zeta_0^{[k]}\right)\Phi''(0) = \gamma_0^{\frac{1}{k+2}}\sqrt{\frac{2}{k+2}\frac{\gamma''(0)\nu^{[k]}\left(\zeta_0^{[k]}\right)\left(\nu^{[k]}\right)''\left(\zeta_0^{[k]}\right)}{\gamma(0)}}.$$

# 4.3 Estimates of Agmon in the normal form spirit

# 4.3.1 Weighted semiclassical elliptic estimates

**Proposition 4.5** Let us assume Assumption 1.7. Let  $C_0 > 0$  and  $z : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}_+$  be a Lipschitzian function. There exist  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ ,  $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ ,  $h_0 > 0$  and C > 0 such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  satisfying  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$  we have, for all  $p \geq 1$ :

$$\left\| \mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_{1}|t|+\varepsilon_{0}h^{-1}\chi_{p}\mathsf{z}}\psi\right\|^{2} \leq C \| \mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_{0}h^{-1}\chi_{p}\mathsf{z}}\psi\|^{2},$$
$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}\left(\mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_{1}|t|+\varepsilon_{0}h^{-1}\chi_{p}\mathsf{z}}\psi\right) \leq C \| \mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_{0}h^{-1}\chi_{p}\mathsf{z}}\psi\|^{2},$$

where  $\chi_p(s) = \chi_1(p^{-1}s)$ , with  $0 \le \chi_1 \le 1$  a smooth cutoff function supported near 0.

**Proof:** Let us consider an eigenpair  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$  such that  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ . We have the Agmon type formula

$$\mathfrak{Q}_h\left(\mathrm{e}^{\Phi}\psi\right) = \lambda \|\mathrm{e}^{\Phi}\psi\|^2 + \|\partial_t\Phi\mathrm{e}^{\Phi}\psi\|^2 + \|h\partial_s\Phi\mathrm{e}^{\Phi}\psi\|^2,$$

where  $\Phi$  is bounded and Lipschitzian. We look for  $\Phi$  in the form

$$\Phi(s,t) = \Phi_p(s,t) = \varepsilon_1 |t| + \varepsilon_0 h^{-1} \chi_p(s) \mathbf{z}(s).$$

We get

$$\mathfrak{Q}_h\left(\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_p}\psi\right) \le (\mu_0 + C_0 h + \varepsilon_1^2) \|\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_p}\psi\|^2 + 2\varepsilon_0^2 \|\mathsf{z}'\chi_p\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_p}\psi\|^2 + 2\varepsilon_0^2 \|\mathsf{z}\chi_p'\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_p}\psi\|^2.$$

Since **z** is Lipschitzian, there exists  $K \ge 0$  such that for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}^m$ 

$$|\mathbf{z}(s)| \le |c(0)| + K|s|.$$

Therefore there exists  $\tilde{C} > 0$  such that for all  $p \ge 1$ ,  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  and  $\varepsilon_1 > 0$  we have

$$\mathfrak{Q}_h\left(\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_p}\psi\right) \le (\mu_0 + C_0 h + \varepsilon_1^2 + \tilde{C}\varepsilon_0^2) \|\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_p}\psi\|^2,$$

where we have used that  $s \mapsto \chi'_p(s)\mathbf{z}(s)$  is uniformly bounded with respect to p. We introduce the partition of the unity

$$\chi_{1,R}^2(t) + \chi_{2,R}^2(t) = 1,$$

where  $\chi_{2,R}$  is supported in  $\{|t| \ge R\}$ . We may assume that there exists C > 0 such that for all R > 0

$$\chi_{1,R}^{\prime 2} + \chi_{1,R}^{\prime 2} \le CR^{-2}$$

The so-called "IMS" formula implies that

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}(\chi_{1,R}e^{\Phi_{p}}\psi) + \mathfrak{Q}_{h}(\chi_{2,R}e^{\Phi_{p}}\psi) - CR^{-2}\|e^{\Phi_{p}}\psi\|^{2} \le (\mu_{0} + C_{0}h + \varepsilon_{1}^{2} + C\varepsilon_{0}^{2})\|e^{\Phi_{p}}\psi\|^{2}.$$

We choose R large enough,  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ ,  $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ ,  $h_0 > 0$  small enough such that we have for  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and  $p \ge 1$ 

$$\mathfrak{Q}_h(\chi_{2,R}\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_p}\psi) \ge \mu_0^* \|\chi_{2,R}\mathrm{e}^{\Phi_p}\psi\|^2$$

and

$$C_0 h + \varepsilon_1^2 + \tilde{C} \varepsilon_0^2 + C R^{-2} < \frac{\mu_0^* - \mu_0}{2}$$

For these choices of R,  $\varepsilon_0$ ,  $\varepsilon_1$  and  $h_0$ , we find  $\hat{c}, \hat{C} > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and  $p \ge 1$ , we have

$$\hat{c} \|\chi_{2,R} \mathbf{e}^{\Phi_p} \psi\|^2 \le \hat{C} \|\mathbf{e}^{\varepsilon_0 \chi_p h^{-1} \mathbf{z}} \psi\|^2$$

and the conclusion easily follows.

# 4.3.2 Agmon estimates

**Proposition 4.6** Let us assume that  $\gamma$  is analytic with  $\liminf_{\pm \infty} \gamma \in (\gamma_0, +\infty)$  and a unique minimum which is non degenerate. We let

$$\mathsf{z}(s) = \left| \int_{s_0}^{s} \chi(s') \sqrt{\gamma(s')^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}}} \, \mathrm{d}s' \right|,$$

with  $0 \leq \chi \leq 1$  a smooth cutoff function whose support contains  $s_0$ . Let us consider  $C_0 > 0$ . There exist  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ , C > 0 and  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all eigenpairs  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  satisfying  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$  we have

$$\|\mathbf{e}^{\varepsilon_0 h^{-1} \mathbf{z}} \psi\| \le C \|\psi\|$$

and

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_{0}h^{-1}\mathsf{z}}\psi) \leq C \|\psi\|^{2}.$$

**Proof:** Let us consider an eigenpair  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  such that  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ . We first use the Agmon estimate

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_{0}\chi_{p}h^{-1}\mathbf{z}}\psi) \leq \lambda \|\mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_{0}\chi_{p}h^{-1}\mathbf{z}}\psi\|^{2} + \tilde{C}\varepsilon_{0}^{2}\|\mathbf{z}'\mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_{0}\chi_{p}h^{-1}\mathbf{z}}\psi\|^{2} + \tilde{C}\varepsilon_{0}^{2}\|\chi_{p}'\mathbf{z}\mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_{0}\chi_{p}h^{-1}\mathbf{z}}\psi\|^{2}.$$
(4.15)

In order to simplify the notation, we consider the weighted  $\psi$ :

$$\psi^{\mathsf{wg}} = \mathrm{e}^{\varepsilon_0 \chi_p h^{-1} \mathsf{z}} \psi.$$

Now, we shall establish a very fine lower bound of  $\mathfrak{Q}_h^{[k]}(\psi^{wg})$ . For that purpose we use the normal form already introduced in Section 4.1.2 and associated with the change of variables (4.3). If we denote by  $\psi^{wg,\flat}$  the function  $\psi^{wg}$  transported by the canonical transform, we get

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k]}(\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}) = \mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}).$$

Using again (4.4) with  $\varepsilon = h$ , we deduce with (4.7)

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}) \geq (1-h) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \left( |D_{\tau}\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}|^{2} + \left| \left( h\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} D_{\sigma} - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat} \right|^{2} \right) d\sigma d\tau - Ch \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left| \tau D_{\tau}\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat} \right|^{2} d\sigma d\tau - Ch \|\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}\|^{2}. \quad (4.16)$$

But we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left| \tau D_\tau \psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat} \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}\tau = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |t D_t \psi^{\mathsf{wg}}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t$$

and we apply Proposition 4.5 to get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |tD_t\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t \le C \|\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}\|^2.$$

With (4.16), we infer

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}) \geq (1-h) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \left( |D_{\tau}\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}|^{2} + \left| \left( h\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} D_{\sigma} - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat} \right|^{2} \right) d\sigma d\tau - Ch \|\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}\|^{2}.$$
(4.17)

We can write

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \left( |D_{\tau}\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}|^2 + \left| \left( h\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} D_{\sigma} - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat} \right|^2 \right) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left( |D_{\tau}\phi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}|^2 + \left| \left( hD_{\sigma}\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{k+2}} - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} \right) \phi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat} \right|^2 \right) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left( |D_{\tau}\phi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}|^2 + \left| \left( h\Xi(\sigma, D_{\sigma}) - \frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} + \frac{ih}{2k+4}\gamma'(\sigma)\gamma(\sigma)^{-\frac{k+3}{k+2}} \right) \phi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat} \right|^2 \right) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \,\mathrm{d}\tau, \end{split}$$

with

$$\phi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}(\sigma,\tau) = \gamma(\sigma)^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}(\sigma,\tau).$$

We are reduced to the same analysis as after (4.9). We deduce that

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}) \geq (1-h)\mathfrak{q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\gamma^{\frac{1}{k+2}}\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}) - Ch\|\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}\|^{2}.$$

We may use the functional calculus for the self-adjoint operator  $\gamma^{-\frac{1}{2k+4}} D_{\sigma} \gamma^{-\frac{1}{2k+4}}$  and it follows that

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{h}^{[k],\flat}(\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}) \geq (1-h)\min_{\zeta\in\mathbb{R}}\nu^{[k]}(\zeta)\|\gamma^{\frac{1}{k+2}}\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}\|^{2} - Ch\|\psi^{\mathsf{wg},\flat}\|^{2}.$$

We now come back in the variables (s, t) and we have proved

$$\min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta) \|\gamma^{\frac{1}{k+2}} \psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 - Ch \|\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 \leq \lambda \|\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 + \tilde{C}\varepsilon_0^2 \|\mathsf{z}'\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 + \tilde{C}\varepsilon_0^2 \|\chi_p'\mathsf{z}\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2.$$

We deduce that

$$\min_{\zeta \in \mathbb{R}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left( \gamma^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \right) |\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t - \tilde{C}h \|\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 \\
\leq \tilde{C} \varepsilon_0^2 \|\mathsf{z}'\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 + \tilde{C} \varepsilon_0^2 \|\chi_p'\mathsf{z}\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2. \quad (4.18)$$

We infer that there exist c > 0,  $\tilde{C} > 0$ ,  $h_0 > 0$  and  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and  $p \ge 1$  we have:

$$c \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left( \gamma^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \right) |\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t - \tilde{C}h \|\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 \le \tilde{C}\varepsilon_0^2 \|\chi_p' \mathsf{z}\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2. \tag{4.19}$$

We deduce by standard arguments that there exist  $\hat{C} > 0$ ,  $h_0 > 0$  and  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and  $p \ge 1$  we have:

$$\|\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^{2} \leq \hat{C} \|\psi\|^{2} + h^{-1} \hat{C} \varepsilon_{0}^{2} \|\chi'_{p} \mathsf{z} \psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^{2}.$$

Since c is bounded and  $|\chi'_p| \leq Cp^{-1}$ , it remains to take the  $\liminf_{p \to +\infty}$  and to apply the Fatou lemma.

In fact, when  $\gamma$  admits two non degenerate minima, we also have Agmon estimates. Let us now prove Proposition 1.19.

**Proof:** The proof is essentially the same as for Proposition 4.6. The inequality (4.19) becomes in this case

$$c \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left( \gamma^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \right) |\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t - \tilde{C}h \|\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 \\ \leq \tilde{C}\varepsilon_0^2 \|\chi_p' \mathsf{z}\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 + C\varepsilon_0^2 \|f_-\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2 + C\varepsilon_0^2 \|f_+\psi^{\mathsf{wg}}\|^2,$$

with

$$f_{-}(s) = \chi'_{-,d}(s) \left| \int_{s_{-}}^{s} \tilde{\chi}(s') \sqrt{\gamma(s')^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \gamma_{0}^{\frac{2}{k+2}}} \, \mathrm{d}s' \right|,$$
$$f_{+}(s) = \chi'_{+,d}(s) \left| \int_{s_{-}}^{s} \tilde{\chi}(s') \sqrt{\gamma(s')^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \gamma_{0}^{\frac{2}{k+2}}} \, \mathrm{d}s' \right|.$$

We can deal with the last two terms by using the positivity of  $\gamma^{\frac{2}{k+2}} - \gamma_0^{\frac{2}{k+2}}$  away from the minima and the conclusion standardly follows from an electric type case.

# 4.4 Tunnelling estimates

Let us first state an elementary result.

**Proposition 4.7** The asymptotic expansions (modulo  $h^{\infty}$ ) of the n-th eigenvalue of  $\mathfrak{H}_{h,-}^{\mathsf{Dir}}$  are the same as for  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$ . In particular, the spectral gap between two consecutive eigenvalues is of order h. Moreover the eigenfunctions of  $\mathfrak{H}_{h,-}^{\mathsf{Dir}}$  satisfy the same kind of Agmon estimates as in Proposition 4.6.

**Proof:** The construction of quasimodes is the same as for Proposition 2.1. We have just to add a suitable cutoff function and to use the exponential decay of the explicit quasimodes. In order to estimate the spectral gap between the lowest eigenvalues of  $\mathfrak{H}_{h,-}^{\mathsf{Dir}}$ , by the min-max principle, we have just to notice that  $\mathfrak{H}_{h,-}^{\mathsf{Dir}}$  is bounded from below by the realization on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  of  $D_t^2 + \left(hD_s - \tilde{\gamma}(s)\frac{t^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^2$  where the smooth function  $\tilde{\gamma}$  coincides with  $\gamma$  on  $(-\infty, s_- + \delta)$  and admits a unique minimum at  $s_-$ . This lower bound is enough to deduce the Agmon estimates.

Let us now prove that the low lying eigenvalues of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  are exponentially close to the eigenvalues of  $\mathfrak{H}_h$ .

**Proposition 4.8** Let us consider  $C_0 > 0$ . There exist c > 0, C > 0,  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $\mu \in \mathsf{sp}\left(\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}\right)$  with  $\mu \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ ,

dist 
$$(\mu, \operatorname{sp}(\mathfrak{H}_h)) \leq C \mathrm{e}^{-c/h}$$
.

**Proof:** The proof is based on the introduction of suitable quasimodes for the operator  $\mathfrak{H}_h$  and on the Agmon estimates satisfied by the eigenfunctions of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$ . Let us consider an eigenpair  $(\lambda, \psi)$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  such that  $\lambda \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ . One knows that  $\psi$  satisfies the estimates of Proposition 1.19. In particular, we deduce that

$$\mathfrak{H}_{h,-}^{\mathsf{Dir}}(\chi_{-,d'}\psi) = \lambda(\chi_{-,d'}\psi) + \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{e}^{-c/h})\|\psi\|^2, \quad \mathfrak{H}_{h,+}^{\mathsf{Dir}}(\chi_{+,d'}\psi) = \lambda(\chi_{+,d'}\psi) + \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{e}^{-c/h})\|\psi\|^2.$$

The spectral theorem provides the conclusion.

In fact, exponentially close to each eigenvalue of  $\mathfrak{H}_h$  there are at least two eigenvalues of  $\mathfrak{L}_h$ .

**Proposition 4.9** Let us consider  $C_0 > 0$ . There exist c > 0, C > 0,  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $\mu \in \text{sp}(\mathfrak{H}_h)$  satisfying  $\mu \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ , we have, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ ,

$$\operatorname{range}\left(\mathbb{1}_{[\mu-C\mathrm{e}^{-c/h},\mu+C\mathrm{e}^{-c/h}]}(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]})\right) \geq 2.$$

**Proof:** Let us consider  $\mu \in \text{sp}(\mathfrak{H}_h)$  such that  $\mu \leq \mu_0 + C_0 h$ . We can find a corresponding normalized eigenfunction  $(\varphi_-, \varphi_+)$  of  $\mathfrak{H}_h$ . The Agmon estimates imply that

$$\left(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}-\mu\right)(\chi_{-,d'}\varphi_{-})=\mathcal{O}(\mathrm{e}^{-c/h}),\quad \left(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}-\mu\right)(\chi_{+,d'}\varphi_{+})=\mathcal{O}(\mathrm{e}^{-c/h}),$$

and where  $\chi_{-,d'}\varphi_{-}$  and  $\chi_{+,d'}\varphi_{+}$  are orthogonal. The proof follows again from the spectral theorem.

We have now all the elements for our tunnelling result. It remains to prove that, in Proposition 4.9, the range of the spectral projection is exactly 2. By contradiction, if this range were at least 3, then we could consider three eigenfunctions  $(u_{j,h}^{[k]})$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$  mutually orthogonal associated with an eigenvalue  $\lambda$  such that there exists  $\mu \in \mathfrak{sp}(\mathfrak{H})$  satisfying  $|\mu - \lambda| \leq C e^{-c/h}$ . Then one could apply the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 4.8 with  $\psi = \psi_j$ . The spectral theorem would imply that the multiplicity of  $\mu$  is at least 3 but this is impossible since the multiplicity of the lowest eigenvalues of  $\mathfrak{H}_h$  is 2.

# 4.5 Numerical simulations

# 4.5.1 Method

Let us now deal with numerical simulations for the model operator  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^{2}$  if k = 1 and on the half-plane  $\mathbb{R}^{2}_{+}$  if k = 0. In each case, we propose simulations for the simple and double well models. We analyze the convergence of the eigenvalues as  $h \to 0$  and give the first eigenfunctions for small h. This illustrates the localization of the modulus and the behavior of the phase.

To approximate the eigenpairs  $(\lambda_n^{[k]}(h), u_{n,h}^{[k]})$  of the operator  $\mathfrak{L}_h^{[k]}$  on  $\Omega_k$  (with  $\Omega_0 = \mathbb{R}^2_+$ and  $\Omega_1 = \mathbb{R}^2$ ), we use the Finite Element Library MÉLINA++ [35]. Since the domain  $\Omega_k$ is unbounded, we use an artificial domain  $\mathcal{R}_{k,a,b} = \Omega_k \cap (-a,a) \times (-b,b)$ . We compute the eigenpairs  $(\lambda_n^{[k]}(h,a,b), u_{n,h}^{[k]}(a,b))$  on  $\mathcal{R}_{k,a,b}$  and impose Dirichlet conditions on the artificial boundaries  $\{|x| = a\} \cup \{|y| = b\}$ . We use quadrangular elements and polynomial approximation  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  and a mesh  $n_x \times n_y$ .

By this way, we obtain upper bounds for  $\lambda_n^{[k]}(h)$  and we know that

$$\lambda_n^{[k]}(h, a, b) \to \lambda_n^{[k]}(h) \quad \text{ as } \quad \min(a, b) \to +\infty.$$

We compute the eigenpairs for several sets of parameters (a, b) with several combinations of degree of approximation p and of size of the meshes  $n_x \times n_y$  until convergence is found. We normalize the computed eigenfunctions so that  $\|u_{n,h}^{[k]}(a,b)\|_{\infty} = 1$ .

# 4.5.2 Simple well models

For the numerical simulations, we take

$$\gamma(s) = 1 + 4s^2, \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Parameters used for the numerical simulations are given in Table 1. Among the computations, we take, for each value of h, the smallest numerical eigenvalues for the different choices of  $a, b, p, n_x, n_y$ .

a	$n_x$	b	$n_y$	p	1/h
1	5	20	20	16	1:1:100, 110:10:1000
1	5	40	20	14	10:10:1000
1.5	5	30	20	14	1:1:100
2	5	40	20	14	1:1:100

Table 1: Simple well: Parameters of the numerical simulations for  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$ , k = 0, 1.

In Figure 1, we analyze the convergence of the eigenvalues  $\lambda_n^{[k]}(h)$  as  $h \to 0$  for  $1 \le n \le$ 12. Figure 1(a) gives an approximation of the first twelve eigenvalues  $\lambda_n^{[k]}(h)$ ,  $1/h \in [1, 100]$ and corroborates the convergence

$$\lambda_n^{[k]}(h) \to \underline{\nu}^{[k]} = \nu^{[k]} \left( \zeta_0^{[k]} \right) \quad \text{as } h \to 0.$$

Using [10, 6], we know that

$$\underline{\nu}^{[1]} \simeq 0.5698, \qquad \underline{\nu}^{[0]} = \Theta_0 \simeq 0.5901.$$

To catch the next term in the expansion of the eigenvalues, we plot in Figure 1(b)

$$\ln \frac{1}{h} \mapsto \ln \frac{\lambda_n^{[k]}(h) - \underline{\nu}^{[k]}}{h}$$

We observe a linear convergence: the slope r illustrates the behavior

$$\lambda_n^{[k]}(h) = \underline{\nu}^{[k]} + C_n h^r + o(h^r).$$

In Figure 2, we give the approximation of the first two eigenfunctions  $u_{n,h}^{[k]}$  for h = 1/20 if k = 1 and h = 1/15 if k = 0. We draw the modulus, the logarithm of the modulus and the phase.

# 4.5.3 Double well models

Let us now consider the double well model and take

$$\gamma(s) = 1 + (s^2 - 1)^2, \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Parameters used for the numerical simulations are given in Table 2.

Figure 3 illustrates Corollary 1.18, Theorem 1.20 and Remark 1.21 in the scale h instead of  $\hbar$ . The first line concerns the low eigenvalues  $\lambda_n^{[k]}(h)$  with k = 0 (on the half-plane) and the second line with k = 1 (on the plane). The first column illustrates the convergence

$$\lambda_n^{[k]}(h) \to \underline{\nu}^{[k]}$$
 as  $h \to 0$ .



Figure 1: Convergence of the eigenvalues  $\lambda_n^{[k]}(h)$ .



Figure 2: Moduli,  $\log_{10}$  (moduli) and phases of the first two eigenfunctions,  $u_{n,h}^{[k]}$ .

a	$n_x$	b	$n_y$	p	1/h
2	5	40	20	12	1:0.1:500
2	5	40	20	16	10:1:1000
3	5	60	20	14	10:1:300
4	5	40	20	14	10:1:300
5	5	40	20	14	10:1:200
10	10	50	50	10	10:1:200

Table 2: Double well: Parameters of the numerical simulations for  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$ , k = 0, 1.



Figure 3: First eigenvalues  $\lambda_n^{[k]}(h)$  vs. 1/h, k = 0, 1.

The second column represents the splitting  $\lambda_{2n}^{[k]}(h) - \lambda_{2n-1}^{[k]}(h)$  according to  $1/h \in \{1, \ldots, 50\}$ . We recover the exponential decay of Remark 1.21. This decay is faster when k = 0. In the last column, we aim at catching the exponential decay rate and we plot

$$1/h\mapsto -h\ln\Big(\lambda_2^{[k]}(h)-\lambda_1^{[k]}(h)\Big).$$

Let us discuss this last column a little more. We observe a break of the curve when 1/h becomes too large  $(1/h \ge 24$  for k = 0 and  $1/h \ge 33$  for k = 1). For smaller h, the gap between the first two eigenvalues is very small:  $\lambda_2^{[k]}(h) - \lambda_1^{[k]}(h) < 3 \ 10^{-12}$ , which is the accuracy of the computations. So the gap is no more significant when h becomes too small: the error due to the computations and the splitting is at the same order  $\simeq 10^{-12}$ . We try here to catch two scales: a polynomial scale for the convergence of the eigenvalues as  $h \to 0$  and an exponential scale for the splitting. Thus the range of h to have the two

convergences is small. Let us recall that, from Remark 1.21, we have

$$\lambda_2^{[k]}(h) - \lambda_1^{[k]}(h) = \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{e}^{-c_k/h}).$$

The third column in Figure 3 gives the following estimates

$$1.25 \le c_0 \le 1.3, \quad 0.86 \le c_1 \le 0.9.$$

In Figure 4, we give the first two eigenfunctions (modulus, logarithm of the modulus and



Figure 4: Moduli,  $\log_{10}$  (moduli) and phases of the first two eigenfunctions.

phase) of  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{[k]}$  for h = 1/15 if k = 0 and h = 1/20 if k = 1. To compute them, we use a  $\mathbb{Q}_{10}$  approximation and  $\mathcal{R}_{k,2,5}$  as artificial domain for computations. We observe the change of symmetry between the first two eigenfunctions: the first eigenfunction satisfies the Neumann condition along the symmetry axis x = 0 whereas the second one is antisymmetric as it can be seen on the phase or on the logarithm of the modulus. If we take too small values for h ( $h \leq 1/24$  if k = 0 and  $h \leq 1/33$  if k = 1), then the accuracy of our computations is no more sufficient to catch the tunneling effect and the modulus the first two eigenfunctions is no more symmetric: The first computed eigenfunction is essentially localized in one well whereas the second one is localized in the other well.

# 5 Geometric models: an application of the strategy

In this section, we use the same notation as previously but add an exponent  $\sharp = vf, e, c$  to distinguish between our three geometric operators.

# 5.1 Vanishing magnetic fields

This section is concerned with the result announced in Section 1.3.1.

#### 5.1.1 Description of the operator in curvilinear coordinates

If  $k \ge 0$  is an integer, we let  $\Omega_k = \mathbb{R}$  if  $k \ge 1$  and  $\Omega_k = \mathbb{R}_+$  if k = 0. By using the standard tubular coordinates near  $\Gamma$  (see [20, Appendix F]), we are reduced to analyze the following operator, depending on the integer  $k \ge 0$  and acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R} \times \Omega_k, (1 - t\kappa(s)) \, ds \, dt)$  and with Neumann condition on t = 0 if k = 0:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\hbar}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]} = (1 - t\kappa(s))^{-1}\hbar D_t (1 - t\kappa(s))\hbar D_t + (1 - t\kappa(s))^{-1}(\hbar D_s - A^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(s,t))(1 - t\kappa(s))^{-1}(\hbar D_s - A^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(s,t)),$$

with

$$A^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(s,t) = \int_0^t (1 - t'\kappa(s)) B^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(s,t') \, \mathrm{d}t'$$

and where  $B^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}$  is a magnetic field which satisfies

$$B^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(s,t) = \gamma(s)t^k + \delta(s)t^{k+1} + \mathcal{O}(t^{k+2})$$

so that

$$A^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(s,t) = \gamma(s)\frac{t^{k+1}}{k+1} + \tilde{\delta}(s)\frac{t^{k+2}}{k+2} + \mathcal{O}(t^{k+3})$$

where

$$\tilde{\delta}(s) = \delta(s) - \gamma(s)\kappa(s).$$

The function  $\kappa$  is nothing but the curvature function of the zero line of the magnetic field (if  $k \ge 1$ ) or of the boundary (if k = 0). We will work under the following assumption.

**Assumption 5.1** The functions  $\kappa$  and  $\boldsymbol{B}$  (or equivalently  $B^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}$ ) are smooth,  $\gamma$  is analytic and admits a positive and non degenerate minimum at s = 0.

Let us perform the rescaling

$$h = \hbar^{\frac{1}{k+2}}, \qquad s = \sigma, \qquad t = h\tau.$$

We denote by  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}$  the rescaled operator divided by  $h^{2k+2}$ :

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]} &= (1 - h\tau\kappa(\sigma))^{-1}D_{\tau}(1 - h\tau\kappa(\sigma))D_{\tau} \\ &+ (1 - h\tau\kappa(\sigma))^{-1}(hD_{\sigma} - A_{h}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(\sigma,\tau))(1 - h\tau\kappa(\sigma))^{-1}(hD_{\sigma} - A_{h}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(\sigma,\tau)), \end{split}$$

with

$$A_h^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(\sigma,\tau) = h^{-(k+1)} A^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(\sigma,h\tau).$$

**Theorem 5.2** Under Assumption 5.1, there exist a function  $\Phi = \Phi(\sigma)$  defined in a neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}$  of (0,0) with Re Hess  $\Phi(0) > 0$  and, for any  $n \ge 1$ , a sequence of real numbers  $(\lambda_{n,j}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]})_{j\ge 0}$  such that

$$\lambda_n^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(h) \underset{h \to 0}{\sim} \sum_{j \ge 0} \lambda_{n,j}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]} h^j,$$

in the sense of formal series. Besides there exists a formal series of smooth functions on  ${\cal V}$ 

$$a_n^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(.;h) \underset{h \to 0}{\sim} \sum_{j \ge 0} a_{n,j}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]} h^j,$$

with  $a_{n,0}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(0,0) \neq 0$  such that

$$\left(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]} - \lambda_{n}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(h)\right) \left(a_{n}(.;h)\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h}\right) = \mathcal{O}\left(h^{\infty}\right)\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h}.$$

We also have that  $\lambda_{n,0}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]} = \gamma(0)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta_0^{[k]})$  and that  $\lambda_{n,1}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}$  is the n-th eigenvalue of the operator

$$\frac{1}{2} \text{Hess } \mu^{[k]}(0, \zeta_0^{[k]})(\sigma, D_\sigma) + R^{\mathsf{vf}, [k]}(0), \tag{5.1}$$

with

$$R^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(0) = 2\gamma(0) \left(\delta(0) + \frac{\kappa(0)\gamma(0)}{k+1}\right) \int_{\Omega_k} \frac{\tau^{2k+3}}{(k+1)(k+2)} \left(u_{0,i\Phi'(0)}^{[k]}(\tau)\right)^2 \mathrm{d}\tau + \kappa(0) \int_{\Omega_k} \partial_\tau u_{0,i\Phi'(0)}^{[k]}(\tau) u_{0,i\Phi'(0)}^{[k]}(\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$
(5.2)

The main term in the Ansatz is

$$a_{n,0}^{\mathrm{vf},[k]}(\sigma,\tau)=f_{n,0}^{\mathrm{vf},[k]}(\sigma)u_{\sigma,i\Phi'(\sigma)}^{[k]}(\tau),$$

where  $f_{n,0}^{\text{vf},[k]}(\sigma)$  is the n-th normalized eigenfunction of (5.1). Moreover, for all  $n \geq 1$ , there exist  $h_0 > 0$ , c > 0 such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{B}\big(\lambda_{n,0}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]} + \lambda_{n,1}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}h, ch\big) \cap \mathsf{sp}\left(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}\right) = \{\lambda_{n}^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(h)\},$$

and  $\lambda_n^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(h)$  is a simple eigenvalue.

# 5.1.2 WKB expansion

Let us now prove Theorem 5.2. We have the expansion (in powers of h):

$$A_h^{\mathsf{vf},[k]}(\sigma,\tau) = \gamma(\sigma)\frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1} + \tilde{\delta}(\sigma)h\frac{\tau^{k+2}}{k+2} + \mathcal{O}(h^2\tau^{k+3}).$$

We can write the following formal series expansion

$$\mathrm{e}^{\Phi(\sigma)/h} \,\,\mathfrak{L}_h^{\mathrm{vf},[k]} \,\,\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi(\sigma)/h} \sim \sum_{j\geq 0} h^j \mathfrak{L}_j,$$

where we have

$$\mathfrak{L}_0 = D_\tau^2 + \left(i\Phi'(\sigma) - \gamma(\sigma)\frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^2$$

and

$$\mathfrak{L}_1 = -\frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1}(D_{\sigma}\gamma(\sigma) + \gamma(\sigma)D_{\sigma}) + \frac{2\gamma(\sigma)\tilde{\delta}(\sigma)\tau^{2k+3}}{(k+2)(k+1)} + \kappa(\sigma)\partial_{\tau} + 2\tau\kappa(\sigma)\left(\gamma(\sigma)\frac{\tau^{k+1}}{k+1}\right)^2$$

Our Ansätze are again in the form

$$a \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} h^j a_j, \qquad \lambda \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} h^j \lambda_j.$$

The first equation is given by

$$\mathfrak{L}_0 a_0 = \lambda_0 a_0.$$

This leads to the choice

$$a_0(\sigma,\tau) = f_0(\sigma) u_{\sigma,i\Phi'(\sigma)}^{[k]}(\tau)$$

and  $\Phi$  must be such that

$$\mu^{[k]}(\sigma, i\Phi'(\sigma)) = \lambda_0$$

and  $\lambda_0 = \gamma(0)^{\frac{2}{k+2}} \nu^{[k]}(\zeta_0^{[k]})$ . The next equation to solve is

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0 - \mu_0)a_1 = (\lambda_1 - \mathfrak{L}_1)a_0$$

and the associated Fredholm condition is given by

$$\left\langle \mathfrak{L}_1 a_0, u^{[k]}_{\sigma, -i\overline{\Phi}'(\sigma)} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\Omega_k, \mathrm{d}\tau)} = \lambda_1 f_0(\sigma).$$

We get the transport equation

$$\left(D_{\sigma}\partial_{\zeta}\mu^{[k]}(\sigma,i\Phi'(\sigma))+\partial_{\zeta}\mu^{[k]}(\sigma,i\Phi'(\sigma))D_{\sigma}\right)f_{0}+R^{\mathsf{vf}}(\sigma)f_{0}=\lambda_{1}f_{0},$$

where  $R^{\text{vf}}$  is an explicit smooth function. Considering the linearized equation near  $\sigma = 0$ , we are led to choose  $\lambda_1$  in the set

$$\mathsf{sp}\left(\frac{1}{2}\mathsf{Hess}\;\mu^{[k]}(0,\zeta_0^{[k]})(\sigma,D_\sigma)\right) + R^{\mathsf{vf}}(0).$$

We recognize the set which appears in [47,  $\gamma_{n,2}$  in Theorem 1.3] (for k = 0), [17,  $\theta_2^n$  in Theorem 1.6] (for k = 1) and in the conjecture of [23, A for our  $R^{vf}(0)$  in (4.5)] (for  $k \ge 1$ ). In particular the simplicity of the eigenvalues is established in [47, 17] for k = 0, 1 whereas slight adaptations have to be done to deal with the case  $k \ge 2$ .

# 5.2 Along a varying edge in dimension three

Let us now deal with the situation described in Section 1.3.2. Let us recall that the bottom of the spectrum of the magnetic Neumann Laplacian on the wedge  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$  with constant aperture  $\alpha$  with a magnetic field normal to the symmetry plane is a non increasing function with respect to  $\alpha$  (see [44]). The wedge is so that  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha} = \mathbb{R} \times S_{\alpha}$  where  $S_{\alpha}$  is the angular sector in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

#### 5.2.1 Framework

We will need the Neumann realization of the operator defined on  $L^2(\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_0}, dt dz)$  by

$$\mathcal{M}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}} = D_t^2 + \mathcal{T}(s)^{-2} \mathcal{T}(0)^2 D_z^2 + (\eta - t)^2,$$

whose form domain is

$$\mathsf{Dom}(\mathcal{Q}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}}) = \left\{ \psi \in \mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_{0}}) : D_{t}\psi \in \mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_{0}}), D_{z}\psi \in \mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_{0}}), t\psi \in \mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_{0}}) \right\}$$

and with operator domain

$$\mathsf{Dom}(\mathcal{M}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}}) = \left\{ \psi \in \mathsf{Dom}(\mathcal{Q}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}}) : \mathcal{M}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}} \psi \in \mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_{0}}), \mathfrak{T}(s)\psi = 0 \right\},\$$

where

$$\mathfrak{T}(s) = -\mathsf{sgn}(z)D_t + \mathcal{T}(s)^{-2}\mathcal{T}(0)D_z.$$

The family  $(\mathcal{M}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}})_{(s,\eta)\in\mathbb{R}^2}$  is analytic of type (A). Note that, near each point  $(s_1,\eta_1)\in\mathbb{R}^2$ , this family can be holomorphically extended. The lowest eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{M}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}}$  is denoted by  $\mu^{\mathsf{e}}(s,\eta)$ . As in [45], we will also investigate the consequences of the following conjecture (see [45, Remark 1.8]).

**Conjecture 5.3** For all  $\alpha_0 \in (0, \pi)$ , the function  $\eta \mapsto \mu^{\mathbf{e}}(0, \eta)$  admits a unique critical point  $\eta_0$  which is a non degenerate minimum.

**Proposition 5.4** Under Assumption 1.24 and if Conjecture 5.3 is true, the function  $\mu^{e}$  admits a local non degenerate minimum at  $(0, \eta_{0})$ . Moreover the Hessian at  $(0, \eta_{0})$  is given by

$$4\kappa \mathcal{T}(0)^{-1} \| D_z u_{0,\eta_0}^{\mathsf{e}} \| s^2 + \left( \partial_\eta^2 \mu^{\mathsf{e}} \right)_{0,\eta_0} \eta^2, \tag{5.3}$$

where  $\kappa = -\frac{\mathcal{T}''(0)}{2} > 0.$ 

**Proof:** The proof follows from the perturbation theory. We have the eigenvalue equation

$$\mathcal{M}^{\mathsf{e}}_{s,\eta}u^{\mathsf{e}}_{s,\eta} = \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(s,\eta)u^{\mathsf{e}}_{s,\eta}, \qquad \mathfrak{T}(s)u^{\mathsf{e}}_{s,\eta} = 0.$$

We notice that  $\mathfrak{T}'(0) = 0$  and  $\mathfrak{T}''(0) = 4\kappa \mathcal{T}(0)^{-2}D_z$ . Let us analyze the derivative with respect to s. We have

$$\left(\mathcal{M}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}} - \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(s,\eta)\right) \left(\partial_{s} u^{\mathsf{e}}\right)_{s,\eta} = \partial_{s} \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(s,\eta) u_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}} - \left(\partial_{s} \mathcal{M}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}}\right) u_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}}$$

We notice that  $\partial_s \mathcal{M}_{0,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}} = 0$  and  $\mathfrak{T}(0) (\partial_s u^{\mathsf{e}})_{0,\eta} = 0$ . This implies that  $\partial_s \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(0,\eta) = 0$  by the Fredholm condition. Therefore  $(0,\eta_0)$  is a critical point of  $\mu^{\mathsf{e}}$ . Let us now consider the derivative with respect to s and  $\eta$ . We have  $\partial_s \partial_\eta \mathcal{M}_{s,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}} = 0$  and by the Feynman-Hellmann formula

$$\partial_s \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(0,\eta) = \int_{\mathcal{S}_{\alpha_0}} \partial_s \mathcal{M}_{0,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}} u_{0,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}} u_{0,\eta}^{\mathsf{e}} \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}t,$$

we get

$$\partial_s \partial_\eta \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(0,\eta_0) = 0.$$

We shall now analyze the second order derivative with respect to s:

$$\left(\mathcal{M}_{0,\eta_{0}}^{\mathsf{e}} - \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(0,\eta_{0})\right) \left(\partial_{s}^{2} u^{\mathsf{e}}\right)_{0,\eta_{0}} = \partial_{s}^{2} \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(0,\eta_{0}) u_{0,\eta_{0}}^{\mathsf{e}} - \partial_{s}^{2} \mathcal{M}_{0,\eta_{0}}^{\mathsf{e}} u_{0,\eta_{0}}^{\mathsf{e}},$$

with boundary condition  $\mathfrak{T}(0) \left(\partial_s^2 u^{\mathsf{e}}\right)_{0,\eta_0} = -\mathfrak{T}''(0)u_{0,\eta_0}^{\mathsf{e}}$ . We have  $\partial_s^2 \mathcal{M}_{0,\eta_0}^{\mathsf{e}} = 4\kappa \mathcal{T}(0)^{-1}D_z^2$ . With the Fredholm condition, we get  $\partial_s^2 \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(0,\eta_0) = 4\kappa \mathcal{T}(0)^{-1} \|D_z u_{0,\eta_0}^{\mathsf{e}}\|^2$ .

The function (5.3) is the symbol of the effective harmonic oscillator introduced in [45]. We will see that our WKB analysis succeeds as soon as we work near a local and non degenerate minimum of  $\mu^{e}$ . The goal of Assumption 1.24 and Conjecture 5.3 is to provide sufficient conditions to have such a critical point as well as to get the spectral splitting as in [45].

#### 5.2.2 Normal form

We introduce the change of variables

$$\check{s} = s, \qquad \check{t} = t, \qquad \check{z} = \mathcal{T}(s)^{-1} \mathcal{T}(0) z$$

and we let

$$\check{\nabla}_{\hbar} = \begin{pmatrix} \hbar D_{\check{s}} \\ \hbar D_{\check{t}} \\ \hbar \mathcal{T}(\check{s})^{-1} \mathcal{T}(0) D_{\check{z}} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\check{t} - \hbar \frac{\mathcal{T}'}{2\mathcal{T}} (\check{z} D_{\check{z}} + D_{\check{z}} \check{z}) \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The operator  $\mathfrak{L}^{\mathsf{e}}_{\hbar}$  is unitarily equivalent to the operator  $\check{\mathfrak{L}}^{\mathsf{e}}_{\hbar}$  on  $\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathcal{W}_{\alpha_{0}}, \mathrm{d}\check{s}\,\mathrm{d}\check{t}\,\mathrm{d}\check{z})$  defined by

$$\check{\mathcal{L}}_{\hbar}^{\mathsf{e}} = \left(\hbar D_{\check{s}} - \check{t} - \hbar \frac{\mathcal{T}'(\check{s})}{2\mathcal{T}(\check{s})} (\check{z}D_{\check{z}} + D_{\check{z}}\check{z})\right)^2 + \hbar^2 D_{\check{t}}^2 + \hbar^2 \mathcal{T}(\check{s})^{-2} \mathcal{T}(0)^2 D_{\check{z}}^2.$$

The boundary condition becomes, on  $\partial \mathcal{W}_{\alpha_0}$ ,

$$\check{\nabla}_{\hbar}\check{\psi}\cdot\check{\mathbf{n}}=0,\qquad\text{with}\qquad\check{\mathbf{n}}=\begin{pmatrix}-\mathcal{T}'(\check{s})\check{t}\\-\mathcal{T}(\check{s})\\\pm1\end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.4)

We now perform the scaling which preserves  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha_0}$ :

$$h = \hbar^{1/2}, \quad \check{s} = \sigma, \quad \check{t} = h^{1/2}\tau, \quad \check{z} = h^{1/2}z.$$

The operator  $\hbar^{-1}\check{\mathcal{L}}_{\hbar}^{\mathsf{e}}$  becomes  $\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{e}}$ :

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathbf{e}} = \left(hD_{\sigma} - \tau - h\frac{\mathcal{T}'(\sigma)}{2\mathcal{T}(\sigma)}(zD_{z} + D_{z}z)\right)^{2} + D_{\tau}^{2} + \mathcal{T}(\sigma)^{-2}\mathcal{T}(0)^{2}D_{z}^{2}.$$

Now, the boundary condition is, on  $\partial \mathcal{W}_{\alpha_0}$ ,

$$\widehat{\nabla}_h \psi \cdot \hat{\mathbf{n}} = 0 \quad \text{with} \quad \hat{\mathbf{n}} = \mathbf{n}_0 + h^{1/2} \mathbf{n}_1$$
 (5.5)

where

$$\mathbf{n}_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ -\mathcal{T}(\sigma)\\ \pm 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{n}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} -\mathcal{T}'(\sigma)\tau\\ 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{h} = \begin{pmatrix} hD_{\sigma} \\ D_{\tau} \\ \mathcal{T}(\sigma)^{-1}\mathcal{T}(0)D_{z} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\tau - h\frac{\mathcal{T}'(\sigma)}{2\mathcal{T}(\sigma)}(zD_{z} + D_{z}z) \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

**Theorem 5.5** Under Assumption 1.24 and Conjecture 5.3, there exist a function  $\Phi = \Phi(\sigma)$  defined in a neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}$  of 0 such that Re Hess  $\Phi(0) > 0$  on  $\mathcal{V}$  and sequence of real numbers  $(\lambda_{n,j}^{\mathbf{e}})_{j\geq 0}$  such that

$$\lambda_n^{\mathbf{e}}(h) \underset{h \to 0}{\sim} \sum_{j \ge 0} \lambda_{n,j}^{\mathbf{e}} h^j$$

in the sense of formal series. Besides there exists a formal series of smooth functions  $(a_{n,j}^{\mathsf{e}}(\sigma,\tau,z))$  defined for  $(\sigma,\tau,z) \in \mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{S}_{\alpha_0}$ ,

$$a_n^{\mathsf{e}} \underset{h \to 0}{\sim} \sum_{j \ge 0} a_{n,j}^{\mathsf{e}} h^j,$$

such that

$$\left(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{e}}-\lambda_{n}^{\mathsf{e}}(h)\right)\left(a_{n}^{\mathsf{e}}\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h}\right)=\mathcal{O}\left(h^{\infty}\right)\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h}$$

We also have that  $\lambda_{n,0}^{\mathsf{e}} = \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(0,\eta_0)$  and that  $\lambda_{n,1}^{\mathsf{e}}$  is the n-th eigenvalue of the operator

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess} \mu^{\mathsf{e}}(0, \eta_0)(\sigma, D_{\sigma}). \tag{5.6}$$

The main term in the Ansatz is in the form  $a_{n,0}^{\mathsf{e}}(\sigma,\tau,z) = f_{n,0}^{\mathsf{e}}(\sigma)u_{\sigma,i\Phi'(\sigma)}^{\mathsf{e}}(\tau,z)$ . Moreover, for all  $n \geq 1$ , there exist  $h_0 > 0$ , c > 0 such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{B}(\lambda_{n,0}^{\mathsf{e}} + \lambda_{n,1}^{\mathsf{e}}h, ch) \cap \operatorname{sp}\left(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{e}}\right) = \{\lambda_{n}^{\mathsf{e}}(h)\},$$

and  $\lambda_n^{\mathsf{e}}(h)$  is a simple eigenvalue.

# 5.2.3 WKB expansion for the normal form

Let us consider the conjugate operator

$$\mathrm{e}^{\Phi(\sigma)/h}\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathbf{e}}\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi(\sigma)/h} = \left(hD_{\sigma} + i\Phi'(\sigma) - \tau - h\frac{\mathcal{T}'(\sigma)}{2\mathcal{T}(\sigma)}(zD_{z} + D_{z}z)\right)^{2} + D_{\tau}^{2} + \frac{\mathcal{T}(0)^{2}}{\mathcal{T}(\sigma)^{2}}D_{z}^{2},$$

with the corresponding boundary conditions. We can write the formal power series expansion:

$$\mathrm{e}^{\Phi(\sigma)/h}\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{e}}\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi(\sigma)/h}\sim\sum_{j\geq 0}h^{j}\mathfrak{L}_{j}$$

with

$$\mathfrak{L}_0 = D_\tau^2 + \mathcal{T}(\sigma)^{-2} \mathcal{T}(0)^2 D_z^2 + (i\Phi'(\sigma) - \tau)^2,$$
  
$$\mathfrak{L}_1 = (i\Phi'(\sigma) - \tau) D_\sigma + D_\sigma (i\Phi'(\sigma) - \tau) - (i\Phi'(\sigma) - \tau) \frac{\mathcal{T}'(\sigma)}{\mathcal{T}(\sigma)} (zD_z + D_z z).$$

Our Ansätze are in the form:

$$a \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} h^j a_j, \qquad \lambda \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} h^j \lambda_j.$$

The first equation is given by

$$\mathfrak{L}_0 a_0 = \lambda_0 a_0,$$

with boundary condition (which is in fact a Neumann condition)

$$\begin{pmatrix} -\tau \\ D_{\tau} \\ \mathcal{T}(\sigma)^{-1}\mathcal{T}(0)D_{z} \end{pmatrix} a_{0} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{0} = 0.$$

We take

$$a_0(\sigma,\tau,z) = f_0(\sigma) u_{\sigma,i\Phi'(\sigma)}^{\mathsf{e}}(\tau,z)$$

and  $\lambda_0 = \mu^{\mathbf{e}}(0, \eta_0)$ . The equation becomes

$$\mu^{\mathsf{e}}(\sigma, i\Phi'(\sigma)) = \lambda_0.$$

The second equation is

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0 - \lambda_0)a_1 = (\lambda_1 - \mathfrak{L}_1)a_0$$

with boundary condition

$$\begin{pmatrix} -\tau \\ D_{\tau} \\ \mathcal{T}(\sigma)^{-1}\mathcal{T}(0)D_{z} \end{pmatrix} a_{0} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{1} + \begin{pmatrix} -\tau \\ D_{\tau} \\ \mathcal{T}(\sigma)^{-1}\mathcal{T}(0)D_{z} \end{pmatrix} a_{1} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{0} = 0$$

The Fredholm condition can be rewritten in the form

$$\left\{\frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{\eta}\mu^{\mathsf{e}}(\sigma, i\Phi'(\sigma))D_{\sigma} + D_{\sigma}\partial_{\eta}\mu^{\mathsf{e}}(\sigma, i\Phi'(\sigma))\right) + R^{\mathsf{e}}(\sigma)\right\}f_{0} = \lambda_{1}f_{0},$$

where the smooth function  $\sigma \mapsto R^{\mathbf{e}}(\sigma)$  vanishes at  $\sigma = 0$  since  $\mathcal{T}'(0) = 0$ . The conclusion follows by iteration. The simplicity of the lowest eigenvalues follows from [45, Theorem 1.14].

# 5.3 Curvature induced magnetic bound states

This section is devoted to the analysis of the result announced in Section 1.3.3.

#### 5.3.1 A higher order degeneracy

Let us consider the following Neumann realization on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2_+, m(s, t) \, ds \, dt)$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\hbar}^{\mathsf{c}} = m(s,t)^{-1} \hbar D_t m(s,t) \hbar D_t + m(s,t)^{-1} \left( \hbar D_s + \zeta_0 \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} - t + \kappa(s) \frac{t^2}{2} \right) m(s,t)^{-1} \left( \hbar D_s + \zeta_0 \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} - t + \kappa(s) \frac{t^2}{2} \right), \quad (5.7)$$

where  $m(s,t) = 1 - t\kappa(s)$ . Thanks to the rescaling

$$h = \hbar^{1/2}, \qquad t = h\tau, \qquad s = \sigma,$$

and after division by  $h^2$  the operator  $\mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{c}}_{\hbar}$  becomes

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{c}} = m(\sigma, h\tau)^{-1} D_{\tau} m(\sigma, h\tau) D_{\tau} \\
+ m(\sigma, h\tau)^{-1} \left( h D_{\sigma} + \zeta_{0} - \tau + h\kappa(\sigma) \frac{\tau^{2}}{2} \right) m(\sigma, h\tau)^{-1} \left( h D_{\sigma} + \zeta_{0} - \tau + h\kappa(\sigma) \frac{\tau^{2}}{2} \right), \tag{5.8}$$

on the space  $L^2(m(\sigma, h\tau) d\sigma d\tau)$ .

**Theorem 5.6** Under Assumption 1.25, there exist a function

$$\Phi = \Phi(\sigma) = \left(\frac{2C_1}{\nu''(\zeta_0)}\right)^{1/2} \left| \int_0^\sigma (\kappa(0) - \kappa(\varsigma))^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}\varsigma \right|$$

defined in a neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}$  of (0,0) such that  $\operatorname{Re} \Phi''(0) > 0$ , and a sequence of real numbers  $(\lambda_{n,j}^{\mathsf{c}})_{j\geq 0}$  such that

$$\lambda_n^{\mathsf{c}}(h) \underset{h o 0}{\sim} \sum_{j \ge 0} \lambda_{n,j}^{\mathsf{c}} h^{rac{j}{2}}$$

Besides there exists a formal series of smooth functions on  $\mathcal{V}$ ,

$$a_n^{\mathsf{c}} \underset{h \to 0}{\sim} \sum_{j \ge 0} a_{n,j}^{\mathsf{c}} h^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

such that

$$\left(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{c}}-\lambda_{n}^{\mathsf{c}}(h)\right)\left(a_{n}^{\mathsf{c}}\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right)=\mathcal{O}\left(h^{\infty}\right)\mathrm{e}^{-\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$

We also have that  $\lambda_{n,0}^{\mathsf{c}} = \Theta_0$ ,  $\lambda_{n,1}^{\mathsf{c}} = 0$ ,  $\lambda_{n,2}^{\mathsf{c}} = -C_1 \kappa_{max}$  and  $\lambda_{n,3}^{\mathsf{c}} = (2n-1)C_1 \Theta_0^{1/4} \sqrt{\frac{3k_2}{2}}$ . The main term in the Ansatz is in the form

$$a_{n,0}^{\mathsf{c}}(\sigma,\tau) = f_{n,0}^{\mathsf{c}}(\sigma)u_{\zeta_0}(\tau).$$

Moreover, for all  $n \ge 1$ , there exist  $h_0 > 0$ , c > 0 such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{B}\Big(\lambda_{n,0}^{\mathsf{c}} + \lambda_{n,2}^{\mathsf{c}}h + \lambda_{n,3}^{\mathsf{c}}h^{\frac{3}{2}}, ch^{\frac{3}{2}}\Big) \cap \operatorname{sp}\left(\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{c}}\right) = \{\lambda_{n}^{\mathsf{c}}(h)\},$$

and  $\lambda_n^{\mathsf{c}}(h)$  is a simple eigenvalue.

**Remark 5.7** In particular, Theorem 5.6 proves that there are no odd powers of  $\hbar^{\frac{1}{8}}$  in the expansion of the eigenvalues (compare with [19, Theorem 1.1]).

# 5.3.2 WKB expansion

Let us introduce a phase function  $\Phi = \Phi(\sigma)$  defined in a neighborhood of  $\sigma = 0$  the unique and non degenerate maximum of the curvature  $\kappa$ . We consider the conjugate operator

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{c},\mathsf{wg}} = \mathrm{e}^{\Phi(\sigma)/h^{\frac{1}{2}}} \mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{c}} \mathrm{e}^{-\Phi(\sigma)/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$

As usual, we look for

$$a \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} h^{\frac{j}{2}} a_j, \qquad \lambda \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} \lambda_j h^{\frac{j}{2}}$$

such that, in the sense of formal series we have

$$\mathfrak{L}_h^{\mathsf{c},\mathsf{wg}} a \sim \lambda a.$$

We may write

$$\mathfrak{L}_{h}^{\mathsf{c},\mathsf{wg}} \sim \mathfrak{L}_{0} + h^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathfrak{L}_{1} + h\mathfrak{L}_{2} + h^{\frac{3}{2}}\mathfrak{L}_{3} + \dots,$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{L}_{0} &= D_{\tau}^{2} + (\zeta_{0} - \tau)^{2}, \\ \mathfrak{L}_{1} &= 2(\zeta_{0} - \tau)i\Phi'(\sigma), \\ \mathfrak{L}_{2} &= \kappa(\sigma)\partial_{\tau} + 2\left(D_{\sigma} + \kappa(\sigma)\frac{\tau^{2}}{2}\right)(\zeta_{0} - \tau) - \Phi'(\sigma)^{2} + 2\kappa(\sigma)(\zeta_{0} - \tau)^{2}\tau, \\ \mathfrak{L}_{3} &= \left(D_{\sigma} + \kappa(\sigma)\frac{\tau^{2}}{2}\right)(i\Phi'(\sigma)) + (i\Phi'(\sigma))\left(D_{\sigma} + \kappa(\sigma)\frac{\tau^{2}}{2}\right) + 4i\Phi'(\sigma)\tau\kappa(\sigma)(\zeta_{0} - \tau). \end{aligned}$$

Let us now solve the formal system. The first equation is

$$\mathfrak{L}_0 a_0 = \lambda_0 a_0$$

and leads to take

$$\lambda_0 = \Theta_0, \qquad a_0(\sigma, \tau) = f_0(\sigma) u_{\zeta_0}(\tau),$$

where  $f_0$  has to be determined. The second equation is

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0 - \lambda_0)a_1 = (\lambda_1 - \mathfrak{L}_1)a_0 = (\lambda_1 - 2(\zeta_0 - \tau)i\Phi'(\sigma))u_{\zeta_0}(\tau)f_0(\sigma)$$

and, due to the Fredholm alternative, we must take  $\lambda_1 = 0$  and

$$a_1(\sigma,\tau) = i\Phi'(\sigma)f_0(\sigma)\left(\partial_{\zeta}u\right)_{\zeta_0}(\tau) + f_1(\sigma)u_{\zeta_0}(\tau),$$

where  $f_1$  is to be determined in a next step. Then the third equation is

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0 - \lambda_0)a_2 = (\lambda_2 - \mathfrak{L}_2)a_0 - \mathfrak{L}_1a_1.$$

Let us explicitly write the r.h.s. It equals

$$\lambda_2 u_{\zeta_0} f_0 + \Phi'^2 (u_{\zeta_0} + 2(\zeta_0 - \tau)(\partial_{\zeta} u)_{\zeta_0}) f_0 - 2(\zeta_0 - \tau) u_{\zeta_0} (i\Phi' f_1 - i\partial_{\sigma} f_0) + \kappa(\sigma) f_0 (\partial_{\tau} u_{\zeta_0} - 2(\zeta_0 - \tau)^2 \tau u_{\zeta_0} - \tau^2 (\zeta_0 - \tau) u_{\zeta_0}).$$

Therefore the equation becomes

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0 - \lambda_0)\tilde{a}_2 = \lambda_2 u_{\zeta_0} f_0 + \frac{\nu''(\zeta_0)}{2} \Phi'^2 u_{\zeta_0} f_0 + \kappa f_0 (-\partial_\tau u_{\zeta_0} - 2(\zeta_0 - \tau)^2 \tau u_{\zeta_0} - \tau^2 (\zeta_0 - \tau) u_{\zeta_0}),$$

where

$$\tilde{a}_2 = a_2 - (\partial_{\zeta} u)_{\zeta_0} (i\Phi' f_1 - i\partial_{\sigma} f_0) + \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\zeta}^2 u)_{\zeta_0} \Phi'^2 f_0.$$

Let us now use the Fredholm alternative (with respect to  $\tau$ ). We will need the following lemma the proof of which relies on Feynman-Hellmann formulas (like in Proposition 2.2) and on [19, p. 19] (for the last one).

# Lemma 5.8 We have:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (\zeta_{0} - \tau) u_{\zeta_{0}}^{2}(\tau) d\tau = 0, \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (\partial_{\zeta} u)_{\zeta_{0}}(\tau) u_{\zeta_{0}}(\tau) d\tau = 0,$$
$$2 \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (\zeta_{0} - \tau) (\partial_{\zeta} u)_{\zeta_{0}}(\tau) u_{\zeta_{0}}(\tau) d\tau = \frac{\nu''(\zeta_{0})}{2} - 1,$$
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} \left( 2\tau(\zeta_{0} - \tau)^{2} + \tau^{2}(\zeta_{0} - \tau) \right) u_{\zeta_{0}}^{2} + u_{\zeta_{0}} \partial_{\tau} u_{\zeta_{0}} d\tau = -C_{1}.$$

We get the equation

$$\lambda_2 + \frac{\nu''(\zeta_0)}{2} \Phi'^2(\sigma) + C_1 \kappa(\sigma) = 0, \qquad C_1 = \frac{u_{\zeta_0}^2(0)}{3}$$

This eikonal equation is the one of a pure electric problem in dimension one whose potential is given by the curvature. Thus we take

$$\lambda_2 = -C_1 \kappa(0),$$

and

$$\Phi(\sigma) = \left(\frac{2C_1}{\nu''(\zeta_0)}\right)^{1/2} \left| \int_0^\sigma (\kappa(0) - \kappa(\varsigma))^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}\varsigma \right|.$$

In particular we have:

$$\Phi''(0) = \left(\frac{k_2 C_1}{\nu''(\zeta_0)}\right)^{1/2},$$

where  $k_2 = -\kappa''(0) > 0$ . This leads to take

$$a_{2} = f_{0}\hat{a}_{2} + (\partial_{\zeta}u)_{\zeta_{0}}(i\Phi'f_{1} - i\partial_{\sigma}f_{0}) - \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\eta}^{2}u)_{\zeta_{0}}\Phi'^{2}f_{0} + f_{2}u_{\zeta_{0}},$$

where  $\hat{a}_2$  is the unique solution, orthogonal to  $u_{\zeta_0}$  for all  $\sigma$ , of

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0 - \nu_0)\hat{a}_2 = \nu_2 u_{\zeta_0} + \frac{\nu''(\zeta_0)}{2} \Phi'^2 u_{\zeta_0} + \kappa \left(-\partial_\tau u_{\zeta_0} - 2(\zeta_0 - \tau)^2 \tau u_{\zeta_0} - \tau^2(\zeta_0 - \tau)u_{\zeta_0}\right),$$

and  $f_2$  has to be determined.

Finally we must solve the fourth equation given by

$$(\mathfrak{L}_0 - \lambda_0)a_3 = (\lambda_3 - \mathfrak{L}_3)a_0 + (\lambda_2 - \mathfrak{L}_2)a_1 - \mathfrak{L}_1a_2.$$

The Fredholm condition provides the following equation in the variable  $\sigma$ :

$$\langle \mathfrak{L}_3 a_0 + (\mathfrak{L}_2 - \lambda_2) a_1 + \mathfrak{L}_1 a_2, u_{\zeta_0} \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathrm{d}\tau)} = \lambda_3 f_0.$$

Using the previous steps of the construction, it is not very difficult to see that this equation does not involve  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  (due to the choice of  $\Phi$  and  $\lambda_2$  and Feynman-Hellmann formulas). Using the same formulas, we may write it in the form

$$\frac{\nu''(\zeta_0)}{2} \left( \Phi'(\sigma) \partial_\sigma + \partial_\sigma \Phi'(\sigma) \right) f_0 + F(\sigma) f_0 = \lambda_3 f_0, \tag{5.9}$$

where F is a smooth function which vanishes at  $\sigma = 0$ . Therefore the linearized equation at  $\sigma = 0$  is given by

$$\Phi''(0)\frac{\nu''(\zeta_0)}{2}\left(\sigma\partial_{\sigma}+\partial_{\sigma}\sigma\right)f_0=\lambda_3f_0.$$

We recall that

$$\frac{\nu''(\zeta_0)}{2} = 3C_1\Theta_0^{1/2}$$

so that the linearized equation becomes

$$C_1 \Theta_0^{1/4} \sqrt{\frac{3k_2}{2}} \left(\sigma \partial_\sigma + \partial_\sigma \sigma\right) f_0 = \lambda_3 f_0.$$

We have to choose  $\lambda_3$  in the spectrum of this transport equation, which is given by the set

$$\left\{ (2n-1)C_1 \Theta_0^{1/4} \sqrt{\frac{3k_2}{2}}, \quad n \ge 1 \right\}.$$

If  $\lambda_3$  belongs to this set, we may solve locally the transport equation (5.9) and thus find  $f_0$ . This procedure can be continued at any order.

# 5.3.3 Numerical estimates of the magnetic camel

For the numerical computations, we consider the magnetic potential  $\mathbf{A} = (-x_2, 0)$  and we denote by  $(\lambda_n^{\mathsf{c}}(h), u_{n,h}^{\mathsf{c}})$  the *n*-th eigenpair of the magnetic Laplacian  $(hD_{x_1} - x_2)^2 + h^2 D_{x_2}^2$  on  $\Omega$ .

**Camel with one bump** Let us first consider the case where  $\Omega$  is an unbounded domain with a unique point with maximal curvature. We consider

$$\Omega = \{ (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2, x_2 < -4x_1^2 \}.$$

For the numerical computations, we proceed as explained in Section 4.5.1: we bound the domain and impose Dirichlet condition on the artificial boundary. Let us define the truncated domain

$$\Omega_H = \{ (x_1, x_2) \in \Omega, x_2 > -H \}.$$

We consider triangular elements of degree  $\mathbb{P}_6$ . For the numerical computations, we take H = 2.5, 3, 4 and a mesh with approximately 3000, 3600, 4800 triangular elements and  $1/h \in \{1 : 0.1 : 1000\}$ .

Figure 6 illustrates the asymptotic expansion (1.4) for the first eigenvalue:

$$\frac{\lambda_1^{\mathsf{c}}(h)}{h} = \Theta_0 - C_1 \kappa_{max} h^{1/2} + o(h^{1/2}), \qquad \text{with } C_1 = \frac{u_{\zeta_0}^2(0)}{3}. \tag{5.10}$$

In our example, we have  $\kappa_{max} = 8$ . Using [6], we have

$$\Theta_0 \simeq 0.59010$$
 and  $C_1 \simeq 0.873043$ .

Figure 5(a) shows the convergence to  $\Theta_0$ , which is quite slow because only in  $\mathcal{O}(h^{1/2})$ . In Figures 5(b)–5(c), we aim at recovering numerically the power appearing in the expansion. For this, we plot, according to  $\ln \frac{1}{h}$  the quantities

$$\ln\left(\Theta_0 - \frac{\lambda_1^{\mathsf{c}}(h)}{h}\right)$$
 and  $\ln\frac{\lambda_1^{\mathsf{c}}(h)}{h} - \Theta_0 + C_1\kappa_{max}h^{1/2}.$ 

In Figure 8, are represented the modulus, the logarithm of the modulus and the phase of the first eigenfunction for h = 1/20.



Figure 5: Convergence of the eigenvalues  $\lambda_1^{\mathsf{c}}(h)$ .



Figure 6: Moduli,  $\log_{10}(\text{moduli})$  and phases of the first two eigenfunctions,  $h = \frac{1}{20}$ .

**Camel with two bumps** Let us now deal with the case of a double well on the geometry. For this, we consider

$$\Omega = \{ (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2, x_2 < -(1 - x_1^2)^2 \}.$$

Let us look at the behavior of the first two eigenpairs. Figure 7(a) illustrates the convergence of the first two eigenvalues  $\lambda_n^{\mathsf{c}}(h)$  to  $\Theta_0$  as  $h \to 0$ . We represent

$$\frac{1}{h} \mapsto \frac{\lambda_n^{\mathsf{c}}(h)}{h}, \qquad n = 1, 2.$$

To analyze the splitting between the first two eigenvalues, we plot in Figures 7(b)–7(c), according to  $\ln 1/h$ 

$$\frac{\lambda_2^{\mathsf{c}}(h) - \lambda_1^{\mathsf{c}}(h)}{h} \quad \text{and} \quad -h^{1/4} \ln \frac{\lambda_2^{\mathsf{c}}(h) - \lambda_1^{\mathsf{c}}(h)}{h}$$

For the last figure, we take  $h \ge 1/70$  otherwise the splitting computed numerically is of the same order as the accuracy of our computation and the numerics is no more relevant when h < 1/70. These computations suggest that

$$\frac{\lambda_2^{\mathsf{c}}(h) - \lambda_1^{\mathsf{c}}(h)}{h} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-C/h^{1/4}}) \quad \text{with} \quad 5.2 \le C \le 5.4.$$

Figure 8 gives the modulus, logarithm of the modulus and the phase of the first two eigenfunctions for h = 1/20.



Figure 7: Convergence for  $\lambda_n^{\mathsf{c}}(h)$ .



Figure 8: Moduli,  $\log_{10}(\text{moduli})$  and phases of the first two eigenfunctions,  $h = \frac{1}{20}$ .

# 6 Perspectives

Let us finally provide some perspectives. As we have seen in Section 4.3.2, even in explicit situations, the optimal Agmon estimates are still an open problem. If these estimates are improved, one will obtain an accurate asymptotics of the splitting between the low-lying eigenvalues. Extended enough WKB constructions for computing the exponentially small splitting are related to the holomorphic extensions of the model operators eigenpairs (for instance the generalized Montgomery operators). Furthermore in the case of curvature induced magnetic bound states, we have proved, at the WKB expansion level, that the effective operator is purely electric so that we can think that the optimal Agmon estimates are accessible. Numerically, this paper was concerned with one symmetry (camel with two bumps) and we observed that the lowest eigenvalues seemed to be simple. With more symmetries, we expect multiplicity (see Figure 9). Moreover, in more singular geometrical situations (see [8]), the WKB structure of the eigenfunctions is not clear at all since there is no obvious dimensional reduction (for example, the case of polygonal domains is based on models on angular sectors).



Figure 9: Eigenpairs on the ellipse,  $\mathbf{A} = (-x_2, 0)$ .

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank Bernard Helffer and Joseph Viola for fruitful discussions. This work was partially supported by the ANR (Agence Nationale de la Recherche), project NOSEVOL n<sup>o</sup> ANR-11-BS01-0019 and by the Centre Henri Lebesgue (program "Investissements d'avenir" – n<sup>o</sup> ANR-11-LABX-0020-01).

# References

- S. AGMON. Lectures on exponential decay of solutions of second-order elliptic equations: bounds on eigenfunctions of N-body Schrödinger operators, volume 29 of Mathematical Notes. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ 1982.
- [2] S. AGMON. Bounds on exponential decay of eigenfunctions of Schrödinger operators. In Schrödinger operators (Como, 1984), volume 1159 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 1–38. Springer, Berlin 1985.
- [3] P. BAUMAN, D. PHILLIPS, Q. TANG. Stable nucleation for the Ginzburg-Landau system with an applied magnetic field. *Arch. Rational Mech. Anal.* **142**(1) (1998) 1–43.
- [4] A. BERNOFF, P. STERNBERG. Onset of superconductivity in decreasing fields for general domains. J. Math. Phys. 39(3) (1998) 1272–1284.
- [5] C. BOLLEY, B. HELFFER. The Ginzburg-Landau equations in a semi-infinite superconducting film in the large  $\kappa$  limit. *European J. Appl. Math.* 8(4) (1997) 347–367.
- [6] V. BONNAILLIE-NOËL. Harmonic oscillators with Neumann condition of the half-line. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 11(6) (2012) 2221–2237.
- [7] V. BONNAILLIE-NOËL, M. DAUGE. Asymptotics for the low-lying eigenstates of the Schrödinger operator with magnetic field near corners. Ann. Henri Poincaré 7(5) (2006) 899–931.
- [8] V. BONNAILLIE-NOËL, M. DAUGE, D. MARTIN, G. VIAL. Computations of the first eigenpairs for the Schrödinger operator with magnetic field. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg.* 196(37-40) (2007) 3841–3858.
- [9] V. BONNAILLIE-NOËL, M. DAUGE, N. POPOFF, N. RAYMOND. Discrete spectrum of a model Schrödinger operator on the half-plane with Neumann conditions. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 63(2) (2012) 203-231.

- [10] V. BONNAILLIE-NOËL, N. RAYMOND. Breaking a magnetic zero locus: model operators and numerical approach. ZAMM (2013) 1–20.
- [11] M. BORN, R. OPPENHEIMER. Zur Quantentheorie der Molekeln. Ann. Phys. 84 (1927) 457–484.
- [12] M. COMBESCURE, D. ROBERT. Coherent states and applications in mathematical physics. Theoretical and Mathematical Physics. Springer, Dordrecht 2012.
- [13] H. L. CYCON, R. G. FROESE, W. KIRSCH, B. SIMON. Schrödinger operators with application to quantum mechanics and global geometry. Texts and Monographs in Physics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, study edition 1987.
- [14] M. DAUGE, B. HELFFER. Eigenvalues variation. I. Neumann problem for Sturm-Liouville operators. J. Differential Equations 104(2) (1993) 243-262.
- [15] M. DEL PINO, P. L. FELMER, P. STERNBERG. Boundary concentration for eigenvalue problems related to the onset of superconductivity. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 210(2) (2000) 413–446.
- [16] M. DIMASSI, J. SJÖSTRAND. Spectral asymptotics in the semi-classical limit, volume 268 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1999.
- [17] N. DOMBROWSKI, N. RAYMOND. Semiclassical analysis with vanishing magnetic fields. J. Spectr. Theory 3(3) (2013) 423–464.
- [18] G. B. FOLLAND. Harmonic analysis in phase space, volume 122 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ 1989.
- [19] S. FOURNAIS, B. HELFFER. Accurate eigenvalue asymptotics for the magnetic Neumann Laplacian. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 56(1) (2006) 1–67.
- [20] S. FOURNAIS, B. HELFFER. Spectral methods in surface superconductivity. Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, 77. Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA 2010.
- [21] S. FOURNAIS, M. PERSSON. A uniqueness theorem for higher order anharmonic oscillators. To appear in J. Spectr. Theory (2014).
- [22] B. HELFFER. Semi-classical analysis for the Schrödinger operator and applications, volume 1336 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin 1988.
- [23] B. HELFFER, Y. A. KORDYUKOV. Spectral gaps for periodic Schrödinger operators with hypersurface magnetic wells: analysis near the bottom. J. Funct. Anal. 257(10) (2009) 3043– 3081.
- [24] B. HELFFER, Y. A. KORDYUKOV. Semiclassical spectral asymptotics for a two-dimensional magnetic Schrödinger operator: the case of discrete wells. In *Spectral theory and geometric* analysis, volume 535 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 55–78. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI 2011.
- [25] B. HELFFER, Y. A. KORDYUKOV. Semiclassical spectral asymptotics for a two-dimensional magnetic schroedinger operator. ii the case of degenerate wells. *Comm. PDE* 37 (2012) 1057– 1095.
- [26] B. HELFFER, Y. A. KORDYUKOV. Semiclassical spectral asymptotics for a magnetic Schrödinger operator with non-vanishing magnetic field. *Preprint* (2014).
- [27] B. HELFFER, A. MOHAMED. Semiclassical analysis for the ground state energy of a Schrödinger operator with magnetic wells. J. Funct. Anal. 138(1) (1996) 40–81.
- [28] B. HELFFER, A. MORAME. Magnetic bottles in connection with superconductivity. J. Funct. Anal. 185(2) (2001) 604–680.
- [29] B. HELFFER, M. PERSSON. Spectral properties of higher order Anharmonic Oscillators. J. Funct. Anal. 165(1) (2010).

- [30] B. HELFFER, J. SJÖSTRAND. Multiple wells in the semiclassical limit. I. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 9(4) (1984) 337–408.
- [31] B. HELFFER, J. SJÖSTRAND. Puits multiples en limite semi-classique. II. Interaction moléculaire. Symétries. Perturbation. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Théor. 42(2) (1985) 127–212.
- [32] B. HELFFER, J. SJÖSTRAND. Effet tunnel pour l'équation de Schrödinger avec champ magnétique. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 14(4) (1987) 625–657 (1988).
- [33] T. KATO. Perturbation theory for linear operators. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 132. Springer-Verlag New York, Inc., New York 1966.
- [34] M. KLEIN, A. MARTINEZ, R. SEILER, X. P. WANG. On the Born-Oppenheimer expansion for polyatomic molecules. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 143(3) (1992) 607–639.
- [35] Y. LAFRANCHE, D. MARTIN. Mélina++, bibliothèque de calculs éléments finis. http://anummaths.univ-rennes1.fr/melina (2012).
- [36] A. MARTINEZ. Développements asymptotiques et effet tunnel dans l'approximation de Born-Oppenheimer. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Théor. 50(3) (1989) 239–257.
- [37] A. MARTINEZ. An introduction to semiclassical and microlocal analysis. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, New York 2002.
- [38] A. MARTINEZ. A general effective Hamiltonian method. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. Rend. Lincei (9) Mat. Appl. 18(3) (2007) 269–277.
- [39] A. MARTINEZ, V. SORDONI. Microlocal WKB expansions. J. Funct. Anal. 168(2) (1999) 380–402.
- [40] R. MONTGOMERY. Hearing the zero locus of a magnetic field. Comm. Math. Phys. 168(3) (1995) 651–675.
- [41] S. NAKAMURA. Gaussian decay estimates for the eigenfunctions of magnetic Schrödinger operators. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 21(5-6) (1996) 993–1006.
- [42] S. NAKAMURA. Tunneling estimates for magnetic Schrödinger operators. Comm. Math. Phys. 200(1) (1999) 25–34.
- [43] A. PERSSON. Bounds for the discrete part of the spectrum of a semi-bounded Schrödinger operator. Math. Scand. 8 (1960) 143–153.
- [44] N. POPOFF. Sur l'opérateur de Schrödinger magnétique dans un domaine diédral. (thèse de doctorat). Université de Rennes 1 (2012).
- [45] N. POPOFF, N. RAYMOND. When the 3D Magnetic Laplacian Meets a Curved Edge in the Semiclassical Limit. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 45(4) (2013) 2354–2395.
- [46] N. RAYMOND. Semiclassical 3D Neumann Laplacian with variable magnetic field: a toy model. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 37(9) (2012) 1528–1552.
- [47] N. RAYMOND. From the Laplacian with variable magnetic field to the electric Laplacian in the semiclassical limit. Anal. PDE 6(6) (2013) 1289–1326.
- [48] N. RAYMOND. Breaking a magnetic zero locus: asymptotic analysis. Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 24(14) (2014) 2785–2817.
- [49] N. RAYMOND. Little Magnetic Book. Preprint HAL: http://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-00870275 2014.
- [50] N. RAYMOND, S. VŨ NGỌC. Geometry and Spectrum in 2D Magnetic Wells. To appear in Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) (2014).
- [51] J. SJÖSTRAND. Parametrices for pseudodifferential operators with multiple characteristics. Ark. Mat. 12 (1974) 85–130.